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PREFACE.

A FEW words of explanation are necessary as to the origin and object of this work. About
two years ago, Colonel T. H. Hendley, LM.S., C.LE., Inspecter-General of Civil Hospitals, proposed
the issue of a “ Medico-Topographical History” of each district in Bengal. I had collected a large
amount of historical material and numerous photographs for that purpose. Much of this material
was not required for the work to be edited by Colonel Hendley. He therefore suggested that I
might publish it separately by subscription, and obtained sanction. Until I reached England on
furlough in June, 1901, I had no opportunity to arrange my notes in a coherent form. Further
delay was due to the difficulty of choosing a method of reproducing the illustrations which would
be reasonable in price and satisfactory in result. The interest of the Biographies in Part II. lies
in the fact that many of the families are connected, more or less, with the history of the district;
and many of them owe their possessions, titles, or pensions, to the friendly relations existing between
the founders and the Honourable East India Company. Some families have been left out, only
because they furnished rno replies to my request for information. While Part I. has been compiled
from the works mentioned in the Bibliography and information collected in the District, the material
in Part II. has been mainly supplied by the families concerned. (The exceptions to this rule are
mentioned in the foot-notes.) I have exercised the rights of Editorship where necessary, only to
remove irrelevant matter, and to keep down the expense. I here offer my thanks to the Subscribers,
and all who have supplied me with material for the Biographies. My thanks are due also to various
Government Officers, who furnished information in their respective departments. The Judge and
Magistrate of the District kindly allowed me to use any books I required from their official libraries.
Many books, maps, and valuable papers were lent to me from the Palace library, by H.H. the
Nawab Bahadur of Murshidabad. Indeed, I could hardly have succeeded without his help in that
respect, and as a Subscriber. That the work is incomplete, and has other imperfections, I am only
too well aware. I can only plead as an excuse that the work was mainly compiled in the few
leisure intervals in the busy life of a Civil Surgeon in an Indian District. Where copies or quota-
tions are used, ‘the spelling of the original has been preserved. For the rest uniformity is all that
has been attempted. I will here also record my thanks to the Publishers, who have tried to meet
my wishes in every way. The Zincographer deserves a word of praise, and it is not his fault that
the map (frontispiece) requires good sight, or a magnifying glass. By sacrificing details, larger type
could have been used; but I thought it best to have a full map even with very small type.

JHTW
OLD CATTON,
NORWICH,

Judy, 1902,
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THE HISTORY OF MURSHIDABAD.

PART 1.

HISTORY.

. THE History of the district of Murshidabad represents the downfall of the Mahomedan Subahs, of
Bengal, Behar, and Orissa, who ruled as the Viceroys of the Emperor of Delhi, and the rise of British
power and commerce, through a long series of years of fighting and striving, until England had not only
ousted all European competitors, but had entirely subjugated a vast and warlike population, from whose
rulers they had, at first by favour, and humble petitions, obtained a footing for purposes of trade; and to
whom, until after the battle of Plassy, they had paid tribute, as the weaker section. To keep within my
special limits I have had to go through a large amount of material, selecting such facts as refer to this
district, avoiding prolixity and introducing only such extraneous matter as is absolutely necessary to make
the story comprehensible ; and I hope, in some degree, interesting. The earliest connection of the Honble.
East India Company with this district was marked by the establishment of a factory at Kasimbazar.
The factory was situated on the western bank of the river Bhagirathi, and south of the land occupied by the
French and the Dutch.* To understand the position of the factory with reference to the topography of the
present day, it will be necessary to make a few remarks concerning the alteration which has taken place in
the course of the Bhagirathi, or Kasimbazar river, as it was also called in those times. Just above
Farashdanga, where the Berhampur town water-works are now situated, the river started to make a loop
towards the East, enclosing the then prosperous town of Kasimbazar. Berhampur, with its annex
Gorabazar, did not then exist. This condition continued until somewhere about the year 1813, when
the Bhagirathi made a straight cut across the loop, thus leaving Kasimbazar and the sites of the
French, Dutch, and English factories on the left, or east bank of the river. This change in the
river was the cause of the downfall in the trade of the Company and its abandonment of Kasimbazar.
I cannot exactly fix the date of the founding of the first factory, for there were two of them, but it
was about 1652 or 1653. One, Edward Stephens, formerly second factor at Hughli, was sent to
fpanage affairs at Kasimbazar. He appears to have been a failure, and died deeply in debt in 1654.
In 1658 J. Kenns was appointed to manage the factory, and he seems to have been a man of energy and
enterprise. In 1661 he reported to the Calcutta Council that the most vendible commodities were
gold and silver. The sale of silver, however, would depend somewhat on whether the Dutch received
consignments from Japan. The sale was good, since at Muxsudabad, about nine miles away, “there are
" made several sorts of silver and gold girdles from 10 rupees to 60 rupees.” In return, several kinds of silk
were obtainable. A public table was to be kept up at the factory, and the work of steward was placed in
the hands of one of the younger factors. The second factor was to keep the silk books, and the third was
to be warehouse-keeper. A larger factory, on the river bank, was established in 1662, and the Company

* 2. Orme (42).



2 THE HISTORY OF MURSHIDABAD.

were shortly after, in 1663, keeping a fleet of boats on the Kasimbazar river to bring silks and muslins
from Kasimbazar to Hughli. This factory was established under the orders of Sir Edward Winter, then
President at Madras. The earliest rights of trading were granted by the Emperor, Shah Jehan, through the
Subah of Bengal, Nawab Sultan Sujah. The story of Doctor Boughton’s connection with this permission is
too well known to need more than mention. The Emperor, Shah Jehan, was succeeded in 1660 by the great
Emperor Aurungzebe, and Mir Jumlah was Nawab of Bengal, with his capital at Rajmehal. This Mir
Jumlah, formerly a general in the army of a brother of Sultan Sujah, had usurped the title, having
attacked and seized Rajmehal, and deposed Sultan Sujah. There was considerable friction between the
English and Mir Jumlah, but the usurper died somewhere about 1663-4, and better times came with his
successor, Nawab Shaistah Khan, a nephew of the beautiful Noor Jehan. In 1672 Shaistah Khan, in
return for an annual subsidy of Rs. 3,000, granted a Firman, passing all goods free of duty and directing
the local Foujdars (customs officers) and other officers to assist the factors to recover debts due to them
from merchants, weavers, and others with whom they had dealings. The Company’s boats were to be
allowed to pass along the rivers. The Dutch, who also had a factory at Kasimbazar, were not included
in these privileges. It does not appear that the relations between the English and Dutch were very
friendly, as the former had not forgotten the massacre of British merchants in Amboyna, in 1623. The
men and the times were rough, and we find that in 1676 the Directors of the East India Company found it
necessary to send out Mr. Streynsham Master, to inspect the Bengal factories and to inquire into the death
of Raghu, Poddar of the Kasimbazar factory, who had been so violently thrashed by the house-broker that
he died of his injuries. Kasimbazar was then the headquarters of the silk trade, and President Hedges,
as quoted by Wilson,* describes it as “an ordinary Indian town about two miles long with streets so narrow
in some places, where markets were kept, that there was barely room for a single palanquin to pass.”
Hedges relates in his diary that the houses were made of mud dug out close to the house, leaving a hole
full of stagnant water, which increased the unhealthiness of the place at certain times of the year.” This
practice of leaving the hole from which mud for dwellings has been taken, is even now productive of much
illness and danger to health, since these pits become the receptacles for refuse, and many things besides
water. The soil in the neighbourhood being alluvial was very fertile ; all the district round was planted
with mulberry for the silkworms. The silk, he says, was yellow, but bleached with a lye made from the
ashes of the plantain. Firewood was scarce, and timber dear and bad. As regards this latter condition
the country must have improved, as it is fairly well wooded in the present day. To return to Streynsham
Master. We find that he arrived at Kasimbazar on the 2gth September, 1676, and remained there six
weeks. He first inquired into the death of Raghu, Poddar. This marn had been placed in custody
by the head factor, Mr. Vincent, in order to extract money due from him to the Company. During
Mr. Vincent’s absence the house-broker, Ananta Ram, had caused Raghu to be severely beaten, with
the deplorable result above stated. His death took place the same night. The matter caused great
indignation among the natives, and was only hushed up on payment of one thousand rupees to the
relatives. The inquiry lasted a fortnight, for Master, as a stranger to the country and language, found it
no easy matter to sift the conflicting evidence before him. In the end he could do nothing further than lay
down rules for the conduct of the factors, ordering copies of all proceedings to be sent to Fort St. George.
On November the 1st, the Council, sitting at Kasimbazar, decided that Hughli was the best place for the
residence of the head of the Council of the Bay. They further decided that the Kasimbazar factory ought
to be inspected once a year, noting that the expense would be small owing to the convenience of travelling
by water. Streynsham Master left Kasimbazar on the 8th November. In the following year, Mr. Vincent
was transferred to Hughli as chief of the factories, and the people of Kasimbazar congratulated themselves

* Bibliography (3). .



THE HISTORY OF MURSHIDABAD. 3

on his departure. He bore a dreadful character, not only on account of the death of Raghu, Poddar, but
on account of “diabolical arts with the Bramminees.” These appear to have included magic and poison.
In this same year, 1677, the Emperor of Delhi removed Shaistah Khan to Agra. Fedai Khan, a foster
brother of Aurungzebe, ruled Bengal for a short time, hardly a year, and then died, being succeeded by
Sultan Mahomed Azzim, third son of the Emperor. He renewed the privileges granted to the English
merchants for a consideration amounting to Rs. 21,000* Whether his father was dissatisfied with him, or .
not, is not clear, but for some_reason Sultan Mahomed Azzim was recalled in 1679, and Nawab Shaistah
Khan again installed as Subahdar of Bengal. In this same year, according to Wilson, Job Charnock,} then
at Patna, was made head of the Kasimbazar factory, and second in the Council of the Bay. Charnock was
sending off cargoes of saltpetre from Patna and delayed so long in joining his new post, that Streynsham
Master censured him and cancelled the appointment, ordering him to Hughli as second factor. An appeal
to the Directors brought disgrace on Streynsham Master. The Court said that Charnock had stayed at
Patna to attend to the saltpetre, and as they had appointed him to Kasimbazar, to Kasimbazar he should
go. He went,and his enemies, Master and Vincent, were dismissed from the Company’s service, The year
1680 brought with it a new agreement between the Emperor Aurungzebe and the Company, one not
altogether fraught with benefit for the latter. Owing to difference of opinion as to the reading of this
document, there were many quarrels between the factors and the Nawab’s officers who were exacting
taxes from which the factories, except that at Surat, considered themselves free by this and former agree-
ments. These differences led to a deadlock in trade, and in 1682, when the new Governor, Mr. Hedges,
came out, he found commerce almost at a stand-still and the English full of complaints against Nawab
Shaistah Khan’s customs officers. The English resolved to appeal to the Nawab at Dacca, at this time the
capital of the lower provinces. The local collector of customs, Parmeshwar Das, did all he could to prevent
them, interrupted their boats, and beat their boatmen. So great was his opposition that Hedges was obliged
to get away secretly at night, and, following the Hughli and Jalingi rivers into the main stream of the Ganges,
ultimately reached Dacca on the 25th October. At the end of a month he obtained a promise of redress,
and he returned to Hughli full of hope, only to meet with disappointment and further harassment from the
Nawab’s officials. In April, 1683, Kasimbazar received a visit from the Governor, whose object was to
investigate a charge made against Mr. Naylor, a dyer in the factories. This man was accused of trading in
silk with “interlopers,” 7., all not belonging to the Company, as, to the Greeks of old, all the rest of
the world were “barbarians.” The Company had the greatest hatred of these interlopers and punished
severely any dealings with them, so that Naylor could hope for no mercy, especially as letters, fully proving
his guilt, were found. The Governor’s next duty was to expel a man who was acting as a private servant
with Job Charnock. This man, James Harding, had come out to India as a writer in 1671, and had been
dismissed from the Company’s service. Charnock was rebuked for employing him against what he must
have known to be the wishes of the Company. The factors at Kasimbazar appear to have all come in for
trouble during this visitation, for many of the silk weavers complained that Richard Barker and John
Threder, second and third on the Council, took overweight on all the silk brought into the warehouse, and
this they proved by their books. Nothing seems to have been done in this matter, and the two factors
remained on at Kasimbazar. The next man in the factory to fall foul of Hedges was one John Watson,
and in this quarrel the factors got the better of the Governor, and his bitter opponent, Job Charnock, was no
doubt instrumental in obtaining his dismissal, for in 1684 Hedges was recalled and disappears from the
Compgny’s service. In October of the same year, Kasimbazar was visited by the new President, Gifford,
bat his visit did not produce any occurrence of interest. Job Charnock’s pay while he was head factor at

* Steward (15), page 303, and Appendix. The figures in brackets refer to the place of the book in the Bibliography,
$ 1681, according to Broome (14), Vol. i,, p. 9.



4 THE HISTORY OF MURSHIDABAD.

Kasimbazar appears to have been about £60 a year, but he must have been engaged in some illegitimate
trade, for we find that the merchants in the neighbourhood made a claim against him for Rs. 43,000. When
the claim came into Court the decision was in favour of the plaintiffs, and they were supported by the
Nawab of Bengal, Shaistah Khan, who ordered Charnock to appear before him at Dacca. Charnock
refused to go and made many efforts to get the decision revised. In order to prevent his escape the

. Nawab’s troops were sent to watch the factory. For some time the relations between the English and the
Nawab’s officials had been strained, the cause of the quarrel being generally connected with customs fees.
At Kasimbazar the conduct of the Foujdar was considered very oppressive and ultimately led to a breach,
preparations for war being made on both sides. These matters were reported to the Court of Directors in
the despatches of 1685, and the Agent in Bengal was censured for having been “too timid and submissive
towards the Nawab.” Troops were sent from England and from Madras, but such open hostilities as took
place were outside this district. In 1696 Charnock managed to evade the surveillance of the Nawab’s
troops and got away to Hughli, where he was appointed head of affairs. He set to work at once to raise a
company of Portuguese infantry and ordered the troops sent from England to come up to Hughli. Seeing
the determined attitude of the English, Shaistah Khan thought it better to come to terms and proposed to
submit the disputes between his officers and the factors to arbitration. The Company claimed compensa-
tion for loss of trade, and restitution of money extorted from their servants by the Foujdars. The claim in
all amounted to over 66 lakhs of rupees, and included the following items from the Kasimbazar factory :—
“For what Bul Chund forced from Mr. Vincent at Cassumbuzar 14,000 ; for detaining ye agent with ye silk
at Cassumbuzar 40,000.”

The Nawab was not prepared to admit such an enormous claim, and, taking the initiative, ordered his
troops to seize the English factories and imprison the factors.

In 1689 Shaistah Khan resigned, and shortly afterwards died. He was followed on the musnud by
Ibrahim Khan II, who released the captured agents. He made peace with the Company and invited
Charnock and others, who had fled to Madras, to settle again in Bengal. To this the Emperor of Delhi
agreed, for, though he hated the English, he was quick to note that his revenues were less during their
absence. A condition of peace and prosperity continued until 1695, when Subah Singh, a rich landholder
in Burdwan, assisted by the Pathans residing in Orissa, broke into open rebellion and managed to capture
Rajmehal and Maldah. From there, in 1696, he marched on to Muxsudabad and Kasimbazar. The
inhabitants of Muxsudabad offered no resistance to Rahim Khan, the Afghan Chief, and leader of the
Pathans Horrible massacres took place, and arriving at the property of one Niamat Khan, who held a
Jaglur just outside the city, the rebels called upon him to join them. This he refused to do, saying that he
owed allegiance to the Nawab only. His nephew, Tehuver Khan, an officer of the Nawab’s Cavalry,
challenged Rahim Khan, or any of his men, to single combat, but the cowards set on him in a body and
cut him to pieces. Niamat Khan, though without protection of any kind, mounted a horse, and, with
a sword in his hand, threw himself on the enemy, and making straight for Rahim Khan, struck fiercely at
his head. The blow fell on the Afghan’s helmet and the sword broke in pieces. In his impotent rage
Niamat Khan flung the hilt at his foe, with such accurate aim, that it knocked him off his horse. Dis-
mounting, Niamat Khan tried to seize his enemy’s dagger to renew the fight, but, although he succeeded in
getting the weapon, his stroke could not pierce the strong chain mail which protected the Afghan’s throat.
Overpowered by numbers, he and his servants were soon slain and his estate was plundered.* Kasim-
bazar fell into the hands of the insurgents, and by March, 1697, they had seized all the country west of the
Ganges. When the Emperor heard that Nawab Ibrahim Khan was unable to cope with the rebels he sent for
his grandson, Azim-u-shan, to supersede him. Zuberdast Khan was placed in charge of the Nawab’s forces

* Wilson (3) gives as reference Stewart's * Bengal,” pp. 207-209; it should be_333-333.
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and at once the tide began to turn. This general defeated the Hindu rebels and their allies, recovered
Rajmehal and followed his enemies to Muxsudabad, driving them out of the district and on to Burdwan.
The subsequent course of this war does not concern us, except in so far as it emboldened the English to
press for further grants. Although Azim-u-shan was the nominal ruler of Bengal the actual power was in
the hands of the Diwan of Muxsudabad, Murshid Kuli Khan. He was highly thought of by the
Emperor, who created him a Nawab in 1704 In 1702 one of the periodical seizures of the ~
European factories had taken place, but the firmness of President Beard, who captured a number
of the Emperor’s vessels, ended the trouble. In 1703 the first steps towards the union of the
old and new East India Companies took place, and trade resumed its normal conditions. The final
amalgamation of the Companies was completed 1707-8. In 1704 the water in the Bhagirathi being very
low the big boats from Patna loaded with saltpetre could not get past Muxsudabad, and two factors and
six soldiers were sent up to transfer the cargoes into smaller boats. To lessen the possibility of inter-
ference they took as presents for Murshid Kuli Khan, looking-glasses, sword blades, cups, plates, rose
water, broadcloth, velvet, etc.* We now come to a very important year in the history of the district, 1706,
during which Muxsudabad was made the capital of Bengal. Murshid Kuli Khan removed the adalut
(courts) and the mint from Dacca and built a palace at Muxsudabad.t Muxsudabad was in future to be
known as Murshidabad. The old name is used by the mass of the people, upon whom even stirring events
make little or no impression. Trade in the English factories at Kasimbazar had for some time been of a
spasmodic character, owing to the constant dread of attacks from the Nawab's officers. Things became
more settled, however, after Murshid Kuli Khan had mdde himself secure as Nawab de faczs, and two of
the Company’s factors, Bugden and Freake, left Calcutta in 1707 to place the trade at Kasimbazar on the old
footing. They were encouraged by the fact that Murshid Kuli Khan expressed a desire to meet the
merchants and come to terms with them. In the meanwhile, Aurungzebe, after a reign of 47 years,
died on the 21st February, 1707. He was succeeded by Bahadur Shah, father of Azim-u-Shan. The
latter was re-appointed Nawab of Bengal, with Nawab Murshid Kuli Khan as deputy and Nawab of Orissa.
Whether Murshid Kuli Khan was sincere it is impossible to say, but the Company’s boats on the Bhagi-
rathi were continually molested by subordinate officers, so much so, that, in February, 1708, the Calcutta
Council thought it necessary to strengthen Kasimbazar by sending Mr. Calvert and thirty-five soldiers.
They were to be employed to protect the saltpetre boats coming down from Patna and to see them safely
past Murshidabad and on their way to Fort William. On the whole, however, life at Kasimbazar seems to
have been fairly peaceful. Side by side with the English the Dutch were carrying on their trade, and it is
a sign of security that, by request, a chaplain was sent down in 1709 to baptize the child of the Chief o
the Dutch factory at Kasimbazar. In this same year, Murshid Kuli Khan was summoned to the Court of
the Emperor at Delhi, and during his absence Sher Bulland Khan, who was acting as Diwan, saw an
opportunity for a little extortion on his own account. He sent for Mr. Pattle, head of the Kasimbazar
factory, and demanded Rs. 45,000, as the price of his protection. After reference to Calcutta, Mr. Pattle
paid the amount, getting in return a written promise of protection for all English trade in Bengal, Behar,
and Orissa. In 1713 the skill of another of the East India Company’s surgeons was rewarded by the
Emperor Furokshah. Mr. Hamilton,} waiving his personal claims, begged for grants for the English,
and a Firman§ was issued in 1717, “confirming all former privileges, authorising the Company to

* For details . Wilson (3), p. 226.

+ According to Orme (42), Vol. ii., p. 19, it was Mir Jaffer Khan who removed the capital from Dacca to Muxsudabad
in 1756. There is no doubt that the transfer was made by Murshid Kuli Khan, as stated by Stewart (15), p. 369, and
Huater (8), p. 173.

} Mr. Hamilton died December roth, 1717, and was buried in St. John's churchyard, Calcutta.

§ This Firman is given at length by Broome (14), in Appendix C.



6 THE HISTORY OF MURSHIDABAD.

issue dustucks exempting any goods specified therein from search or duty, and placing the use of the mint,
at Murshidabad, at their disposal.” Murshid Kuli Khan regarded these favours with disgust, and it was
necessary to conciliate him with presents. Murshid Kuli Khan died in 1725; his son-in-law, Sujah-u-din
Khan, succeeded him, and reigned until 1739. His rule was favourable to the English, and trade in the
district increased and prospered. The next Nawab of Bengal was Serfiraz Khan, son of Sujah-u-din, and
he, too, allowed the English to continue their prosperous course. He did, however, call upon them to con-
" tribute towards the expenses of repelling the invasion of India by Nadir Shah. He died fighting at
Gherriah, in January, 1741, and the musnud was tenanted by his successful rival, Ali Verdi Khan. During
his reign, which was a continued struggle with the Mahrattas, he levied war taxes on the English, but did
not otherwise disturb them In 1742 permission was given to strengthen the factory at Kasimbazar, as an
attack by the Mahrattas was anticipated. A masonry wall with bastions at the corners was built round the
factory In 1747 Ali Verdi Khan had to purchase peace with the Mahrattas by ceding Cuttack and by pay-
ment of an annual subsidy of twelve lakhs. This payment was called Ckoxtk, and had originally been granted
as a tax which the Mahrattas might levy. Ali Verdi Khan had avoided payment for some years. Already
in 1748, the Mahrattas were again interfering with the Company’s cargo-boats on the river, and the officer
sent to protect them on their journey down the river with goods and treasure, either from Kasimbazar, or
Patna. A letter, dated February 19th, from Edward Eyles, one of the Kasimbazar Council, gives us an
insight into these raids He reports that he had sent Ensign McKion, with all the soldiers available, 150
buxerries,* four field-pieces, and ammunition, to Cutwah to secure as much of the goods as possible. He
complained that Ensign English had not waited at Plassy to protect the boats, and further, that on the
arrival of the Mahrattas that officer allowed himself to be outwitted by them. He did not send for help,
and leaving his budgerow,t fell into the power of the enemy. Ensign McKion was directed to relieve
English of his command. On February the 21st an inquiry was held at Kasimbazar, and the facts of the
disaster at Cutwah ascertained. Besides the cargo and treasure belonging to the Company, no less than
Rs 35,000, the property of a private individual, had been looted. No help could be obtained from the
Nawab, because he could not leave Murshidabad, fearing that in his absence the Mahrattas would attack
the city The Kasimbazar merchants felt that they could not for some time send any more goods by
river for fear of further loss, not only to themselves, but to the contractors. The native merchants at
Kasimbazar were at this period considerably in debt to the factory, and Mr. Eyre reported to the Calcutta
Council in March, that he had confined as many of the debtors as he could, hoping thus to prevail on them
to discharge their debts. To raise money he had tried to negotiate a bill on Patna, but failed, as the
Shroffs had absconded, to escape from the extortions of the Nawab, who wanted all the money he could
get to pay his troops, and indeed had much difficulty in getting them to move owing to money being due
to them. The Company suffered from other plunderers besides the Mahrattas. In April, one of their boats
was stopped at Hajiruhatti and a bale of goods stolen by Raja Anoopanian. The thief fled to Murshid:
bad and the Company’s Agents were instructed to demand restitution. There is no record of the succes
or failure of this demand, but it is extremely unlikely that the bale was ever recovered. Among th
“interlopers” trading in this district the most numerous and successful were the Armenians. The
happened about the end of 1748 to have two cargo-boats stopped by order of the Nawab, and this bein
reported to Calcutta by the local factors, a threat was issued that no Armenian ships would be allowed t
pass Fort William. By this means no doubt the Kasimbazar merchants hoped to frighten these activ
competitors In the month of January, 1749, the Nawab sent an order from Murshidabad directing

* The name given to a body of armed police, Broome (14), p. 92.
1 A large boat with one part covered with mats to form a sort of cabin.
1 Bankers, or more literally money-lenders.
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Diwan at Dacca to discourage trade in that city. It thus fell to the merchants at Kasimbazar to try to
propitiate the Nawab, and a horse was sent to be presented to him on a favourable opportunity in return
for which he was expected to allow trade to proceed in Dacca. Among the stray records® for 1748 is one
dismissing Mr. Wadham Brooke, chief of Kasimbazar; but no particulars are given as to the events which
ed to his punishment. It would seem further, that the order was subsequently cancelled, since in January,
1749, Brooke wrote to Calcutta that it was necessary to keep the Nawab in a good temper. Ali Verdi -
Khan had heard of a fine Arab horse for sale in Calcutta, and had no doubt thrown out hints that it would
_be an acceptable present. In August, the Armenians appealed to the Nawab to assist them in their dispute
with the merchants at Kasimbazar, and Ali Verdi Khan, seeing an excellent opportunity to extract money
from both parties, sent his troops to surround the factory. The English tried to propititate the Nawab
through the Seths, or bankers, of Murshidabad. Their demands were extortionate, Rs. 30,000 for them-
selves, and four lakhs for the Nawab. After many negotiations the Armenians were satisfied, but the
English had to pay to the Nawab, through the Sethst, no less than Rs. 12,00,000. In March, 1750, the
Nawab had gone with his army as far as Midnapur hoping to check the advance of the Mahrattas. The
enemy, however, slipped past him, and twelve thousand of them got within about four or five miles of
Murshidabad, where they came into collision with the troops led by Mir Jaffer Khan, the Paymaster-
General. The action was not decisive. Mir Jaffer had to retreat to Murshidabad, but he was not followed,
the Mahrattas being content to send out small parties to plunder the district. By May, 1751, Ali Verdi
Khan was back in his capital. One of his first acts was to demand the surrender of Ram Kissen Seth, who
had carried goods through to Calcutta without paying taxes at Murshidabad. The Company’s President
replied that the Seth’s father and grandfather were the Company’s dadn:} merchants, and that as Ram
Kissen was greatly in debt to the Company he could not be surrendered. By December, 1751, Brooke had
either really been dismissed or transferred, since we find Mr. W. Fytche at the head of the Kasimbazar
Council. He had unpleasant news for his masters in Calcutta, who learned from him that they might
consider the balances due from sundry merchants, from 1744 to 1747, as bad debts. Only Rs. 25,657-2-9
had been collected, and the merchants had either died, or run away, or were too poor to make any payment.
Raw silk and silk piece-goods were becoming very dear owing to the raids made by the Mahrattas. The
workmen and weavers had many of them been plundered and driven out of their burning homesteads. A
Turk, named Haji Salius, having lately died, his estate had been received into the Calcutta Treasury.
This came to the ears of Ali Verdi Khan, who at once sent a message to the merchants at Kasimbazar
that he demanded the Turk’s estate. The man, he argued, was a foreigner and had died intestate in the
Nawab’s dominions. The demand was accompanied by threats that troops would be sent to the factory
unless the money was paid. This was reported to Calcutta, and in reply the merchants there were directed
to satisfy the Nawab's claim, the sum amounting to Rs. 5,092-1-9. Ali Verdi Khan next turned his atten-
tion to the French, whose factory was at Farashdanga. Having no excuse for molesting the English,
he sent his troops to surround the French factory, but finally allowed the merchants to resume
business on payment of 50,000 sicca rupees. Money must have been easily made in those times,
for there does not seem to be any limit to the bribes and extortions to which the trades had to
submit. Like the daughter of the horse leech, the Nawab for the time-being, with a string of satellites, was
ever crying “give, give,” and if they did not give, the cry was merely changed into “ take, take.” For the
past decade the mass of the population had been in a state of waning prosperity, and at this period their
condition was at its worst. The people were taxed to maintain an army to repel the Mahrattas, and they
* Long (13).
4 These Seths, of whom Jaggat Sethwas the head, were part founders of the rich Jain banker families now so prosperous

in Azimganj and Baluchar.
1 Dadani, money advanoced, z.e., merchants taking advances.
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could neither reap, nor sow, nor tend their silkworms from daily dread of attacks. Products were scarce
and prices high, and the factors were again asked to explain the very high price of raw silk. They gave
the same reasons as before. They had for similar reasons beéen unable to supply the full amount of their
contracts, and further, the cotton crop of 1751 had been almost entirely destroyed by storms and heavy rain
in the month of April. Towards the end of 1752 the garrison at Kasimbazar was looking to its defences.
. They found it very difficult to get carpenters as they were all employed by the Nawab, and on this account
" the officer in command had to write to Calcutta for gun carriages. Iron work, too, was very dear. A
young writer, Mr. Hugh Watts, was sent to Kasimbazar as an assistant. He had come out on the
“ Portfield ” and notes that he was well treated, and that his passage had cost Rs. 1,000, arcot.

The Council in Calcutta had long wished to establish a mint of their own, and in 1753 they deputed
Mr. Watts, head factor at Kasimbazar, to approach the Nawab on the subject. He was obliged to use the
greatest secrecy to prevent the interference of Jaggat Seth, the Murshidabad banker. This man was a
large purchaser of bullion and no doubt made a large profit at the Murshidabad mint. He, therefore,
opposed the establishment of an independent mint ; and as he had considerable influence with the Nawab,
Mr. Watts’ negotiations were sure to fail if he came to know of them. As a matter of fact they did fail,
and Watts recommended that a direct appeal should be made to the Emperor at Delhi.

There is nothing particular to notice until we come to the records for 1755, when we find “ writers ”
here sharing a general reprimand on account of bad writing and carelessly kept books. The season’s
accounts are recorded as “ slovenly to a degree that we are quite ashamed of.”

Although the Mahrattas did not further molest this district there were troubles in store for the small
body of English at Kasimbazar. Ali Verdi Khan died April gth, 1756, and was succeeded by his son
Suraj-u-Dowlah, a weak, cruel, and vicious youth. His hatred of the English was well known. The English
were at this time making preparations for war with the French, and the Nawab forbade any further
strengthening of their defences. Finding that, as regards the Fort in Calcutta, his orders had been ignored,
he gave up an expedition against the Nawab of Purneah, and sent an army of 3,000 men, under the
command of Raja Doulat Ram, to surround the factory at Kasimbazar. The factory was not actually
attacked until the young Nawab himself arrived, on the 1st June, 1756, with the rest of his army. The
defences of the factory were, as we have seen, far from strong. The factors had a few guns, but they
were of small calibre and some of them were honeycombed with rust, and practically useless. The “whole
stock of ammunition did not exceed 600 rounds.” “The garrison consisted of only one officer, Lt. Elliott,
and forty-four regular soldiers, of whom twenty were Portuguese, and several Dutch, together with about
250 matchlock men.”* An appeal was made to Calcutta, but they would not send any help; indeed, it is
difficult to see how they could have done so. Mr. Watts, the head factor, was summoned by Suraj-u-
Dowlah, and under assurances of safety he went out to the Nawab's camp accompanied by Mr. Forth, the
Company’s surgeon. They were received with abuse and threats, and forced to sign a Moockulka, or
obligation, promising that within fifteen days the work on the new Fort in Calcutta should be demolished,
with other humiliating terms. The Nawab then sent for Mr. Collet and Mr. Batson, the factors next in
rank to Mr. Watts, and they too were compelled by threats to put their names to this impossible document,
The next act was one of treachery, for in defiance of the safe-conduct given, all four men were imprisoned,
and the factory being too weak to withstand such a force, surrendered on June 4th. Lt. Elliott, overcome
with shame, shot himself. The factory was plundered and the small garrison taken prisoners. The native
matchlock men either bolted, or joined the enemy. With the exception of Mr. Watts, the European
prisoners were sent to Murshidabad. The Nawab took Mr. Watts with him, as well as the factory guns,
and turned his steps towards Calcutta. Hyde tells us that the Kasimbazar guns were used to bombard

* Broome (14), p. 49.
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Fort William. After the seizure and sack of Calcutta, with the terrible tragedy of the Black Hole, Suraj-
u-Dowlah ordered Mr. Holwell, and others® to be sent up to Murshidabad in irons, believing that Mr.
Holwell could be forced to reveal the position of treasure which the Nawab firmly believed had been
hidden by the English. In Murshidabad they found Hastings and Chambers, also prisoners. When Suraj-
u-Dowlah returned to Murshidabad he had the prisoners brought before him, but, finding he could get
nothing out of them, let them go. They made their way to Chinsurah, where the Dutch showed them
hospitality. The brutal nature of Suraj-u-Dowlah was not alone displayed in his treatment of the
English. He had taken the musnud more or less by force, and certainly without consulting the Emperor,
Alumgir II. The people of the city of Murshidabad were in a state of fear, knowing not who would be the
first to feel the young tyrant’s displeasure. No sooner was he in power than he attacked the palace of his
aunt, Gheseeta Begum, on the bank of the Moti Jhil, and succeeded in possessing himself of the treasure
amassed by her late husband, Nuazish Mahomed. He next proceeded to turn out various officials, replacing
them by his own disreputable satellites. Among others, he dismissed Mir Jaffer Khan, the Paymaster
General, and this man, later on, was to be the cause of Suraj-u-Dowlah’s ruin, and, indirectly, of his death.

The remnant of the British forces had retired to Fultah, there to await the arrival of Col. Robert Clive,
from Madras, with all available troops. As we are not concerned with events outside this district, I shall
only give a brief sketch of Clive’s career, until history again reaches the neighbourhood of Murshidabad
The enemy’s fort, at Budge-Budge, having been successfully besieged, the ships containing Clive’s army
proceeded up the river to Alighur Fort, where Clive was joined by some native troops. He continued his
progress along the high road. Calcutta was re-occupied without much trouble between the 2nd and 4th of
January, 1757, a portion of the army was sent to attack Hughli, which place was taken by Captain Coote on
the 1oth. On the 12th, Bundel fell, and by the 16th the troops were back in Calcutta. In the meanwhile,
war had been declared between England and France, and as Clive wished to be free to attack the IFrench
possessions, he made overtures through Jaggat Seth and Omichand, to the Nawab. Suraj-u-Dowlah would
not listen to any terms, and on the 30th January, crossed the river, north of Hughli, with 43,000 men, 40
guns, and 50 elephants.

Clive had no wish to be embroiled with Suraj-u-Dowlah at a time when Admiral Watson was waiting
to co-operate with a land force against Chandernagore. On the other hand, any sign of fear would have
encouraged the young Nawab. Clive therefore sent “ messengers to solicit peace,” and at the same time
prepared to fight. To oppose an army of over 40,000 men, Clive had 700 Europeans and 1,200 Sepoys ;
to this force he added 600 sailors from Admiral Watson’s ships. On the morning of the 5th February,
the English attacked Suraj-u-Dowlah, routing his troops with a fierce charge. The Nawab then agreed

* With Holwell were Court, Burdett, and Ensign Walcot. They were made over to the Commander-in-Chief, Mir
Muddun, to be sent as prisoners to Murshidabad. Placed in a country boat, they suffered the greatest discomfort during a
tedious voyage lasting over a fortnight. The prisoners had no shelter to protect them from sun or rain, and their food was
of the coarsest. Their allowance of rice had to be washed down with muddy river water, and the effect of such diet on
Europeans soon became evident. They suffered from boils, as did many other survivors from the horrors of the ‘¢ Black
Hole.” Holwell seems to have been the most vigorous among the prisoners, and to him fell the duty of feeding and tending
his “more helpless companions.” ¢ On arrival at Murshidabad they were led in chains through the crowded city.” Itis
said that the Nawab, Suraj-u-Dowlah, was not aware of the indignities suffered by these four Europeans. Holwell,
continued in such bad health that in February, 1757, he was sent to England in the ‘ Syren.” A note in Dr. Busteed’s book
(5) would suggest that pressure was brought to bear upon the Nawab. A certain Mr. Weston who, like his patron, had
forsaken the medical profession for commerce, reported that Suraj-u-Dowlah’s forbearance to Holwell, and the latter’s
release from fetters, was due to the intercession of the Nawab’s wives, instigated by certain natives of Calcutta who loved
Holwell.

This same Weston evidently had a poor opinion of the prospects of a medical man in India in those times. Holwell
left his profession for the East India Company’s Civil Service, and Weston followed suit, remarking :—* What could I
expect from following the medical profession, when I saw a regular-bred surgeon, and so clever a man as Mr. Holwell,
charge no more than 50 rupees for three months’ attendance and medicine.”

c
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to peace, and a treaty was signed on the gth. Clive also sought the Nawab’s permission to attack the
French, but this was not given until Admiral Watson threatened to “raise such a conflagration as would
not be extinguished by all the water of the Ganges.”* Permission was then given.

Suraj-u-Dowlah had made many enemies in Murshidabad, men of influence whdm he had slighted
as he had done the Paymaster General, Mir Jaffer. Mir Jaffer, Omichand, one Khoja Wazid, and
others, secretly sought Clive’s help in order to depose the young tyrant If they were successful, Mir
Jaffer was to be placed on the throne. Clive employed Mr. Watts, of the Kasimbazar factory, as his
agent in these negotiations, which were carried on through April and May, 1757. We are told that the
conspirators worked so secretly that Suraj-u-Dowlah had no suspicion of any except Mir Jaffer. He
sent for the deposed Paymaster General, and forced him to swear on the Koran that he was not guilty of
any treachery. Clive was inclined to deal with Mir Jaffer only, to the exclusion of the rest.

The pact between Clive and Mir Jaffer, in 1757, becoming known to Omichand, a rich Hindu banker,
he threatened to report the matter to Suraj-u-Dowlah unless he received blackmail to the amount of thirty
lakhs of rupees It was then that Clive stooped to deceit, meeting fraud with fraud. An agreement was
drawn up to pay to Omichand, not the sum demanded, but twenty lakhs, if the scheme was successful. This
document was first drawn up on white paper, and all mention of Omichand’s name was omitted. A second
bond was drawn up on red paper, in almost the same terms, but with Omichand’s name in it. The false red
paper was shown to the blackmailer

This district again becomes the scene of history. When all was ready, Clive accused the Nawab of
breaking the treaty made in February, and practically declared war.

Clive, with his army, left for Plassy on the 13th June. On the 16th, he reached Patlee. Major Coote
seized Cutwah, and possessed himself of the enormous store of rice in its granaries.

Clive, and many of his officers, were inclined to rest here and entrench themselves against attack, but
the bolder counsel of Major Coote prevailed, and the army continued its march to Plassy and encamped
there, June 22nd, in a mango grove, only a mile distant from the enemy. At dawn the following day, the
23rd, the Nawab’s troops took the initiative. They numbered 40,000 foot and 16,000 horse, with 50 cannon ;
and were further strengthened by a detachment of artillery, manned by French soldiers and commanded
by Mons. St Frais. Against this vast force Clive could muster only 3,000 infantry, of which only
1,000 were European troops ; and eight cannon. He hoped for help from Mir Jaffer, but none came. Our
promised ally contented himself with remaining neutral. During the morning the fight consisted
mainly in a duel between the opposed artillery. About midday rain fell heavily, and, as the Nawab’s
gunners had not placed their ammunition under cover, much of it was irrevocably damaged. A lucky
shot from one of our field-pieces mortally wounded Mir Muddun, the Nawab’s Commander-in-Chief,
cutting off one of his legs. Mir Muddun in his terrible plight managed to get away to Munganapara,
where he died and is buried The loss of their general caused a panic, and Suraj-u-Dowlah, whose tent was
well out of the way of danger, was advised to retreat. Those in the plot with Mir Jaffer, influenced by
motives of personal revenge, represented to the Nawab that his only safety lay in retreat, and, these
counsels prevailing, orders were given to draw off the artillery. The retreat began about two o’clock in the
afternoon, and as the enemy fled, Clive moved forward, checked however, temporarily, by a false alarm that
a force of cavalry was attacking his baggage. It was soon seen that the men were part of Mir Jaffer’s
army, and the British forces pressed forward again. The gravest resistance we encountered was from the
French, who fought bravely, but found no support from the Nawab’s troops. Advancing at the charge,
Clive’s infantry routed this small body, causing them to flee, leaving their guns behind. When once the
retreat began victory was certain, as the Nawab’s troops bolted without order or discipline, making for

* Marsham (31), p. 49.
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Murshidabad. Baggage, tents, cannan, all they possessed, were left behind, and became the spoil of the
victors. Clive lost during the fight twenty-two killed and fifty wounded, mostly Sepoys. He reportec
that all his troops had fought most bravely, giving special praise to the 3gth British Regiment,® and thei
colours still bear the motto won at Plassy, Primus in Indis.

As night fell, the pursuit ceased, and the British forces bivouacked at Daudpur. Here Clive receivec
a message from Mir Jaffer, assuring him of his fealty, and during the night, Mir Jaffer's army arrived
and camped close to Clive's victorious force. Suraj-u-Dowlah had fled on a dromedary, and was soot
safely hidden in his palace. His next step was to call together his Council ; but he found neither comfor
nor advice. Giving up all hope of further resistance, Suraj-u-Dowlah retired to the zenana, where h
collected his jewels, and prepared to escape. Disguised in old and torn clothes, he took with him only hi
favourite concubine and confidential eunuch.

Early the next morning there was a cordial meeting between Lord Clive and Mir Jaffer Wit
their combined forces they set out at once for Murshidabad city Fearing treachery, Clive, however, le
Mir Jaffer precede him, and did not enter the city until the 2gth July. Then with a guard of 200 European
and 300 chosen Sepoys, he took up his residence in the Moti Jhil palace His first duty was to install hi
ally, Mir Jaffer, and this he did in the main palace before the chief nobles of the Nizamat. Taking Mi
Jaffer by the hand, Lord Clive led him to the throne, saluting him as Nawab Nazim, of Bengal, Beha:
and Orissa. It then became the duty of the newly appointed Nawab Nazim to carry out his part of th
contract.t+ They repaired to the treasury, but not finding as much money as they had hoped for,} Cliv
suggested that they should resort to the Seths, to make up the amount required One crore of rupees wa
to be given to the East India Company as compensation for loss and damage to their Kasimbazar factories
fifty lakhs were to go to those Europeans who had suffered loss during the sack of Calcutta; twent
lakhs to compensate their native servants and friends ; and seven lakhs over and above these sums, th
troops were to receive as a gratuity, Clive received sixteen lakhs as his share, and large sums wer
claimed by members of the Council.

Omichand had journeyed to Murshidabad, hoping to receive at once a portion of his reward, bt
when the chief Hindus of the city were called into the presence of Lord Clive and the Nawab, he foun
that there was no place assigned to him. As he stood wondering what this studied rudeness migk
portend, he was addressed by Mr. Sefton, by Clive’s order. When Omichand heard that the red pape
which he held was a fraud, he fainted, and fell into the arms of the bystanders. He was carried hom
where he lay almost insensible for days. He was perhaps a scoundrel from our point of view, but thi
cruel blow was more than even he deserved, and it shattered his intellect for ever. Even a pilgrimag
which he took did him no good, and he died about a year-and-a-half later. We can only pass over i
silence an act which stains the honour of one of the greatest men that ever promoted the British rule i
India. In addition to the money payment, certain privileges were granted by the Nawab, but they did nc
refer to this district.

In the meanwhile, Suraj-u-Dowlah had made his way to Bhagwangola, and from there to Rajmeha
Here he approached the hut of a Fakir,§ to get fuel to cook his food. As bad luck would have it, the Faki
bad formerly been a victim of Suraj-u-Dowlah’s cruelty, and seizing this opportunity to revenge the los
of his ears, he sent word to Suraj-u-Dowlah’s enemies. The deposed Nawab was taken back to Murshida
bad. Mir Jaffer might have spared him, but he was asleep when the prisoner arrived. His son, Miran, :
blood-thirsty youth, had Suraj-u-Dowlah confined in a room near his apartments, and proposed to kil

* 1st Battalion Dorsetshire Regiment. 1 About two crores of rupees, Marsham (31).
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him at once. He could not, however, persuade any of his companions to assist him. At last Miran found
a willing instrument in one Mahomed Beg who, entering Suraj-u-Dowlah’s room, killed him with a sword.
The body of the murdered man was then placed on an elephant, and taken out and buried in the Roshni-
bagh Cemetery.* Clive left Murshidabad, but Major Coote, who had been sent in pursuit of the French,
under M. St. Frais and M. Law, returned, after dispersing the enemy, and quartered his troops at Kazim-
bazar. Mir Jaffer was not permitted to remain in peace, and was threatened by the Nawab of Oude,
' Sujah-u-Dowlah, who was joined by the Shahzada with an army of 40,000 men, Mahrattas, Afghans, and
Rohillas. Mir Jaffer appealed to Warren Hastings, who had been appointed President at the Murshidabad
Court. Hastings sent word of the danger to Clive, who entered into a correspondence with the Shahzada,
to gain time. When his preparations were made, Clive returned in February, 1759, to Murshidabad, and
taking with him Miran and all available troops, he left the city on the 13th March, to attack the Shahzada.
In gratitude for the help which left him free from danger, Mir Jaffer conferred upon Lord Clive, an estate,
south of Calcutta, worth thirty lakhs of rupees. The letter conveying this gift was written by Warren

Hastings, and sent to the Council in Calcutta.
In 1757 the East India Company got its long-coveted mint in Calcutta, but the coins issued bore the

head of the Emperor.

We have now traced the progress of British power in Bengal, from small things to great. The East
India Company, from the date of the victory of Plassy, became the paramount power. A student of
history will recognise, however, that there was another critical period, and one, the evil of which was of the
Company’s own making. Defeat in any of our contests with Kasim Ali would have thrown the Company
back, even if it had not reduced the English again to the position of subjection they occupied before 1757.
As 1egards further historical incidents they will be but briefly alluded to. They will be found in the lives
of the Nawab Nazims, in Part II. [ shall shortly turn aside, to follow the origin and growth of the adminis-
trative machinery from which the various “Codes” and “Procedures” in use at the present time have
slowly been evolved

Mir Jaffer had been nominated by the English to succeed to the Swdak, as a reward for his support
against the late Nawab He had been a distinguished general under Ali Verdi Khan, whose half-sister he
had married Deposed for disaffection, he was, however, after a time reinstated and appointed Bakski,
or Paymaster General. On his dismissal from this office by Suraj-u-Dowlah, he commenced, as we
have seen, to plot against him. Difficulties soon arose about the payment of the price of Mir Jaffer's
elevation The treasuries of Murshidabad contained, no doubt, a large amount of coin, but, henceforth, the
sources from which they were replenished began to dry up. Individuals still continued to accumulate
wealth, but the ordinary administration of the Government and the collection of the revenues had become
disorganized

The following description of the treasuries of Murshidabad is mainly taken from the “Sair-i-
Mutakharim.” The translator of that workt states that Mr. Walsh, the commissary of the army, informed
him that he accompanied Colonel Clive, Mr. Watts the Resident, Mr. Lushington, Ram Chand the writer,
and Naba Krishna the munshi, into the vaults of the palace. They found stored up there £176,000 in
silver, £230,000 in gold, two chests of gold ingots, four chests of set jewels, and two smaller ones, containing
loose stones and gems. It is supposed, however, that this was only the outer treasury, and that the English
were deceived by their astute Bengali associates. The custom, says the chronicler, was common even with
private men, of keeping the more precious articles, as well as the bulk of the coined mpney, within the

*# In this account I have followed Marsham (31). Macfarlane (1g) says that Suraj-n-Dowlah was brought before Mir
Jaffer, who intended to spare him.
t ¢ Sair-i-Mutakharim,"” Vol. i., Part II., p. 773, note.
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zenana, or women’s apartment. This inner treasury of Suraj-u-Dowlah is asserted to have contained eight
million pounds sterling. The whole of this enormous sum is said to have been distributed between Mir
Jaffer, Ram Chand, Naba Krishna,and Amin Beg Khan. It is not probable that the new Nawab succeeded
in retaining much of his share, but we know enough about the circumstances of the others to render this
marvellous story not altogether incredible. Ram Chand, at the time of the battle of Plassy, was a writer
on Rs. 60 a month. He died ten years afterwards, worth £720,000 in cash and bills; and he also left 400 -
large water pots, 80 containing gold, and the rest silver; £180,000 in land ; and jewels to the value of £200,000.
The wealth of Naba Krishna may be estimated from the fact that he was able to spend £90,000 upon the
funeral of his mother. His salary in 1767 as political danian* to the Company, to which post he was
appointed at the personal recommendation of Lord Clive, was only Rs. 200 a month With reference to
the proportion of the spoil that fell to the share of the English, the Committee of the House of Commons,
in 1773, disclosed a total of £3,388,575, which represents, it must be remembered, only the sums which were
acknowledged to have been received. It was impossible that this vast sum of money should be paid over
on one and the same day ; but coin to the value of eighty lakhs of rupees was immediately placed on board
barges and sent down the river to Calcutta.

Clive left Bengal, in February, 1760, and no sooner was he gone than the Shahzada} made prepara-
tions for attacking Murshidabad. Frustrated in a preliminary attempt on Patna, by a force of 300 English,
and 1,000 Sepoys, under the command of Col. Calliand and Miran, the son of Mir Jaffer, the Shahzada
combined his forces with those of our old enemy, M. Law. He might even then have given up his intention
had he not been further strengthened by the Naib of Purneah. The combined forces, by a circuitous
march evaded their pursuers, and again appeared before Patna. The Patna garrison was weak,
Fullerton, with the few men he could muster, managed to protect the factory, and keep Shah Alum at
bay. Captain Knox, from Murshidabad, had only 200 Europeans, 300 native cavalry, one battalion of
Sepoys, and five cannon; but with these he utterly routed the allies, leaving the pursuit of the van-
quished to Col. Calliand and Miran. What might have been a decisive victory was spoiled by the rebellion
of Miran's troops. They insisted on returning to Murshidabad, in order to demand from the Nawab
the arrears of pay due to them. Unfortunately, the Nawab’s funds were very low Very much the
same condition of things existed in Calcutta, where both English and native troops were clamouring
for pay. The Governor, Mr. Vansittart, seeing no other way out of his troubles, since his treasury also
was empty, entered into a treaty with Mir Kasim Ali§ to overthrow Mir Jaffer. Mir Kasim Ali, the
son-in-law of Mir Jaffer, was to be made Nawab, and in return was to give to the East India Company
the revenue of the provinges of Burdwan, Midnapur, and Chittagong. In September, the Governor,
at the head of a considerable force, arrived in Murshidabad, and Mir Jaffer, powerless to resist, resigned
in favour of his treacherous son-in-law. Even his own troops declared against him, and the poor old
man to whom the British owed so much, had to beg for life, and a safe escort for his family to Calcutta. The
first act performed by the new Nawab was the payment of Miran’s rebellious troops ; and, to satisfy the claims
of the army under Mr. Vansittart, he sent six lakhs of rupees to the Government treasury at Calcutta.

Warren Hastings was so outspoken in reprehension of the course of conduct by which the
natives were being oppressed, that he was subjected to the grossest insults from his brother Councillors.
He was charged, together with the Governor, in a minute presented by Mr. Batson, with acting the part
rather of a retained solicitor of the Nawab, than of a servant of the Company. An altercation ensued.

* Money-lender, or cashier, who looked after the financial affairs of the political department.
+ “ History of British India,” C. Macfarlane (19), 1862.

1 Eldest son of the Emperor of Delhi, Shah Alum.

§ See Biography, Part I1.
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Mr. Batson gave him the lie, and struck him in the presence of the Board. Within less than a month war
was declared against the Nawab by the majority of the Council, while both the Governor and Warren
Hastings remained neutral. But news of the expulsion of the English from Patna arrived at this time, and
Warren Hastings recorded his altered views in the following minute :—*“ It was my resolution, as soon as
war should be declared, to resign the Company’s service, being unwilling to join in giving authority to pass
measures of which I disapprove. . . . But since our late melancholy advices it is my intention to
join my endeavours for the good of the service as long as the war shall last.”*

The name of Warren Hastings is so closely connected with the history of this district that a few lines
must be devoted to his career.

The Prince Regent said of him, that “he was one of the most deserving and at the same time one of
the worst used men in the Empire.”{

Born the 6th December, 1733, at Daylesford, he died August 22nd, 1818. He was educated at Daylesford,
and Newington, near London, and at ten years of age was sent to Westminster. In 1777 he and other
old boys gave a large cup to the school. He was next taught accounts, etc., by Thomas Smith, of Christ's
Hospital, but he had no head for figures, and was made a writer to the Honble. East India Company.
He embarked for India, reaching Calcutta, 1750, in his eighteenth year. In 1752 he was posted to Kasim-
bazar to make “bargains” for stuffs with native brokers.

In 1756 he married the widow of Captain Buchanan, of the Company’s service, and by this wife he had
two children a daughter who lived nineteen days, and a son, sent home for education. Mrs. Hastings died
at Kasimbazar soon after the birth of her son, and is buried there in the old English cemetery. Warren
Hastings left Kasimbazar for Calcutta, in 1761. In 1756 he was saved from Suraj-u-Dowlah by an
ancestor of the Maharajah of Kasimbazar.

In 1772 he became Governor of Bengal, and the Directors exhorted him to economy and the
putting down of abuses, and complained that, owing to bad treatment of the natives, silk had risen 50
per cent.

Governor for two years, he was then Governor General of India for eleven years. Warren Hastings
married Mrs. Emhoff, in 1775, in Calcutta.

Though he passes out of our particular district history, his influence as Governor of Bengal was felt for
good. He was said to be a favourite with natives, and to have given to Bengal peace such as it had never
known. He was clever with his pen, so that even Francis acknowledged him as his superior.

More money was soon wanted, and a victim was found in Ram Narain, the Governor of Patna Ram
Narain was seized, and thrown into prison, where he remained for two years, to be at last murdered
by Mir Kasim. The native community seeing that the English raised no voice to stay these cruel pro-
ceedings, thought that Mir Kasim was powerful enough to resist them, and the Nawab Nazim himself,
encouraged by false hopes of support, began to plunder the boats belonging to the Company, as they
passed down the Bhagirathi. Reprisals on the part of the English at Patna led to the murder of Mr.
Amyatt, the seizure of the Kasimbazar factories, and despatch of all prisoners to Monghyr. The Council
in their extremity turned to Mir Jaffer, whom they promised to restore to the gaddZ} if he would free them
from the “ Frankenstein ” monster they had raised in Mir Kasim. A treaty was therefore drawn up, and
signed by both parties, July 1oth, 1763.

The proximate cause of hostilities was on this wise. Mir Kasim, after much negotiation, had agreed
to a Convention, also accepted by Mr. Vansittart, that a duty of only 9 per cent. should be paid by English-
men, which was below the rate exacted from other traders. This Convention, however, was repudiated

* Hunter, “ Imperial Gazetteer.” 4 Sir C. Lawson (35). 1 Lit. cushion, throne.
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by the Council at Calcutta. The Nawab, in retaliation, resolv_ed to abandon all duties whatever on the
transit of goods, and to throw the trade of the country perfectly open. This resolution was still more
disagreeable to the Company’s servants than the Convention had been. A deputation, consisting of Mr.
Hay and Mr. Amyatt, was despatched to Monghyr, where Mir Kasim had fixed his residence. But it
was now too late for negotiation. Disputes between the gomashtas of the English and the Mahomedan
officers were breaking out daily in every District of Bengal. Mr. Ellis, the chief of the Patna factory,
‘ threatened to commence hostilities by occupying the city with his Sepoys. The Nawab seized some boats
laden with arms for that place, as they were passing up the Ganges. Mr. Ellis surprised and took the city
of Patna; and Mr. Amyatt, who was on his way to Calcutta, was attacked by the people of the Nawab,
and massacred with all his attendants The scene of this tragedy, which served only to stir up the English
to revenge, was the beautiful reach of the Bhagirathi which lies between Murshidabad and Kasimbazar.
The war opened favourably for the Nawab. The English at Patna were attacked while scattered through
the town, overpowered, and taken prisoners. The whole of Bengal, as far south as the present district of
Nadia, was occupied by the Mahomedans, and the factory of Kasimbazar was for the second time plundered.
The English concentrated their forces at Agradwip, near Nadia. After some trifling engagements, they
recovered possession of Murshidabad, and encountered the main body of the Nawab's forces at Gherriah,
near the source of the Bhagirathi from the Ganges, on July 24th, 1763. In the end, the victory of the
English was complete, and, as the result of the battle of Gherriah, Bengal was for the second time conquered.
Mir Kasim fled to Monghyr, where he caused the two Seths whom he had dragged with him from Mur-
shidabad, to be thrown from the bastions of the fortress into the river, and ordered the murder of his English
prisoners at Patna. The battle of Buxar finally drove him to take refuge among the Rohillas, and he is
said to have retired finally to Delhi, where he died in 1777, in great indigence and obscurity.

On the first outbreak of hostilities, the English had resolved to depose Mir Kasim and to place a more
complaisant Nawab on the musnud. Negotiations were accordingly opened with Mir Jaffer, who was
residing, for the sake of safety, at Calcutta. He was willing to consent to every demand made upon him,
and was accordingly reinstalled at Murshidabad. The price of this new Revolution amounted to more
than £1,700,c00; and in addition, the Company’s servants gained their main object, the exemption of their
own goods from all duties, and the reimposition of the old charges upon all traders but themselves. Mir
Jaffer gained but little, except the transmission of the title to his family. He was already broken by age
and by disease. His death took place in January, 1765, and is said to have been hastened by the unseemly
importunity with which the English at Calcutta pressed upon him their private claims to restitution.

Najim-u-Dowlah, the eldest surviving son of Mir Jaffer, was chosen by the English to succeed his
father, and in accordance with the explicit conditions of his advancement, divided £140,000 among the
members of Council. This payment is the more noteworthy, as there could be no pretext for saying that it
was the reward for any services rendered, or compensation for any loss. The new Nawab was about
twenty years of age at this time, and died within three years; but his short rule witnessed one more of
the steps by which the Mahomedan power was superseded. In May, 1765, Lord Clive arrived at
Calcutta with full power as Commander-in-Chief, President, and Governor in Bengal. Among his sweep-
ing reforms was the settlement of the relations between the Nawab and the Company. Within two months
after landing in India he proceeded to Murshidabad. The Nawab was required to resign the management
of the revenues and the command of his troops. An annual sum of Rs. §3,86,131, (stcca), was allowed him
for the expenses of his Court, and the administration of justic. ~He was further required to submit to
the control of a board of advisers in all his affairs. This board was composed of Raja Dulabh Ram, Jaggat
Seth, and Mahomed Reza Khan, and in addition, a servant of the Company was always to reside at
Murshidabad, and exercis= a general superintendence. The character of the young prince may be
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conjectured from the joy with which he accepted these proposals. “ Thank God,” he exclaimed, I shall now
have as many dancing girls as I like” The rent-roll, which he abandoned with a light heart, is estimated
in Grant’s “ Analysis of the Finances of Bengal,” at Rs. 2,56,24,223. To this total, which was the revenue of
Bengal proper, alone, there must be added sixty-five lakhs proceeding from Behar, and eleven Jakhs more
as the annual revenue of Midnapur, then the only portion of Orissa which recognised Mahomedan authority.
The total income of Bengal, with its dependencies in 1765, was about three crores and thirty-two lakhs
of sicca rupees. Lord Clive next proceeded to the English camp in the north-west, and there received in
person, from the Emperor Shah Alum, the grant of the Dswanni, or financial administration of Bengal,
Behar, and Orissa. The date of this memorable event was August 12th, 1765. In the following year,
Lord Clive took his seat as finance minister, at Moti Jhil palace® near Murshidabad, and in concert with the
Nawab, who sat as Nazim, opened the Punya, or ceremony of annual collection of revenue. On the 8th May,
1766, a few days after this ceremony, Najim-u-Dowlah died.

Having done his best to check evils among the civilians, Clive next turned his attention to the condition
of the army. Discontent was ever rife ; pay had often been in arrears, and mutiny frequently on the verge
of breaking out. After the battle of Plassy, there had been, as already described, a distribution of extra
pay to the troops, the expenditure being borne by Mir Jaffer, who regarded it in the light of a reward for
the exertions which had raised him to power and honour. This allowance had been continued, under the
name of double dastat to European officers, and they now regarded it as their right. Lord Clive issued
an order dated January 1st, 1766, abolishing this extra batfa, except during actual service. We are not
particularly concerned with the resistance with which a great number of the British officers opposed this
order ; it suffices that the seniors among them were court-martialed, and dismissed from the service.
Bengal was now at peace, and when Lord Clive again quitted India he said, addressing the Select Com-
mittee :—“ I leave the country in peace, I leave the Civil and Military departments under discipline and
subordination ; it is your duty to keep them so.”

Saif-u-Dowlah, a brother of Najim-u-Dowlah, a youth of sixteen, succeeded him. By the treaty with the
Company, which placed him on the musnud, his annual stipend was fixed at sica rupees, 41,86,131.
He died of small-pox in 1770.

Mobarak-u-Dowlah, another son of Mir Jaffer, and a minor, was appointed Nawab, and, at first, similar
arrangements were made with him as had endured during the lives of his two brothers. On his accession,
the Governor and Council of Fort William agreed to pay him an annual “stipend” of sécca rupees, 31,81,991
The Court of Directors in England had, however, resolved on a new policy, to which the minority of the
Nawab readily lent itself. They had determined to “stand forth as Dewan, and by the agency of the
Company’s servants to take upon themselves the entire care and management of the revenues.” This
resolution was formed in 1771, and Warren Hastings, the first Governor General of Bengal, was to
carry it into effect. In the same year, they had ordered the annual stipend of the Nawab to be reduced
to sixteen lakhs of rupees. This reduction was accordingly effected in January, 1772. In April of the
same year, Warren Hastings arrived in Calcutta, and before that month was out another great reform had
been effected. Mahomed Reza Khan, the Naib Diwan at Murshidabad, and Raja Shitab Rai, who filled the
same office at Patna, were both suddenly apprehended, and brought down as prisoners to Calcutta. Their
offices were abolished, and the principal office of revenue was transferred from Murshidabad to Calcutta.
The Council, with Hastings at its head, was constituted a Board of Revenue, assisted by a subordinate
native functionary. The supreme judicial power in criminal cases was, at the same time, vested in the
President and Council. But it was soon found that this additional duty involved too great responsibility

-~

* This palace no longer exists.
+ Batta (Urdu), perquisites, allowance, wages.
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and in October, 1775, the Court of the Nizamat Adalut was moved back to Murshidabad. The
name of “Collector,” together with many of the functions discharged by that officer, owes its existence
to the reform of 1772 There was yet one more step to be taken. Lord Cornwallis, in 1790, announced
that he had resolved to accept the superintendence of the administration of criminal justice throughout
the provinces. The Nizamat Adalut was a second time transferred from Murshidabad to Calcutta, to

_consist of the Governor General and members of the Supreme Council, assisted by the head native law
officers. In 1793 four Courts of Circuit, each superintended by a covenanted servant of the Company,
were established for the trial of cases not punishable by the Magistrates.

The only function of Government that remained to the Mahomedans was thus transferred directly into
English hands, and the city of Murshidabad ceased to bear any longer the semblance of a capital ; and the
Nawab Nazim lost the last shadow of his authority. Mobarak-u-Dowlah died 1796.

In his “Voyages and Travels by the Ganges,” Vol. i,, pp. 96, 186, Valentia states that the magnificent
jewels which the Nawab was wearing at the time of his visit, 1802, had been taken out of pawn for the
occasion, and that the creditors were waiting downstairs to watch, and receive them again on his departure.
He describes the palanquin of the Nawab as being all of cloth of gold, with panels of glass, and doors of
the same material

In 1768 the East India Company, in consultation with Mahomed Reza Khan, tried to come to some
arrangement with the Mahrattas, to whom arrears of ckowtk had been promised by Governor Vansittart, in
1763  Finally, the Mahrattas accepted the revenue of Orissa in place of these arrears.

In 1769 the district was visited by a severe famine, due partly to failure of the crops in 1768. Prices
were high, and as Government dues were collected as usual the ryot’s stock of ready money was soon
exhausted Though the early part of 1769 looked promising, the “rains” ceased early in September, and
the winter rice crop failed as a consequence.

Perhaps 1770 was the most terrible year in the records of the district, for to add to the terrors of
scarcity, came disease, cholera, and small-pox. Instead of some relief of taxation, which the people might
rightly have expected, they found themselves burdened with an additional 10 ger cent. land tax. This
burden, it is surprising to find, was laid upon them, not by some irresponsible bureaucrat at headquarters,
but by a Mussulman, Mahomed Reza Khan

In February it was necessary to send 40,000 maunds (over 1,400 tons) of rice to feed the troops at
Berhampur  The provincial council, sitting in Murshidabad, reported that it was quite impossible for the
Nawab to guarantee the usual quantity of silk. The industry suffered from the death of rearers and
cultivators of mulberry, and sickness and want sapped the energy of those that remained. Troops of ryots,
rendered beggars by the famine, flocked into the towns To these rice was given, under the sanction of a
Committee, to the amount of Rs 87,000, of which sum the East India Company gave Rs. 40,000 and the
Nawab Nazim Rs 47,000 Even this was not sufficient, and at one time rice was selling at 3 seers for the
rupee, that is 6 Ibs for 2s  Rice was (1901) worth 2}d. a lb,, or 1s. 14d. for 6 Ibs. of the best Patna rice.
To the credit of the rich, it is recorded that there was no lack of charity, and many starving persons were
relieved by private distribution of food. Bad as matters were in this district, they seem to have been worse
in the neighbouring districts, and the Murshidabad Council was besieged with petitions for help and
remission of taxation, from Rajshaye, Birbhum, and Dinajpur. In July the Resident of Murshidabad
reported that in and around the city 500 people died daily of starvation; and that things were worse in the
villages out of reach of help.

Driven by want, the small cultivators sold cattle, ploughs, all they possessed. They ate the little store
that should have given them seed for the next harvest. They sold even their children, and finally were
driven to eat leaves and grass. The overcrowding in Murshidabad bred disease, and small-pox was added
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to the horrors of famine. It spread with great rapidity, and devastated the homes of the poor and the rich
alike. In the palace, the Nawab, Saif-u-Dowlah, died, and the streets were packed with dead quicker than
they could be removed. Dogs, jackals, and vultures fed on the corpses as they lay on the ground. Those
who could, fled the city, and their houses and lands became ruined and laid waste, so that the once great
city lost its greatness for ever. In the district and around the city millions died. With the “rains” came
hope, turned to reality when the September harvest was reaped. Still, the effects of want could not be
removed by magic. Life was at such a low ebb that thousands died unable to digest the food put before
them, and the autumnal fevers wrought havoc among the devitalised population. The aman, or cold
season crop of rice in December, was also very abundant, and plenty reigned where only a few months
before starvation and disease killed without check.
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PLASSY MONUMENT.

In 1769 Richard Becher had been-appointed Agent to the Governor General at Murshidabad, with
partial control of the District revenues.

In 1770 he bravely wrestled with this great famine in Murshidabad, but was handicapped by the system
which divided the management between Europeans and natives. Becher left some notable letters, which
W. W. Hunter says greatly inspired him in 1870 when writing the “ Annals of Rural Bengal,” and dealing
with the events of the year 1770. Becher retired in 1774. Seven years after, in 1781, having lost his money
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were established for the trial of cases not punishable by the Magistrates.

The only function of Government that remained to the Mahomedans was thus transferred directly into
English hands, and the city of Murshidabad ceased to bear any longer the semblance of a capital ; and the
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arrangement with the Mahrattas, to whom arrears of ckoutk had been promised by Governor Vansittart, in
1763. Finally, the Mahrattas accepted the revenue of Orissa in place of these arrears.

In 1769 the district was visited by a severe famine, due partly to failure of the crops in 1768. Prices
were high, and as Government dues were collected as usual the ryot’s stock of ready money was soon
exhausted. Though the early part of 1769 looked promising, the “rains” ceased early in September, and
the winter rice crop failed as a consequence.

Perhaps 1770 was the most terrible year in the records of the district, for to add to the terrors of
scarcity, came disease, cholera, and small-pox. Instead of some relief of taxation, which the people might
rightly have expected, they found themselves burdened with an additional 10 per cent. land tax. This
burden, it is surprising to find, was laid upon them, not by some irresponsible bureaucrat at headquarters,
but by a Mussulman, Mahomed Reza Khan

In February it was necessary to send 40,000 maunds (over 1,400 tons) of rice to feed the troops at
Berhampur. The provincial council, sitting in Murshidabad, reported that it was quite impossible for the
Nawab to guarantee the usual quantity of silk. The industry suffered from the death of rearers and
cultivators of mulberry, and sickness and want sapped the energy of those that remained. Troops of ryots,
rendered beggars by the famine, flocked into the towns. To these rice was given, under the sanction of a
Committee, to the amount of Rs. 87,000, of which sum the East India Company gave Rs. 40,000 and the
Nawab Nazim Rs. 47,000. Even this was not sufficient, and at one time rice was selling at 3 seers for the
rupee, that is 6 Ibs. for 2s. Rice was (1901) worth 21d. a 1b,, or Is. 14d. for 6 lbs. of the best Patna rice.
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remission of taxation, from Rajshaye, Birbhum, and Dinajpur. In July the Resident of Murshidabad
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villages out of reach of help.

Driven by want, the small cultivators sold cattle, ploughs, all they possessed. They ate the little store
that should have given them seed for the next harvest. They sold even their children, and finally were
driven to eat leaves and grass. The overcrowding in Murshidabad bred disease, and small-pox was added
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to the horrors of famine. It spread with great rapidity, and devastated the homes of the poor and the rich
alike. In the palace, the Nawab, Saif-u-Dowlah, died, and the streets were packed with dead quicker than
they could be removed. Dogs, jackals, and vultures fed on the corpses as they lay on the ground. Those
who could, fled the city, and their houses and lands became ruined and laid waste, so that the once great
city lost its greatness for ever. In the district and around the city millions died. With the “rains” came
hope, turned to reality when the September harvest was reaped. Still, the effects of want could not be
removed by magic. Life was at such a low ebb that thousands died unable to digest the food put before
them, and the autumnal fevers wrought havoc among the devitalised population. The aman, or cold
season crop of rice in December, was also very abundant, and plenty reigned where only a few months
before starvation and disease killed without check.

PLASSY MONUMENT.

In 1769 Richard Becher had been-appointed Agent to the Governor General at Murshidabad, with
partial control of the District revenues.

In 1770 he bravely wrestled with this great famine in Murshidabad, but was handicapped by the system
which divided the management between Europeans and natives. Becher left some notable letters, which
W. W. Hunter says greatly inspired him in 1870 when writing the “ Annals of Rural Bengal,” and dealing
with the events of the year 1770, Becher retired in 1774. Seven years after, in 1781, having lost his money
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in helping a friend, he was allowed to return to the Company’s service as Mint Master in Calcutta. He
died in 1782.%

In December, 1770, Mr. Becher reported that the rice sent by the Council in Calcutta had enabled him
to keep all who were directly dependent on the English. The Resident received great help from Mahomed
Reza Khan. It is sad, though true to human nature, that certain accusations were made against some of
the Company’s officers of having made a profit out of the people, compelling them to sell even the grain

"stored for seed.t No names are given, and perhaps it is as well. Tanks and wells dried up, and to add
to the trouble many homesteads were destroyed by roving incendiaries.

It is the nature of the Bengali that makes it so difficult to help him. He resents assistance, even when
he most needs it, and his resentment becomes fierce antagonism when his domestic privacy is invaded, as
seen in many instances during years of plague and famine, and after repeated proof that help will be
given without thought of reward ; without even expecting gratitude.

Much of the land depopulated in 1770 remained uncultivated even nine years later, and, indeed,
the population decreased until 1785. The land became jumgle, and wild beasts increased notably. Even
twenty years after the famine the jails contained many debtors for revenue.

Notwithstanding that the land tax was in no way decreased, but, as stated, rather increased, the full
amount was never collected, even with the assistance of troops. During 1771 gang robbery and robbery
by professional Thugs increased.

The year of famine and disease was followed by three years of plenty, but the people were gone, and
the sunshine and rain fell on a forsaken country ; one-third of the population had died or fled : 10,000,000
people! That the help given by the Company had been inadequate was due more to ignorance than
hardness of heart.

In 1771 the Murshidabad Council were asked to advance £4,000 to Nadia to provide loans for the
ryots to cultivate the soil, to replace cattle, and to obtain seed. They granted £2,500. Crime was rife,
and many stole the food required to keep body and soul together.

The Pachetra or Customs were collected by the Government officers under the new system.t

The total receipts in the Murshidabad Treasury for 1771-72 were Rs. 1,57,56,576. Acting on the

advice of the Committee of Circuit at Kasimbazar, the Revenue work was removed to Calcutta under the
Board of Revenue. Reviewing the loss of life during the famine, from which the province was slowly
recovering, Hastings estimates that “at least one-third of the inhabitants” had died, and, this notwith-
standing, the revenue for 1771 had exceeded that of 1768. That it did not decrease was due to the severe
methods adopted. The Najay, or tax on waste lands, was most oppressive, as it fell heaviest on those
villages that had lost most from famine or disease. Under the old system, the Nawab Nazim looked to
the farmers of the revenue for a fixed sum, and did not care by what means these men collected the money,
nor how much over and above they took for themselves. There was no unity of system, and everywhere
oppression. The orders of the Court of Directors were to abolish the Naib Diwan and to take the
collection of revenue entirely out of the hands of the native officials. Fixed rates and uniform for each
district were introduced. The Committee appointed to revise the Revenue System comprised :—The
Governor, Messrs Middleton, Dacres, Lowrell, and Graham, The first step was to give notice that all lands
would be let on five years’ leases.

The questions to be dealt with were :—1, The original ground rent, called Asal; 2, Abwabs,a collection
of taxes levied, some by the Nawab’s Government, some by the Revenue farmers, and some even by the

¢ “ The Thackerays in India.” Hunter (33).
t Hunter (17), p. 420-21.
{ Letter from Hastings to the Home Directors, 3rd November, 1772.
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sub-collectors to whom the taxes were further farmed out. One of these was the Najay, already
mentioned. The first step the Committee took was to abolish such of these miscellaneous taxes as were
manifestly oppressive. These included :—(a) Customs charges on necessaries of life carried on the rivers
in the district ; (b) Fines for petty crimes (Bazu Jama); (c) Tax on marriage (Halderry). The consequence
of the remission of such burdens was rightly foreseen to be increase in population and increased comfort and,
therefore, stability of the family life.

New leases were to be given (Amulnamas) in which were clearly stated the payments which the -
Revenue Collectors could legally claim. The form of deed (Pottak) was drawn up by the Committee.

The next step was to study economy in the work of collecting the revenue. The scale of the collecting
establishment was to be the same for each District. Zemindars* were to be treated as farmers, and the
revenue to be taken directly from them. The lands were farmed to the highest bidder. The Committee
arrived at Kasimbazar, in July, 1772, and took in hand the settlement of the income to be paid to the Nawab
Nazim, and the appointment of officers to manage the Nizamat affairs. Mr. Middleton was appointed
Resident at the Murshidabad Court, and, in addition, was chief factor at Kasimbazar and Collector of
Revenue for the Rajshaye district. The local Board of Revenue at Murshidabad was abolished, and the
district revenue officers placed under the Board of Revenue in Calcutta. In September, the Committee left
for Dacca, Mr. Middleton remaining behind to take up his post at Murshidabad.

In 1780 the Treasury at Murshidabad was called upon by Hastings to provide funds for his war in
Madras, which added greatly to our territory in the Carnatic and Mysore, and ended in 1781 in a peace with
Scindia, the head of the Mahrattas, for so long our tireless foes. This over, Hastings turned his forces
against the French and Tippoo Sahib. We did not free ourselves from the Mahrattas until 1803, when
_ their power in Orissa was finally broken and the province annexed to Bengal.

The 29th March, 1787, marks the date on which the East India Company took over the entire
administration of the district, substituting its own men in many offices for the Nawab Nazim’s officers. The
Nawab’s power was merely an wmbra, or shade, and the people, already at a low ebb from taxation for the
struggle, the Mahrattas were at the mercy of bands of robbers. Mr. E. O. Ives, Collector of Murshidabad,
in 1784 appealed to the Local Government for help, stating clearly that the force at his disposal was quite
insufficient to cope with these marauders. In May, 1785, he again urged the necessity for help, as the
strength of the robber bands was increasing, and by June had reached the alarming total of 1,000 men.
Their refuge and stronghold were in Birbhum, and from there it was an easy step into this district, as they
are contiguous along our western boundary. To check these inroads, an officer was sent from Mur-
shidabad in 1786, to assist the local Raja of Birbhum. This officer’s name was Foley.

Agriculture was at a stand-still, and many of the Company’s factories were abandoned. Foley remained
in charge until Lord Cornwallis finally separated Birbhum from Murshidabad, and placed a Collector,
Mr. W. Pye, in charge of the newly formed district, thus relieving the Collector of Murshidabad of a heavy
responsibility.

1793 was the year in which Sir John Shore became Governor General, and the same year saw the death of
Nawab Nazim Mobarak-u-Dowlah, whose eldest son was proclaimed his successor on September 28th.
The new Nawab Nazim was the eldest of a family of twenty-five; twelve sons and thirteen daughters.
During 1826 Swuttee was declared illegal.

In 1835, with Lord William Bentinck at the head of affairs, many changes, wise and unwise, took place.
The idea that the Government had duties to perform as to the education of the masses passed from theory
into practice, and one lakh of rupees was ordered to be set aside for the opening of English schools, and

* Originally revenue collectors, not landholders in the true sense of the word. At the present time the word is used
for a landholder.
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even more than the amount assigned by the Home Government was actually spent. Hitherto, money
had been granted to schools teaching Sanscrit and Arabic. These institutions were warned that monthly
stipends allowed to certain scholars would lapse when the recipients passed out of the colleges.

Medical science, too, received a great and lasting impetus in 1835, from the founding of the Calcutta
Medical College.

. Berhampur has the unenviable notoriety of being one of the first places in Bengal where signs of mutiny
"appeared among the troops. Fortunately, although it seemed at first that the vigorous measures taken by
the European officer in command were only likely to lead to further trouble, wise and conciliatory counsels
prevailed, and the revolt was checked before it assumed any serious features, or spread to the city of
Murshidabad, where thousands of malcontents were only waiting to see what the Nawab Nazim would do,
before taking up arms against the Europeans. It must be remembered that there were no British troops
in Berhampur cantonment at that time, and none anywhere nearer than Calcutta, about 120 miles away.
The native troops at Berhampur, in February, 1857, were the 19th B.I. ; a corps of irregular cavalry, and a
battery of artillery with native gunners. Unfortunately, the Government chose at this critical time to send a
detachment of the 34th l?’.‘I'.,up' countfry from Barrackpur, a very hotbed of discontent and incipient
’ the p ac€in which the greased cartridge ” story was just then causing considerable excitement,
These men were in charge of stud horses, and were to be relieved by a detachment of the 1g9th B.I
at Berhampur. The first party reached Berhampur on February 18th, and a week later, February 25th, a
second detachment of the 34th B.L arrived, in charge of European sick. These, too, were to be relieved by
the 19th B.L, on reaching Berhampur. On arrival in the station they were lodged in the infantry lines, and
they soon communicated to their fellow Sepoys the story of the progress of the mutiny, and the rumours as
to bone meal in the flour, and cartridges greased with the fat of pigs and cows, and thus insulting to the
faith of both Hindus and Mahomedans. It is certain that in the telling they did not soften down any of
the dreadful things that, according to rumour, Government was about to do in order to ruin their casze and
compel them to become Christians. The causes of the mutiny were many and far-reaching, and cannot be
discussed in this work, but the lies concerning the bone meal and the greased cartridges were the levers
principally used to work upon the minds of the ignorant native soldiers.* These were things they could
understand, and which touched them on the tenderest spot, while such matters as the annexation of Oude
and interference with the rights of adoption, were above their comprehension.

The 19th B.I had already heard these rumours, for news travels with incredible speed through the bazars
of India ; but so far there had been no sign of insubordination among them. They had gone to their
commanding officer with their story, and he had suggested that they should examine the grease for them-
selves, explaining, we may suppose, that linseed oil and wax alone were used in the manufacture of the
suspected cartridges. The arrival of the 34th B.I., however, roused again their fears and suspicions, especially
as the story they brought with them came from the very headquarters of the Government and the neigh-
bourhood in which the suspected ammunition was being manufactured. The day after the arrival of the
second party of the 34th B.I there was a parade of the 1g9th B.I. with blank cartridge.t The Sepoys, fearing
some design against their caste, refused to take the percussion caps served out, because they said the cartridges
were defiled, and that the new greased cartridges, said to have been sent from Calcutta, had been mixed
with the old ammunition in order to deceive them into using what they abhorred. This suggestion must
have come from some agitator, since it was clearly shown that no made-up ammunition had been received

* Fitchett (41)

t Beveridge (12) gives the date of the arrival of this second party as February24th, and the date of the parade as the 26th,
Kaye (11) gives the 25th as the day of arrival, and says the parade took place on the following day. In the margin, however,
Kaye gives the 27th as the date, an error for which the printer may be responsible.
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from Calcutta ; only powder in barrels and certain regimental stores. The adjutant of the 1g9th B.I,, Lt
McAndrew, reported the action of the regiment to Colonel Mitchell. The Colonel at once went to the lines
and called together his native officers in front of the quarter-guard. He addressed them in an angry
manner, unwise in the extreme at this juncture, when the lives of many Europeans might depend on the
exercise of tact and common sense. He pointed out that the cartridges served out to the men were the
same as those they had been using, and that they had been made up by their predecessors a year before.
He then threatened that he would have the regiment sent to Burma or China if the men again refused
to accept the cartridges. In a petition subsequently submitted by the regiment were found the following
words, referring to Colonel Mitchell’s address to his native officers :—“ He gave this order so angrily that
we were convinced that the cartridges were greased, otherwise he would not have spoken so.” This habit
of blustering to cover deceit so common among themselves gives every excuse for the mistake.

Colonel Mitchell then returned to his house, and issued an order that the cavalry and artillery were to
attend the parade next morning. No doubt this order was freely discussed in the infantry lines, and gave
rise to surmises and suspicions which caused the Sepoys to work themselves into a state of excitement,
resulting in panic, and accompanied by much shouting and beating of drums. Towards ten o’clock at night
the uproar in the lines reached such a pitch that it aroused all the residents in cantonments who had gone to
bed, and among them the Colonel. He got up at once, dressed hastily, and rode to the house of Captain
Alexander, whom he directed to prepare the cavalry for any emergency. A similar order was issued to the
gunner officer, and by midnight, Colonel Mitchell, with the European officers, the cavalry, and the artillery,
was ready, with his forces drawn up on the parade ground near the native lines. The mutinied infantry were
also drawn up in line, their muskets loaded with the very cartridges they had refused in the morning. To
obtain these, they had broken open the &els of arms. Any unwise act at that moment would, there is no
doubt, have been followed by a terrible slaughter, for it is by no means certain that the cavalry and gunners
would have remained faithful when once their comrades had committed themselves and were in open revolt.
It is, on the other hand, quite certain that the dudmashes of Murshidabad city would have gladly joined in
the carnage. Colonel Mitchell loaded the battery guns and placed the cavalry on either side, covering the
mutineers. He then caused the bugler to sound the assembly for the native officers. As they stood round
him, the Colonel, on whose side the Goddess of Fortune was ranged that day, again spoke to them in an
angry and threatening manner. They seem to have listened patiently, and when he had finished his
harangue, the words of which have not been recorded, they begged him to be lenient with the men of the
19th, who, they said, were panic stricken with fear lest their caszz should be broken and their religion
insulted. They asked him to withdraw the cavalry and artillery, assuring him that the mutineers, when they
saw that they were not going to be attacked, would quiet down and return to their duty. After much
wavering, Colonel Mitchell consented, and, as the cavalry and gunners disappeared, the mutineers went
quietly back to their lines. The parade on the following morning was quiet and orderly, and the men
showed no signs of the excitement of the previous night ; indeed, it is recorded that they viewed their past
conduct with regret. The matter could not, however, be overlooked, and for several days a court of inquiry
sat to consider the causes of the outbreak and the course to be pursued with regard to the future. Colonel
George Macgregor persuaded the Nawab Nazim to openly declare himself on the side of the English, and
by this means the fermenting masses in the city of Murshidabad were quieted down, and order was restored ;
though the minds of the people were for some time in a state of very unstable equilibrium. Great blame
must be attached to the men of the 34th B.1., whose stories practically provoked the immediate outburst which

took place on the 26th February.
These very men were present when General Hearsay addressed the unsettled troops at Barrackpur, and

* Blackguards.
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explained to them that the story about the fat of pigs and cows was surely invented by some malicious
agitator. The report of the mutiny at Berhampur reached Calcutta on March 4th. The 19th B.I. were at
once ordered down to Barrackpur, while the 84th British Regiment,® then at Rangoon, was sent for to garrison
Berhampur. On reaching Barrackpur the men laid down their arms “without a murmur " in the presence
of the European troops drawn up ready to check any disturbance. The 19th B.I. were paid up to that date,
and received also money to cover travelling expenses to their homes, after which ceremony their uniform
was stripped from them, and they were disbanded. As the outcome of councils held at Berhampur, steps
were taken to protect the residents in case of any further rising or invasion of mutinous troops from
elsewhere. The buildings formerly used as a hospital for European soldiers were roughly fortified as a refuge
for Europeans, cannon were mounted, and houses and huts in the immediate vicinity pulled down. Among
the buildings so destroyed was a large house used as the Berhampur College.

Following on the mutiny came the end of the East India Company and its traditions. The Proclamation
of the 1st November, 1858, marked a new era, and a government as part of the British Empire.

Already, before the disgrace of the mutiny of 1857 was forgotten, Berhampur was the theatre of
another display of rebellion in 1859. This time it was not our native troops that had revolted, but a section
of the British Army. A certain number of regiments lately out from England, and filled with undersized
lads, many of them the scum of the London slums, had, from their physical appearance, been christened
“ Dumpies.” For the reason that this fresh mutiny arose among these regiments, it was known as the
“ Dumpy Mutiny.” In May, 1859, one of these regiments, the 5th European Regiment,t stationed at
Berhampur, broke into open rebellion, “seized the barracks, and defied their officers.” A royal regiment,
whose loyalty was above suspicion, was sent down from Barrackpur to quell the mutiny and bring the
“ Dumpies ” to their senses. Fortunately, this show of force was sufficient. A court of inquiry followed,
and most of the mutineers were sent home at the public expense, and dismissed from the service.

Perhaps the most notable occurrence during recent years was the severe earthquake in 1897, which made
itself felt almost all over Bengal, and which did very serious damage in this district. The facts as they
occurred here I know only by report, but, as they seem to have been very similar to those of which I was an
eye-witness, I will relate first what occurred in Midnapur, where I was then stationed. About 5 p.m., on the
12th June, I was sitting in the Midnapur club with my wife and the Assistant Magistrate, when I heard a
sound as of an express train coming into a station. This it could not be, as there was then no railway open
at Midnapur, and it was accompanied by a rumbling in the earth, quickly followed by a rocking motion,
which at once convinced me it was an earthquake. We hurried outside, where my wife had to sit down on
the ground, as the motion made her feel sick, as if at sea. The Assistant Magistrate, even, was very pale,
and several people told me, later, that they had experienced the same feeling of “sea-sickness.” The
club-house swayed to and fro, and the hanging lamp in the verandah swung from side to side, almost
touching the beams. Looking round, we could see the trees swaying violently, but none fell. The houses
shook, but the only damage done was to double-storied buildings. The earthquake lasted about five
minutes. People in carriages and on horseback were for the most part unaware that anything was happen-
ing out of the common, until they saw the trees and houses oscillating. One gentleman was thrown from
his bicycle and injured his knee. The huts in the town did not suffer much, and no serious accident
occurred The earthquake was not without its humorous side. The 12th was the great day of the
Mohurrum, and, perhaps fortunately, the people avere crowding the streets, watching the passing of the
fazzias. A number of natives were sitting on the coping of the culvert which spans the main drainage
outflow, and as the earthquake caused the bridge to rock, they were tipped backwards into the muddy,

* The 2nd Battalion York and Lancaster Regiment,
t 18t or 2nd Battalion Northumberland Fusiliers.
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black stream. Their struggles caused much amusement to the crowd, and when they emerged, covered from
head to foot with mud, they attracted quite as much attention as the procession of Zzssias. In this
district, and generally throughout Bengal, the effects of the earthquake were much more serious. Calcutta
and many other towns were wrecked in certain parts, and it must have taken crores of rapees to repair the
damage done. The effects of the earthquake were still visible when I came to this district, in June, 1898.
The estimate of damage done to Government buildings in Berhampur was Rs. 60,000, while in Murshidabad
town, the damage done to the Nizamat buildings alone was put down at three lakhs of rupees. The old
palace was much shaken, and the walls cracked in numerous places, but no part of it fell. Many vases
and valuable ornaments were overthrown and broken. Pictures were damaged by falling plaster and
bricks, and one brick went right through the canvas of a large painting of the burial of Sir John Moore,
which hangs in the large dining-hall, causing a very ugly rent. The Nawab Bahadur was sitting in a room
on the ground floor of the new palace which faces the river, and was helped out by his servants at the first
rumblings of the earthquake. As it was, his escape was only by a few seconds, for as he reached the river
bank, the whole of the second storey of that palace fell with a crash. The handsome Nizamat stables, in the
town, were greatly damaged, and two bungalows on the top of the stables were destroyed. The repairs to the
old palace were completed in August, 1900. The upper storey of the new palace is not to be rebuilt. Taking
the reports sent in from various parts of the district, I have selected the following notes :—In the neigh-
bourhood of Goas and the Jalingi, fissures in the earth, with discharges of sand’and water, were observed in
nine places, chiefly on marshy land. Most of them were small, but one fissure is said to have extended for
two miles, varying in width from two feet to half an inch In the Kandi sub-division some twenty-five
fissures were reported, the largest being five hundred feet in length, and from eight feet to half an inch
wide. Near Jangipur discharges of water and black mud occurred from the bed of the Bhagirathi river.
The height of these discharges was not remarkably great, being generally three to four feet. The dircction
of the earthquake was the same as noted at Midnapur, namely from N.E. to S'W., the duration was also
about five minutes. The Berhampur Church was damaged, but the rest of the single-storey barracks did not
suffer much. None of the double-storied buildings, however, escaped serious damage. In the Cantonment
no accidents occurred ; but in the town of Berhampur ten lives were lost, those of some beggars and children
who were being fed, crushed by the downfall of the house in which they were receiving charity. In Kasimbazar
two lives were lost. The destruction in Azimganj was very great, greater even than in Murshidabad.
The houses of the Jains were wrecked, and two of their temples collapsed. Hardly a single building
escaped without some injury. The cost of putting right the damage was estimated at ten lakhs, but this
was probably an exaggeration. With all this damage to property it is remarkable how few lives were lost.
In Azimganj eleven people were killed, in Murshidabad six, and in the Jangipur sub-division five. In the
Kandi sub-division no one was killed, but one woman was severely injured. It is interesting to note, as
showing the delicacy of certain scientific instruments, that this earthquake was recorded on the seismometers
at Edinburgh and in the Isle of Wight. The following is a brief record of previous shocks affecting this
district :—

1762. Earthquake of a very severe nature felt over the whole of Bengal, but no special mention of
damage in this district.

1766. Felt along the banks of the Ganges.

1803. Felt throughout Bengal. .

1810. April 1st, Bengal. Felt in Murshidabad (“ Asiatic Annual Register,” 1811, xii,, 10,463).

1811. February 1st, severe and general in Bengal, but no distinct mention of effects in Murshidabad
district. (“ Asiatic Annual Register,” 1811, xii,, 10463.)

1819. Felt in Tirhoot, and probably here, but nothing noted.
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1822. General in Bengal. In Berhampur it lasted two minutes, and its course was N.N.W. to
S.SW. (*Asiatic Journal,” xiii, 1822.)

1823, '25, 27, '28, '29, Calcutta; ’33, Tirhoot; ’34,°35, '39, '42, Bengal; ’43, ’45, '46, 47, '48, '49, '50,
’52, ’58 (general in Bengal), '61, 65, (Boalia) 66

From records of the “Geological Survey of India,” Vol. xviii,, p. 200, containing a report on the
Bengal earthquake of July 14th, 1885, by C. S Middlemiss, B.A., we learn that the shock was felt over
230,400 sq. miles. The curve of greatest intensity was to the east of the Murshidabad district. Its effects

were noticed in the Magistrate's Adwenistration Report
In 1869 a shock was felt in Berhampur, 10th January, 5.10 p.m., circa,; damage slight, old cracks

re-opened, but no new ones *
There are no hot-water or mineral springs in this district. The formation is not suitable. For similar

reasons there is 110 mineral wealth
The Maharaja of Kasimbazar is the owner of coal-fields in Jerria and Raniganj, but there is no coal in

the district.

* * Memorrs of the Geological Survey of India,” Vol. xix.



CHANGES IN THE CIVIL AND CRIMINAL ADMINISTRATION.»

THE first attempt to alter native methods was made by Warren Hastings; but, in the main, he
retained the laws as followed by the Mahomedan rulers.

The Foujdari Adalutst were first appointed by the President in Council, in 1772, and the Collectors of
Revenue added criminal work to their other duties. The Swudder Adalut, or Chief Court, was also
established in Murshidabad, in 1772, in the Mobarak Munzil Gardens, formerly known as Findal Bagh,
some five miles from Berhampur, and four and a half miles from the Nizamat palace. Besides Court buildings,
there was a spacious mansion for the Judges. All these are now standing, and when the Court was removed
to Calcutta, the houses, obtained by purchase, were used as a country residence by the Nawab Nazim.
Nawab Nazim Feradun Jah, father of the present Nawab Bahadur, generally spent six months of
the year in this pretty and healthy spot. The first Sudder Adalut was under a Committee of Revenue, to
which the duty of revising the rulings of the lower Courts was entrusted. The Sudder Adalut was, in fact,
the First Appellate Court. It was in 1770 that two of these Committees were appointed, one at Mur-
shidabad, and the other at Patna. Famine and disease made this year one to be remembered with dread.
Up to 1757, the year in which British rule in Bengal really started, the reins of both civil and criminal
justice had remained in the hands nf the Mahomedans, and their laws were in force When the change
came it was gradual, and the same laws and form of tribunals were continued. In the towns, the sources of
administration of the Criminal Law were :—1 The Nawab Nazim of Bengal “in all capital cases.” 2. His
Deputy in cases of “ quarrels, frays, and abusive names.” 3. “ The Foujdar in all cases not capital ; judg-
ment and sentence being passed by the Nawab.” 4 “The Mohtesil in all cases of drunkenness, selling
spirituous liquors, etc.” 5. “ The Katwal, a peace officer of the night, dependent on the Foujdari” In the
rural districts, both civil and criminal justice were dispensed by the Zemindars, each in his own district

The English rulers soon saw that many changes were necessary. As already stated, a Revenue
Committee was started in 1770, and in 1771 the Directors of the East India Company proclaimed their
intention of taking over the management of the revenues, practically absorbed in 1765. The new task
was by no means a light one, since it necessitated a remodelling of the existing rights of property in
land. All administration was to be under the direct control of the East India Company, and not through
the Nawab ; though all native agency could not be dispensed with.

The first steps were towards the improvement of land settlement and the collection of revenues. Up
to 1769, the authority in such matters rested with Shitab Rai, of Patna ; and for the rest of Bengal, including
Murshidabad, with the famous Mahomed Reza Khan, Diwan of Murshidabad. The first step towards
reform was the institution, in 1769, of Supervisors, selected from among the servants of the East India
Company. In Murshidabad, these were directly subordinate to the Agent to the Governor General at the
Court of the Nawab Nazim.

1. The Committee of Circuit, composed of the Governor and four Councillors, recommended the opening
of Provincial Courts, superintended by the Collectors of Revenue. The Courts dealt with :—

i. Civil. Disputes, real or personal ; inheritance, marriage, “caste,” debts, contracts, and rent
suits. Cases of succession were referred to the Governor.

* #Tagore Law Lectures” (34). + Magistrates’ Courts.
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ii. Criminal, Mahomedan law and law officers remained, but on a new system. For each district

a Foujdari Adalut was appointed. Its officers were:—a Kazi, a Mooftee, with two Moulvies as

expounders ; and the English Collector as Superintendent.

The Foujdari Adaluts, as a whole, were subordinate to the Swudder Court, or High Court, at
Murshidabad. 1he officers of the High Court were :—(a) Darogah (appointed by the Nawab Nazim), a
chief Kazi, a chief Mooftee and three Moulvies. It was:—(1) a Revisional Court. (2) In capital cases it

.prepared a judgment and warrant for the Nawab. As control, an English Committee was appointed. In
1773 or 1774 this ceased to exist, as the High Court was transferred to Calcutta. In 1775 it was moved
back to Murshidabad, and there remained for fifteen years, the Nawab retaining supreme control in criminal
matters.

A Chief Civil Court (Sudder Diwanni Adalut) also existed at Calcutta, under the President and
Members of Council, with native assistants, and was an Appellate Court for all civil suits over Rs. 500.
The year 1790 saw the Criminal Chief Court again removed to Calcutta, but for three years more the
administration of justice was carried on in the name of the Nawab. Gradually the Mahomedan law and
administration were replaced by the East India Company’s regulations and officers. In 1773 the Supreme
Court of Judges was appointed by the Crown, to be independent of the East India Company, the Charter
being finally issued in March, 1774.

Then, as now, there was a desire to separate the judicial from the executive, and frequent conflicts then,
as now, arose between the High Court of the Crown and the Council of the East India Company. Into
these matters we need not enter, as they are outside local history. It is enough to say that in the beginning
the High Court was objected to by the natives, as its methods were quite opposed to their ideas and
traditions. In 1772-3 Diwan Mahomed Reza Khan was removed from power in Murshidabad, partly
through the animosity of Nanda Kumar.

Warren Hastings was Governor of Bengal when Sir Elijah Impey and three pu#sne Judges arrived to
constitute the High Court, and Nanda Kumar, thinking that the enemies of Hastings were too strong
for him in the Council, brought an accusation against him of accepting bribes to depose the once powerful
Mahomed Reza Khan ; and further charged Hastings with selling public offices. This document was sent
from Murshidabad to Hastings’ chief opponent, Francis, who read it out at a meeting of the Council.
Nanda Kumar had asked to be allowed to proceed to Calcutta, there to confront Hastings before the
whole Council. Hastings refused to meet him, and, after declaring the meeting closed, left the room. His
enemies then voted Col. Clavering to the chair, and called in Nanda Kumar. It was then that Hastings
called the Judges to his aid, and Nanda Kumar was at once arrested on charges too well known to need
repetition. His trial and fate are also well known, and historians and lawyers still wrangle over the question.
Thus passed away a man whose power in Murshidabad had been responsible for many an intrigue.* The
cause of the complaints made by the Zemindars was that the High Court had the power to summon them
to Calcutta in private suits, seizing their estates if they failed to appear. They were also liable to suffer
the great disgrace of being sent to jail, a horrible place in those days, and degrading to persons of high
“caste” and rank. The High Court next refused to recognise the power of the Nawab Nazim in criminal
suits. Endless stories are told of the tyranny exercised by the Supreme Court, often at the instance of
dismissed servants, or spiteful rivals. Criminal justice in 1777 was in a state of chaos. Endless petitions
were sent from all districts to the Governor.

In 1775 the Superintendence of Revenue was vested in the Provincial Councils, one of which sat in
Murshidabad. European collectors were recalled under the provisions of the Regulatory Act of 1772;
and native Amils took their places. From the Amil there was right of appeal to the Provincial Council.

* The house in which he once lived is still inhabited by his descendants in Kasimbazar.
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The majority of the Council favoured the reappointment of Mahomed Reza Khan. It was naturally
opposed by Warren Hastings, who had dismissed him. The opposition was in vain, and Mahomed Reza
Khan returned as Diwan to Murshidabad, to be ousted again in 1778, when Warren Hastings was supreme
in the Council, from which death had removed many of his bitterest enemies.

In 1779 there was open conflict between the Council and the High Court. In 1780 the powers of the
Murshidabad, and the other five Courts, were confined to revenue matters, and District Civil Courts were
established to deal with claims of succession or inheritance, real property, and personal property.

Cases of Revenue and Rent suits alone went to the Provincial Councils, and Collectors had no control
over the new Civil Courts. Ultimate appeal from these Courts was to the Supreme Civil Court. By this
means civil justice was separated from revenue collecting, with which the Supreme Court could not interfere.
The struggle between the Governor General in Council and the High Court, to which allusion has already
been made, led to the framing of the A4c¢z of 1781, which ratified the above division of labour.

In 1786 Lord Cornwallis reunited Civil and Criminal Courts of Justice with management of revenue
under the Collector who had succeeded the Provincial Councils ; these bodies having ceased to exist Ie
removed the Nizamat Adalut to Calcutta (1790), from Murshidabad. In this district the change only now
took place. Appeal in civil suits lay from the Collector to the Board of Revenue, and to the Governor
General in Council. This was a reversion to the old system, abolished in 1780; and had for its object the
institution of a head to each district, to whom all might apply. In 1793, after studying the working of
this system, Lord Cornwallis again separated the revenue from the judicial work ; Revenue Courts were
abolished, and suits formerly tried by them made over to Civil Courts, under separate officers, Judges,
subordinate Judges, and Munsiffs ; thus doing away with a system under which the Collector was not
unfrequently plaintiff as well as judge. The duties of the District Collector were definitely laid down in 1793.

They were as follows :—

1. To collect the amount of the fixed revenue assessed upon the lands of the Zemindars, independent
Talookdars, or other actual proprietors of land, with, or on behalf of whom a settlement has been or may
be concluded.

2. To collect the stipulated annual revenue from the farmers of estates.

3. To levy the rents and revenues from estates held K'%as (Government lands).

4 To make the future settlement of Kkas, or farmed estates, agreeably to the regulations and
instructions which they might receive for that purpose.

5. To prosecute for the recovery of the dues of Government from lands, of whatever description, held
exempt from the payment of revenue, under illegal or invalid tenures.

6. To pay the pensions and allowances included in the public revenue, and other pensions and
compensations.

7. To execute the instructions which might be issued to them by the Court of Wards regarding
disqualified landholders and their estates.

8. To superintend the division of landed property paying revenue to Government, which might be
ordered to be divided into two, or more, distinct estates.

9. To apportion the public revenue on lands ordered to be disposed of by public sale for the discharge
of arrears of revenue.

10. To collect the tax on spirituous liquors and intoxicating drugs, or other articles.

11. To procure lands for native invalid soldiers, who might accept a provision in land.

12. To collect the tax for defraying the expenses of the police.

13. To perform the above and all other duties according to the rules that have been or may be
prescribed, by any Regulation published in the manner directed in Regulation xli., 1793.
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14 To transmit such annual, monthly, or other accounts as they now furnish, or may be hereafter
required to send by the Board of Revenue, or any officer under that Board empowered to require such
accounts.

15. To conform to all special orders that have been, or may be issued to them by the Board of Revenue,
or by public officers empowered to issue such orders.

Having thus confined the Collectors to their exclusively execufsve functions, the next step was to
re-organize the Courts of Justice and render them efficient and independent. Accordingly, by the
next Regulation, Government, in the language of its preamble, divested itself “of the power of interfering
in the administration of the laws and regulations in the first instance; reserving only, as a Court of Appeal
o1 Review, the decision of certain cases in the last resort.” .

The Civil Court in Calcutta received all appeals from the District Courts. It consisted in 1801 of three
Judges, chosen from among the East India Company’s covenanted servants; and in 1811 was altered to a
Chief Judge, and as many puésne Judges as the Governor thought necessary. Next below this came the
Provincial Civil Courts, four in number, for Bengal, Behar, and Orissa, to which appeals lay from lesser
Provincial and Town Courts. Later, two more Provincial Courts were added. Again, below the Zilak,
or District Courts, there were two classes of subordinate Judges :—

1. Regustrars empowered to try cases for Rs. 200, and under. Their sentences were not valid until
revised and approved by the District Judge.

2 Native Commissioners who, under Regulation x1. of 1793, could try civil suits for sums not
exceeding Rs. 50 (sicca) The seniors of this class were called Sudder Ameens ; the rest Munsiffs.

The system thus inaugurated in 1798 lasted, in more or less its original condition, until 1873. By
Regulation xxiii of 1814, the District Judge received increased powers, including the right of appointing
and removing the subordinate civil native Judges, a right previously in the hands of the Chief Revenue
Court  Further changes followed by Regulation v.of 1831. Munsiffs received power to try suits for money
an property up to Rs 300; and land suits of similar value, except in the case of rent-free lands. The Judge
might make over to his Sudder Ameens, suits to the value of Rs. 1,000; and a class of principal Sudder
Ameens was established, with powers to deal with cases in which the amount in dispute did not exceed
Rs. 5,000. Registrars’ Courts were abolished. In 1833 the Provincial Courts of Appeal were done away with,
and their powers vested in the District Judges in suits above Rs. 5,000, with right of appeal from them to the
Sudder Diwanni Adalut Between 1793 and 1831 certain changes took place in the Collettor’s duties. By
Regulation viii of 1794, the Judges received authority to refer to the Collector all cases cognizable by them
previous to 1793  The Collector’s report was submitted to the Judge, who could approve or alter it at his
discretion. The Collector thus resumed his judicial functions. In 1795 the Collector received summary
powers in claims for arrears of rent This order was superseded by Regwlation vii. of 1799, by which the
Civil Courts were directed to give priority to rent and revenue cases, in order to assist the Zemindars to
realise their rents, money being required for Government revenue. Regwlation v. of 1812 gave the syot
(peasant) a remedy against the landlord, when the latter distrained for rent ; such cases were referred to the
Collector in 1824 Regulation xiv. gave the Collectors full judicial powers in all rent suits; but the
execution of their decrees remained with the Civil Courts. In 1831 Judges were deprived of jurisdiction in
suits relating to rent. The Collector's award was final, subject to a civil suit to be laid before the Civil
Court. These changes all had for their object, quick realisation of Government Revenue. They did not
work without oppression and injustice ; but, in 1837, a proposal was laid before the Legislative Council, which
became law as 4¢z x of 1857, giving even more power to the Collector, and abolishing the interference of
the Civil Courts in the following cases :—

1. All suits for the delivery of Pottaks or Kubooliats, or for the determination of the rates of rent at
which such Pottaks or Kubooliats are to be delivered.
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2. All suits for damages on account of the illegal exaction of rent, or of any unauthorised cess or
impost, or on account of the refusal of receipts for rent paid, or on account of the extortion of rent by
confinement or other duress.

3. All complaints of excess in demand of rent and all claims to abatement of rent.

4 All suits fer arrears of rent due on account of land, either K#erajee or Lakhiraj; or on account of
any rights of pasturage, forest rights, fisheries, or the like.

5. All suits to eject any ryot, or to canccl any lease on account of the non-payment of arrears of rent,
or on account of a breach of the conditions of any contract by which a ryot may be liable to ejectment,
or a lease may be liable to be cancelled.

6. All suits to recover the occupancy or possession of any land, farm, or tenure, from which a
farmer, or tenant, has been illegally ejected by the person entitled to receive rent for the same

7. All suits arising out of the exercise of the power of distraint conferred on Zemindars and others,
by the Act, or out of any acts done under colour of the exercise of the said power as hereinafter particularly
provided.

8. All suits by Zemindars and others in receipt of the rent of land against any agents employed by
them in the management of land, or collection of rents, or the sureties of such agents for money received, or
accounts kept by such agents in the course of such employment, or for papers in their possession.

Many of these cases were referred to Deputy Collectors, with right of appeal from them to the Collector,
and from his Court, again, to that of the Divisional Commissioner. In cases below the value of Rs. 100, no
further appeal lay from the Collector, except in cases of enhancement and those of title to land After a
trial of this system for ten years, the Bengal Legislative Council, by Az viii. of 1869, revised the
jurisdiction of the Civil Courts. The Acz was known as the Landlord and Tenant Procedure Act, 1869 , and
Murshidabad was one of the districts to which it applied. It is not difficult to understand that the judicial
arrangements of the district working under so many Acts, and portions of Acs still unrepealed, could only
lead to confusion, as indeed it did, and called forth a remedy which came in the shape of the Benga! Civil
Courts Act of 1871.

Warren Hastings, averse to radical changes, had incorporated into his scheme, which we have noticed as
introduced in 1772, the old Mahomedan criminal law and its officers. He also arranged a system of Police
in 1793. This was entirely remodelled in 1813. It was seen that the Criminal Courts under the East India
Company’s supervision did not give satisfaction. Mahomed Reza Khan t was reappointed as superintendent
of all criminal justice, and as his headquarters were in the chief city of this district, the criminal chief Courts
returned to their original locality in the Mobarak Munzil Gardens. This method remained in effect, as we
have seen, for fifteen years, after which the Sudder Nizamat Adalut went back to Calcutta. During these
years Mahomedan criminal law, with the Nawab Nazim at its head, remained in force.

In 1790 Lord Cornwallis decreed that the criminal jurisdiction could no longer be left to “the sole
discretions of any native, or indeed of any single person whomsoever.” This important decision led to the
removal of the Nawab’s powers, which for the time were vested in the Governor General in Council ; and to
a remodelled system of criminal justice. Hitherto, Zemindars had been responsible for “public salety and
the maintenance of the public roads.” This was eusured by a clause in their agreements. They were to
keep the peace, to bring thieves to justice, and to restore stolen property. It was found that this system
led to collusion between the thieves and the supposed public guardians. In 1772, therefore, the police work
was made over to the Foujdari Adaluts, and in 1774 Bengal was divided into four police districts. The
head of the police in each of these was the ZTiammadar, whom the Zemindars were pound to assist.
“ Foujdars were appointed to apprehend all offenders against the public peace.” This system, too, was a

* See Sections 112 and 114. + v. Forrest (43).
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failure, and was altered in 1781. The Foujdars and Thannadars were abolished, and the Civil Court Judges
were invested with power to seize all criminals arrested in their districts. They passed them on to the
nearest criminal Court. The next step empowered the Civil Judges to fine and inflict corporal punishment
in unimportant cases. As a check, reports of all trials and convictions were sent to the Presidency office under
the Governor General, every month, to an officer called the Remembrancer of the Criminal Courts. This
system was slow and clumsy, and failed to cope with the amount of crime. A law was passed to expedite
matters in 1790, instituting Cowrts of Circust, under English Judges, with native assistants learned in
Mahomedan law. In 1793 matters stood as follows :—

The supreme power of the Nawab Nazim in Murshidabad was abolished, and the Governor General and
Council were the controlling power over the subordinate District Courts. In 1801 the Governor General,
etc, were replaced by a Court, consisting of a Chief Justice and puzsne Judges, sitting in Calcutta, and from
that time both Civil and Criminal High Courts worked independently of the local Government.

Immediately below the Supreme Courts were the four Courts of Circuit. Their duties included Sessions
at the various chief stations ; the duties being divided among the Judges, the Chief Judge generally remaining
at headquarters. These Courts ceased to exist in 1829. Bengal was then divided into twenty divisions,
each under a Commissioner, in whom was vested the powers formerly exercised by the Courts of Circuit,
plus those of the Board of Revenue, but acting under the Nizamat Adalut in the former, and under the
Sudder Board of Revenue in the latter instance. The work thus thrown on the Commissioners was more
than they could carry out satisfactorily. Thus in 1831, to relieve them, district Magistrates were authorised
to refer criminal cases to the Sudder Ameens for investigation only. The year 1832 first saw the appoint-
ment of Assessors, who were to assist the newly appointed District and Sessions Judges. Their status was
not very clearly defined, and they derived their powers from the Regwlations of the Courts of Circuit and
Act vii. of 1835. In 1854 Lieutenant Governors were first appointed, and Bengal came under the guidance
of Sir F. Halliday. The authority for appointing District and Sessions Judges was never clearly defined, and
on this account the Bengal Sessions Court Act of 1871 was introduced, providing for their appointment by
the local Government, and further authorising the Lieutenant Governor to vary the limits of their jurisdiction.
The Aect confirmed existing appointments, and protected the Judges from the consequences of any act
previously committed. This Acz, when superseded by the Code of Criminal Procedure, was repealed in 1872.
The appointment of Assistant Magistrates began shortly after the Police changes in 1793. In 1807
Magistrates received increased powers, again added to from time to time. District Superintendents of Police
were appointed for the first time in 1808, and in 1816 they were ordered to submit yearly a full report of
all matters referring to police work in the district. In 1817 an attempt was made to bring the police
department under uniform regulations. The head native officer was the Darogah, with authority over
mohurrahs, jemadars, and burkanddzis in his zkannak (circle). The Darogah is now represented by the
Inspector and Sub-inspector. The Mohurrir, the term including at present the writer constable, was the
Darogah’s clerk and responsible for the records and general office work of the thannah. He also acted for
the Darogah, when that officer was absent. The third in rank, the Jemadar, checked the attendance of the
Burkanddézis, and looked after their arms and kit. He was further to see that all prisoners were properly
guarded. At the bottom of the scale came that wonderful person the village watchman, or Chowkidar. He
was the local village policeman, and his post was hereditary, with many quaint privileges, and the power of
appointing a deputy when the successor was a woman. He reported, and does to this day, births and deaths,
being responsible for the diagnosis in the case of deaths, and being the source of our “vital statistics.” In
the towns there was a superior native officer, known as the Kotwal. In 1829, when Courts of Circuit were
abolished, the Magistrate and the police fell under the authority of the Commissioner, and the Superintendents
of Police ceased to exist for a time, but were again appointed in 1837. For the people at large, the police



THE HISTORY OF MURSHIDABAD. 33

were a terror, dreaded perhaps less by the guilty than the innocent. Oppression of all kinds existed, and
corruption was not only found among the rank and file, but extended into the higher ranks The Magistrates
were in many cases idle or inefficient, and the department was not to be tolerated as it stood.* The first
step to reform was the reappointment of the Superintendents.  In the towns were also appointed honorary
Magistrates, European and native, from the non-official class.

Matters, though improved, remained in an unsettled state until 1861. Guided by the report of a
Commission, which had examined into the police question during the previous year, 4c? v. of 1861 was passed
by the Legislative Council. A new system of police came into force, with an Inspector General dealing
directly with the local Government, with Deputy Inspectors General, District Superintendents, and Assistant
Superintendents. Certain of these officers were invested with magisterial powers. The venerable institution,
the village watchman, was left as before, the post, still often hereditary, and more than once held by infants
and girls, whose duties were performed by proxy. These changes bring us up to the present times, when
the district Government consists of :—1. District and Sessions Judge, generally remaining, asin Murshidabad,
at headquarters ; Sub-Judges and Munsiffs at headquarters ; and a Munsiffs’ Court in the chief town of each
Sub-division.

2. A Magistrate at headquarters, but responsible for the whole district, in which he must spend a fixed
number of days ontour. A European Assistant, or a Joint Magistrate, and as many Deputy Magistrates and
Collectors as the size of the district requires. These latter are generally natives. A Sub-divisional officer
is posted in the chief town of each Sub-division. The District Superintendent of Police has his office at the
Sudder, but he is supposed to spend a large part of his time in inspection of the various thannahs. The
right of appeal lies, except in certain cases, from the lower to the higher District Courts, and from these, on
points of law, to the High Court in Calcutta, and even to the Secretary of State, or Privy Council, according
to circumstances.

The change from the old Mahomedan and Hindu law was gradual, and may be said to have commenced
with the /ndian Law Commission of 1834. More radical changes occurred when the district passed from the
hands of the East India Company, in 1858, to the Crown. The Civi/ Procedure Code and the Criminal
Procedure Code became the law of the land between 1858 and 1861 ; and to them was added the Penal Code,
from January, 1862.

Respect for local customs, of race, and religion preserved many of the Mahomedan and Hindu laws,
notably those referring to marriage, religion, and succession to property. By the Bengal Civil Courts Act
of 1871, the District Judge received authority over the Courts in his district.

The Bengal Police Act of 1867 did away with Municipal Chowkidars, and appointed town police, to
be paid for by the town.

* ¢« Tagore Law Lectures " (34), p. 197.



TOPOGRAPHY.

IN the earliest times of which we can speak with any certainty, this district formed part of Réddha, one
of the five divisions of Bengal. A portion to the east was possibly included in Bagdf, traces of which
remain in Baguri, a name often used when speaking of the east of this District. Subsequently, the country
formed part of the kingdom of Magadha, to be afterwards included under the rule of the kings of Gaur ;
a city long in ruins, and now, as Magadha before it, a name in history.

The Sirkars, as recorded in Toder Mull’s list, 19 in all, were arranged with reference to the rivers
Ganges and Bhagirathi Of these we are only concerned with No. 16 and No. 11. No. 16 of
the group “South of the Ganges and West of the Bhagirathi” was called Audamber or Tandap, and
covered the greater part of the Murshidabad district and part of Birbhum on its borders. This Sirkar
contained 52 Mabhals, and brought in a revenue of between Rs. 5,97,570 and Rs. 6,01,085. Part of this
district was included in the Sirkars in the Ganges delta, and No. 11 was the Sirkar of Sétgdon,
which took in the south-western part of Murshidabad. The rent-roll of Toder Mull was superseded
in 1658, and in 1722 (?) Murshid Kuli Khan issued a list known as “ The Perfect Rent-Roll.” In
this he divided Bengal into 34 Sirkars, with 1,660 Pergunnahs, with an estimated revenue of
Rs. 1,42,88,186. Later on this revenue was increased by the inclusion of fees for the renewal of leases,
remissions, and levies for feeding the Nawab’s elephants, much to the disgust of Zemindars, who had up
to that time regarded these fees as a perquisite.* By the time that the East India Company took over
the Nawab’s drwanni, or revenue, the total estimated amount from all sources was, for all Bengal,
Rs. 2,56,24,223, which shows that the Zemindars must have had great opportunities for amassing wealth
and exercising oppression. One of the main lines of traffic, a road from Patna, entered this district
at Suti.t From that town a road passed south to Muxsudabad, as the city was then called, and on to
Plassy. From the west communication was along a road passing through Kasimbazar and on to the
banks of the Ganges. In this respect there has been little improvement, and the roads in the district
are few and bad. One of military importance passes from north to south, on past Plassy and Nadia
to Calcutta, through Murshidabad city, Berhampur and Burwa ; divided in the north, one branch leading to
Bhagwangola on the Ganges, the other passing north-west to Rajmehal. The amount of possible water
communication, however, renders this paucity of roads less of a hardship than it would appear. The
Makal Kankjol in the north-west of this district is one of the oldest, being mentioned in Toder Mull’s
list.

I have drawn up a list of the Sizkars and Makals as they were at various times, taking first the list
given in the “ Ain-i-Akbari,” and Mr. Beveridge’s arrangement, which compares that list with the one given
in Hunter’s “ Gazetteer.” At the present time, although some of the names, ¢g., Chunakéli, Kankjol,
Gods and Patkabari remain, they have no territorial significance.

Mr. Beveridge compares the list in the “ Ain-i-Akbari,” p. 394-408, with that in Hunter’s “ Statistical
Account of Bengal.”

* Blochmann (28); note p. 219. t Blochmann (28) ; p. 2a3.
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L
Ashrafbag.
Buitéli.
Chang Nadiya.

Daudshahi.
Dhawa.
Diwanapur.

Y ON Om s N

Ibrahimpur.
10. Kankjol

II. Sarkdr Sharifaba

Akbarshdhi.
Biérbaksing.

Bazar Ibrahimpur.
Bhitsila.

Bihrol

PN

Fathipur Nausika.
Kulberia.

L

Bérbakpur.

L]
.

2. Gowas (Kahas (Ain) ).

Sarkdr Taudak (North Radh-Bagri (Baguri) ).

Chunékali (Ionaghatti-(Ain)).

Gaukar (Gaukarah (Ain)).

Il
12,
13

14
15.

16.

17.

18.
I9.

6.

7
8.

9.
I0.

Kashipur.
Katgérh.
Kumir Protdp.
Mangalpur.
Nashipur.
Nawa Nagar.
Samaskhana.
Swarup Singh.
Sultan uzial.

d. (The South Rarh.)

Fattisingh.
Husain uzial.
Khargaon
Mabhalaudi.
Manaharshdhi.

I11. Sarkdr Makmuddbid

3

Kutubpur.

4. Pétkabari; Ghidsdbdd; Barmapur (Ber-

hampur?); Babhangola (Bhagwangola ?).

IV. Sarkdr Bdrbakabdd.

3.

4.

Guzarhit.
Lashkarpur.

The spelling in the two lists does not always agree, but of the above the following are found in

Rennell’s Map of 1780.
1. Chunécally.
2. Goass.

3. Patkabarry.
4. Futtasing.
5. Coolberya.

© ®N o

I0.

Daudpur (Daudshahi ?).

Bogwangola (Babhangola ?).

Berhampur (Barmapur ?).

Dewanserai (Dewanapur ?).

Luskeerpur (Laskarpur—only a very small
portion of this Pargannah is in Murshida-
bad, the rest is on the east of the Ganges).

The following occur in Sherwill and Gastrell’s Map, 1852-55 :—

1. Gururhat (Guzarhat)
2. Lushkarpoor

3. Goas

Shumskanee.
4. Koolbureea.
5. Putkabaree.

6. Futtahsingh,
7. Mahlundee.

in Rajshaye.

8.

9
IO.

11.
12,

13.

Behroul.
Dhawa.
Nowanugger.
Koour purtap (Kumar Pratap).
Gunkur.

Chandpoor (Nashipur).
Kankjole (Bhagulpur).
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At one period Murshidabad, together with Nadia and Jessore, formed the ancient Kingdom of Vanga,
or Banga, whose inhabitants are described as a boat-using people. They grew rice as their staple crop,
uprooting the seedlings to transplant them 1,200 or 1,500 years ago as they do at the present day.
Vanga was not a kingdom of much importance; its kings are not mentioned nor its capital known.*
Much of its glory has departed. In far-gone times it owned the city of Rangamati, now represented
by one house and a silk filature. The city of Murshidabad was once nearly the size of Delhi, stretching
from Baluchar to Amaniganj, a distance of some five miles.

Originally forming part of the Rajshaye Division, it was transferred to the Presidency Division in 1875,
and forms the north-western corner of that Division.

A small, but both historically and commercially important district of Bengal, Murshidabad lies
between 23° 39" and 24° 46  north latitude and 87° 40’ and 88° z{s' east longtitude. In shape it closely
resembles an isoceles triangle, with its apex to west of north near Jafraganj. Its northern and eastern
boundaries are formed by the main stream of the Ganges, which separates the district from those of
Maldah and Rajshaye. The Jalingi river, an effluent of the Ganges, forms the south-eastern limit between
Murshidabad and Nadia, while its southern and western boundaries are lines separating it from Nadia
and Burdwan on the south, Birbhum and Bhagalpur on the west. The area of the district is 2,143 square
miles, lying almost in equal portions on either side of the Bhagirathi river, which runs, roughly speaking,
from north to south. The district was somewhat reduced in size when, in December, 1879, the Rampur
Hdt Sub-division was taken from Murshidabad and added to Birbhum. That part of the district lying
to the east of the Bhagirathi is known as Bagwrt, while the western portion is called the Rar4.

The names Rark and Baguri carry us back to very ancient times. The Rark was one of the
principal divisions of Bengal under the Hindu kings. The first invasion of Mussulmans was in 1203 A.D.,
when Mahomed Buktyar Khilji descended upon Bengal. One of the first of his conquests was the Rar#,
then under the rule of Lachman Ray. The Mussulmans settled in the conquered tracts. The fertility
of the soil attracted them, and their rulers encouraged the influx. Indeed, during the reign of Sultan
Gias-ud-din Khilji, rent-free lands were granted to many Syuds, preachers, and learned men. He further
ordered the building of mosques, in which they could read prayers and teach.

The soil of both divisions is in the main alluvial ; but while it is entirely so in the Bagwr, lying
between the Bhagirathi and the Ganges, the north-west and western parts are of older formation and
raised somewhat higher than the rest of the district. The limit between the alluvium and the higher
ground on the west is marked by a bank of stiff clay, gravel, and nodular limestone, and it is thought
that this bank marks the western limit of the Ganges in ancient times. This bank disappears as it passes
downwards towards Birbhum, where it amalgamates with the general alluvium. In the north-west of the
district there are a few isolated clay hillocks and some stony jumgle. The soil of the eastern and southern
parts of the district is naturally the richest, but the west, too, as we shall see later on, is fertile and gives
good crops. The Rark is intersected by numerous “bhils”+ connected with the rivers, and as the water
in these sinks, the principal crop of Aman, or winter rice, is sown. The Belun, Sakora, and Palace
“bhils” near Khargaon form, according to Hunter, the “Bishnupur Swamp,” which was connected with
the river, in 1800, at the expense of the Government. Nearly all the “bhils” are connected with the
Bhagirathi by streams. There are also in the Rark two very large artificial tanks—one, the “ Sagor Dighi,”
is situated near the station of that name on the railway line from Azimganj to Nalhati; the other is the
“Ramna Shaikh Dighi.”

The eastern portion of the district is subject, almost yearly, to moderate floods, and the crop chiefly grown

* Pargiter “ Jour. Asiatic Soc., Bengal,” Part 1., 1897, p. g7. Map, p. 133.
+ Tanks, pools, or lakes ; called also Jhils.
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is the aus, or early rice, crop. Thus it will be noticed that each division is the compliment of the other.
The Baguri also yields excellent cold-weather crops, including mulberry, and vegetables and tobacco after
the rains are over. On the Rark, besides rice, are grown :—Sugar-cane, mulberry, tobacco, and various
vegetables. The district takes its name from the chief town, called in early times Muxsudabad. The
change of name occurred in the time of Nawab Murshid Kuli Khan, when he removed the capital of
Bengal from Dacca to this district, as narrated in the chapter on the history of the district.

RIVERS.

For its size the district is traversed by a very large number of rivers. The Ganges can hardly be said
to belong to the district; but it forms the northern and eastern boundaries, and its waters go to form
the other rivers. It is navigable for large. vessels all the year round. The most important river is the
Bhagirathi, an effluent of the Ganges given off at Ch4pghiti, close to the Suti Thannah* Its course is
at first south-easterly, but after reaching Jiaganj it flows almost north and south, leaving the district just
to the north of the battlefield of Plassy, and ultimately uniting with the Jalingi to form the Hughli
river. On its banks stand all the principal towns of the district, and up and down its waters passes the
traffic from these parts to Calcutta. From the 15th of June to the 15th of October, and later in good
years, steamers and large boats can pass, and the river forms the shortest route for large trade and
passenger steamers running from Calcutta to Patna and other towns on the Ganges. During the other
months of the year the Bhagirathi is only navigable for small boats, despite the trouble and money
devoted to attempts to keep open a deep channel by fraining the worst parts of the stream. Of these,
that part of the river opposite Berhampur is the most troublesome. The silt at the mouth is almost
unmanageable, though no end of schemes have been tried and proposed for keeping it down This river
is thought to have been the main channel of the Ganges at one time In some old maps it is called the
Kasimbazar river. Its tributaries are:—the Bansloi and Pédgla from the west near Jangipur ; and the
Chora Dekra, a branch of the Dwarka river, also from the west, near Saktipur. During the rains the
Bhagirathi and the other rivers overflow, and serious floods are only prevented by numerous and expensive
bunds.t It is proposed to abandon the chief of these on the left bank at Laltikuri, giving the water more
space to the east, and saving the yearly expenditure for repairs to this “bund.” The banks are soft, sandy
mud, and cut away easily, so that slight changes in the course of the river frequently occur. Much of the
original town of Jangipur is in the river bed, and on the right bank many houses have been cut away
from Azimganj. The bed of the river is mostly sand mixed with clay, and silt poured in from the
Ganges, and cut down from its own banks. The Bhairab and Sialmari rivers are two unimportant and,
except for small boats, unnavigable, effluents given off by the Ganges between the Bhagirathi and the
Jalingi. The Jalingi river is given off some few miles above the village of Jalingi and, flowing south-
west, it forms one of the boundaries of the district. It is an important channel for traffic from the
south-eastern part of the district into the Hughli and so to Calcutta. On the west, the only navigable
river is the Dwarka, which has two tributaries entering from the south-west, the Mor and the Kina.
As a rule, the floods in the west are not excessive, and indeed add to the fertility of the district, the rich
soil being planted with rice and other crops as soon as the waters subside.

During the years 1854, 1856, 1857, 1867, 1871, and again in 1881 there were serious floods.

It would seem that whenever the water rises to anything over 28 feet on the gauge, floods may be
expected, and the highest record is 29 feet 6} inches in 1871.

Near Berhampur, the course of the river was altered and shortened in 1813, by the cutting off of a

* Police Station. + Embankments.
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loop inward to the east. The old #und and the bed of the river lie by the side of the road to
Murshidabad, and though full of water during the rains, nearly the whole of it is cultivated when the
waters subside. How marked the change was can be seen by referring to old maps. According to the
latest available reports, the river-borne traffic during the year is decreasing.

Ganges.—The mother of rivers, sacred to all Hindus during life, and at death the channel by which
many of them hope to reach their heaven, it deserves first notice as one of the rivers of the district Its
right bank, from Furuckabad in the north to Jalingi in the south-east, forms the boundary line of the
district on the east. The local name for the Ganges, below Suti, is the Poddak, and where it touches
this district it is at its largest size, a truly noble stream. The volume of its waters is subsequently
diminished by its efferents, the Bhagirathi, the Bhairab, and the Jalingi. Its course is at first south-east
for about twenty miles; it then gives off the Bhagirathi, continuing in the same direction south-
east by east for another sixty miles to the point where it gives off the Jalingi, at the small town of
the same name. It leaves the district almost at the south-east corner. The Ganges is navigable for even
large steamers throughout its course in connection with this district. It abounds in fish and crocodiles,
man-eaters and fish-eaters infest its waters. Another fairly common inhabitant is the Gangetic porpoise
(P.atinista), a remarkable mammal. The water of the Ganges is preferred above all others by the
Hindus for drinking purposes.

Bhagirathi—The Bhagirathi is given off from the main stream of the Ganges near Suti, and it is
the chief river of the district next to its parent stream. Its course is winding, but the general direction is
southward to Burwa, where after a run of seventy miles it passes into the Nadia district, to be there joined
by the Jalingi to form the beginning of the Hughli During the “rains,” or from June to
September, it is in good years navigable for the largest steamers, and forms the shortest route from
Calcutta to Patna and the north-west. Nearly a week is saved when this river is open. It is, however,
passable only for quite small boats at other times, in spite of the large outlay every year devoted to
keeping the channel open. One of the worst parts and most difficult for navigation is just opposite
Berhampur, and it is there that the chief z7aining works may be seen. By means of long lines of bamboo
and mat “fencing,” the Public Works Department officer contrives to keep an open and fairly deep channel ;
but, except in the most favourable years, from December to July, the small local steamer running between
Gorabazar and the railway terminus at Azimganj, finds its career gradually checked, and it shortens its
course first to Khagra, then to Lalbagh (Murshidabad city). Between Lalbagh and a point a mile or so
below Azimganj there is always plenty of water. Opposite the palace and grounds of the Nawab Bahadur
the river is in many places fifty feet deep, even in the hot season. No soundings have been taken, but it
would be very interesting to know the nature of the river bed in these deep places. The people, always
ready with some imaginative or superstitious reason, often say that it is in honour of the Nizamat family,
and this explanation is satisfying, and checks curiosity as to the nature of the river bottom. The
Bhagirathi is a curious river in several ways.

The Jalingi is the second largest efferent of the Ganges in the district. The course of this river is
even more tortuous than that of the Bhagirathi, but its general trend is to the south-west, and it forms
the south-eastern border of the district for fifty miles from Jalingi to Balli. At the latter place it enters the
Nadia district to unite with the Bhagirathi. The traffic on this river, though less than that on the
Bhagirathi, is considerable. In some ways the Jalingi is a more satisfactory stream than the Bhagirathi.
Its waters never sink so low as those of the Bhagirathi, and boats of under two feet draught can pass
along it at even the dryest times of the year. The traffic along this river adds to the revenue of the
Nadia Rivers Circle, and the tolls for fisheries bring in about Rs. 2,000, a year.

The Mor rises in the hills near Bhagalpur, in north latitude 24° 31'; 87° 1’ 2” east longitude. Flowing
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south-east, it passes across the Birbhum border to join the Dwarka at Rungaon, in the Kandi Sub-division
of this distict.

From its source to its junction with the Dwarka the Mor is about eighty miles long, rapid, and shallow,
except in the “rains,” when it is often a swollen torrent, overflowing at times, but, on the whole, doing
more good by the deposit of alluvium than harm by its inundation.

The Dwarka, or Bibl4, the continuation of the Brahminee river, is the most important stream in the
Rark, and gives to the Kandi Sub-division the valuable water supply needed for cultivation. The river
rises in the Birbhum hills, 23° 57’ north latitude, 88° 10’ east longitude. Its general direction is eastward,
and almost parallel with the Mor, which it joins at some eighty miles from its source. The river is called the
B4bla more often than Dwarka, previous to its union with the Mor, the combined strecams then bearing the
name Dwarka. Like all hill streams, it is very rapid, and liable to sudden flood, and that part of the
Kandi Sub-division known as the Hijal is annually flooded As in the case of the Mor, no great harm is
done even with high flood such as occurred in 1900

One hears a great deal about the floods in the Kandi Sub-division, caused by the overflow of the
Dwarka and the Mor, which bring down a considerable amount of water from the hilly country on the
west of Murshidabad district. The damage done by these floods is geneially overrated. It is to show
how little real damage is done that I have introduced a note on the floods of the year 1goo The flood
was recognised as one of the worst for many years.

A few days before the floods, from the 15th September, a strong east wind was blowing, with
showers. On the night of the 18th of September heavy rain besan to fall, and rain continued to come
down in torrents without any break until the morning of the 21st. The daily rainfall from 8 am.
to 8 a.m. on the 18th, 19th, and 20th was as follows :—

19th September 2 34 inches.
20th » 667
21st » 522

Total 14.23 inches

On the 20th September the volume of water in the river Mor was visibly increasing, and the increase
was put down to the heavy rainfall. About midnight there was a sudden rise, showing that the increase
was due to supplies from the hill streams in addition to the local rainfall. The river overflowed its
banks, and the streets of Kandi were for a time knee-deep with water. The flood began to subside almost
at once, and by 5 o’clock on the morning of the 21st, the water had receded four inches. At Bahorah the
bank of the Mor gave way. The weak spot was about three miles south-west of Kandi, at the Hararband
(Harar Embankment). Through this breach a large volume of water escaped, thus saving the town
of Kandi from any serious consequences after the overflow. The flood water found its way eastward,
submerging fields and flooding villages, and passing finally into the swampy lowland in the eastern part
of the Sub-division known as the Hijal. The Dwarka also overflowed and broke through its banks,
damaging crops and mud houses in the interior of the Sub-division There was a large breach at Gabtolah
and some smaller ones at Puranderpur, and also towards the main road leading to Berhampur. Such a
flood has certainly not been seen for eighteen years, nearly half the Sub-division was more or less flooded
for a short time. The water, in the deepest part of the floods, is repoited to have been two feet higher
than during any recent flood.

The cold-season rice crop, the Aman, generally grown in the country round Kandi, is not as a rule

* Information supplied by 1st Grade Assistant Surgeon Akhoy Kumar Pain.
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sown in the Hijal, which received the brunt of the flood. In ordinary years this part of the Sub-division
is more or less submerged. This year, however, the rainfall during the earlier part of the season had been
scanty, and the Hijal was generally cultivated, as there seemed little danger of loss from floods. These
crops were mostly destroyed. With this exception, the damage done was not great, perhaps a quarter

was lost, but a good 7abi crop compensated for that loss.
A certain number of mud houses were necessarily damaged by the flood water. Such loss, however,

can be easily repaired at any time. Naturally, too, the greatest suffering occurred in the villages in and
around the Hijal. In the Kandi police thannah the following villages reported damage to houses :—

Puranderpur Kotaldighi Chandalparah
Chandraprosadpur Pyrakole Gopalnagar
Ghanesampur Sasparah Durgapur
Parbatipur Bhowanipur Titpur
Khidiqur Banipur Gosaidoba
Harinagar Baglochra Andutea
Gobindpur Nutangram Rusorah
Rajarampur | Shikantopur

Many of these are only quite small hamlets, and the damage done was slight.

In Bharapur, Gokarna, and Khagram police thannahs slight damage to houses was recorded.

Nearly all the roads in the Sub-division were damaged to some extent. Notwithstanding the heavy
downpour and the general dampness no special increase of sickness was reported. The flood water did
some good by washing streets and drains. The price of food was not noticeably affected by the floods,
which, after all, lasted only a few days.

The length of the Dwarka in this district is about forty-six miles, and, from a point near Talibpur, it turns
back into Birbhum. Again it leaves that district and pours its waters into the Bhagirathi at about
23° 43’ north latitude ; 88° 10’ east longitude.

Bhaivab and Sialmari—These two unimportant streams are given off by the Ganges between the
mouths of the Blagirathi and the Jalingi. They flow south and south-west, and finally join the Jaling:.
These streams are connected with a series of 44:l, and form a convenient means of communication during
the rainy season, for small boats only. This is the more convenient, owing to the almost entire absence
of roads.

The Pagla and Bansloi rise in the Santal Pergunnahs and flow into this district from the north-west.
The Bansloi, the larger of the two, empties itself into the Bhagirathi opposite Jangipur.

SUDDER (Headquarters of the District).

Boundaries.—The Sudder Sub-division is bounded on the north by the Shahanagar and Bhag-
wangola thannahs, and the river Ganges ; on the east by the rivers Jalingi and Ganges, south by the district
of Nadia, and on the west by the river Bhagirathi

Total Population of Sub-division including Municipality.—454,919 (1891).

Population of Chief Town.—Berhampur, 24,397 (1901).

Names of Thannahs in the Sub-division.—Buruah, Jalingi, Goas, Sujaganj, Gorabazar, Daulatabad,
Hariherpara, and Nowada.
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JANGIPUR.

Boundaries.—The Jangipur Sub-division is bounded on the south by Sagordighi and Bhagwangola
thannahs, on the east and north by the river Ganges, and on the west by the district of Birbhum and the
Santal pergunnahs.

Total Population of Sub-division including Municipality.—317,179 (1891)

Population of Chief Town.—Raganathganj, 10,921 (1901).

Names of Thannahs in the Sub-division.—Raganathganj, Diwansari, Shamsherganj, Suti, and
Mirzapur.

KANDIL

Boundaries.—The Kandi Sub-division is bounded on the east by the river Bhagirathi, on the south
by the district of Burdwan, to the west by the district of Birbhum, and on the north by Nabagram and
Assanpur thannahs.

Total Population of Sub-division including Population of the Municipality.—297,122 (1891).

Population of Chief Town.—Kandi, 12,037 (1901).

Names of Thannahs in the Sub-division.—Gokarna, Bharutpur, Khargram, Kandi, and Borowan

LALBAGH.

Boundaries.—The Lalbagh Sub-division is bounded on the south by the Khargram and Gokarna
thannahs, and by Sujaganj, on the east by Daulatabad and Goas thannahs, on the north by the Diwansari
thannah and the river Ganges, and on the west by the district of Birbhum.

Total Population of Sub-division including Municipality.—181,726 (1891).

Population of Chief Town.—Murshidabad, 15,168 (1901).

Names of Thannahs in the Sub-division.—Assanpur, Manullabazar, Shahanagar, Bhagwangola,
Nabagram, and Sagordighi.



NOTES ON THE CHIEF TOWNS IN THE DISTRICT OF
MURSHIDABAD.

THE “ Sudder,” or headquarters, of the district of Murshidabad is Berhampur. Up to 1875 it was the
residence of the Commissioner of Rajshaye and in that Division. Hunter suggests that the name
Berhampur is derived from Bramipur, an officer of one of the earlier Nawabs Nazim.

The connection is difficult to see, as Berhampur was a piece of waste land to the south of Kasimbazar
until selected as the site of a cantonment in 1757. The barracks were not finally complete until 1767, and
led to the ruin of more than one officer who, with the laxity which disgraced that period, saw the possibility
of making a fortune out of the Company’s contracts. The cost amounted to £302,270, or at 2s. equals
Rs 30,22,700 (thirty lakhs). In 1786 the locality was considered very fine and even healthy.

The barracks then sheltered two European regiments, seven or eight regiments of Sepoys, and some
Artillery, with 15 guns.

These barracks were the theatre in which the first overt acts of mutiny were played in 1857. To the
north and west lies the town of Kasimbazar The one and only good road in the district connects Berhampur
with Murshidabad and Azimganj, the railway terminus Berhampur was famous for its dhobies
‘washermen), and even now they are good, and destroy less than their rivals in other parts.

Passing along the road above mentioned, towards Murshidabad, the following places of interest meet
the eye :—Two miles south of Murshidabad, on the right, the Moti Jhil (Lake of Pearls), which holds
numbers of crocodiles, sometimes caught by the princes with a hook baited, and attached to a float made
of a slice of plaintain tree. The palace, built by Suraj-u-Dowlah, on its banks has long been a ruin.
Some of the building materials are said to have been brought from Gaur, the old capital of Bengal. This
palace was the home of the Agent to the Governor General until 1785. From there the Agent went to
Moydapur, and, later, to Berhampur.

Three miles south of Murshidabad, on the left (from Murshidabad to Berhampur), is a fine avenue of
so-called Deodars, between two and three miles long. This avenue leads to Moydapur, once the Civil
Station, with jail, and asylum for insanes—abandoned in 1878, December 31st. The jail and asylum
buildings still exist and are maintained as a possible cholera camp, and for the sake of the timber and fruit
trees. North-east of the Moti Jhil is the old Katra Musjid.

BERHAMPUR.

Berhampur, which is, as before stated, the headquarters of the district, is a composite town and the
successor of Kasimbazar. From north to south it is made up of :—Farashdanga, the site of the town water-
works and the spot where the French once had a factory ; Nimtollah, marked by the Armenian Church,
Calcapur, with the old Dutch Cemetery and site of the Dutch factory ; Kasimbazar; Khagra ; the Cantonment
(Berhampur) and Gorabazar, which, as its name implies, sprang up to meet the wants of the British troops
occupying the barracks. By road about 118 miles, and by river about 161 miles from Calcutta, the town
stretches along the left bank of the Bhagirathi river in 24° §' north latitude ; 88° 17’ 2” east longitude.
It only extends inland for a quarter to half a mile. In “ Thornton's Gazetteer” it is said to be five miles
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from Murshidabad. As the distance between the two places is, at the present time, nine miles, it is evident
that a very considerable portion of the city of Murshidabad has disappeared, even since 1858. The site on
which the town and cantonments stand is flat, damp, and when the river is full, actually below the level of
the surface of the stream. Malarial fevers are endemic with almost regular seasonal rise and fall. Cholera,
though never very serious, claims a certain number of victims yearly. Dysentery, diarrhaea, and diseases of
the chest are common, and enteric fever is not uncommon among Europeans. Natives dread the place, and
my own experience is that, even if not actually ill, one is never free from ma/aise. The cold season is a
mere mockery and brings little recuperation.

The aspect of the town from the river is pleasing, and the college and the barracks show up well The
Civil Station is well furnished with trees, and, indeed, is one of the prettiest in Bengal. Most of the
Europeans live in the old barracks or field officers’ quarters. Of the three double-storied barracks on the
east side of the picturesque square, the one at the north corner is used as a Municipal Office. The other
two hold the Courts of the Magistrate and his Deputy Magistrates and Collectors.

BRIEF HISTORY OF THE BERHAMPUR WATER-WORKS.

The scheme of the Berhampur Water-works was first mooted so far back as April, 1894, during the
Collectorship of Mr. Kennedy ; and the Maharani Surnamoyi of Kasimbazar expressed her willingness to
bear the whole cost of the undertaking. The preliminary arrangements were not, however, completed when,
in February, 1896, Mr. Levinge became Collector of Murshidabad. Mr. Levinge expedited matters, and in
consultation with Mr. Silk, the Sanitary Engineer to Government, accepted Messrs. Martin & Co.’s tender
for Rs. 188,834, the final sanction of Government having been given to the scheme on the 2nd March,
1897. Messrs. Simpson & Co’s tender for supplying engines for Rs. 51,000 was also accepted. The
lamented decease of the Maharani Surnamoyi, however, occurred on 25th August, 1897, before the project
took shape ; but she had already, with great generosity, undertaken to pay the full amount necessary to
complete the works. The final estimate for the work, including subsequent modifications of the original
estimate, amounted to Rs. 271,000. Of this amount, a little more than Rs. 162,000 had been paid by the
Maharani before her death. The present Maharaja, the successor of the Maharani, generously undertook
to carry out the wishes of the late Maharani and to meet the balance of expenditure. The Maharaja has
actually paid Rs. 28,000, and has undertaken to pay when required, the balance, still due, of Rs. 72,000.
The works have been constructed by Mr. A. Kimber, Engineer to Messrs. Martin & Co., under the
supervision of Mr. Silk, Sanitary Engineer to Government, whose services were lent for this purpose, free
of cost. The works were to be maintained by the contractors for one year in good working order,
before being handed over to the Municipality. The following is a brief description of the water-
works, which will exemplify their utility to the public:—The works are designed to give a daily
supply of eight gallons per head of the population of Berhampur, equivalent to 200,000 gallons a day.
The water is pumped up from the Bhagirathi, through a nine-inch pipe, 760 feet in length, laid in a
masonry tunnel from the engine-house to the bed of the river. The water is then pumped at the rate of
200,000 gallons in eight hours into the settling tanks. There are three settling tanks, each having a
capacity of 229,000 gallons. There are two filters, into which the water passes from the settling tanks,
each of which is capable of filtering the whole daily supply, but both filters will ordinarily be in use. The
filtered water passes into the outlet chamber, and from there into the “clear-water” reservoir. From
the “clear-water” reservoir the water is pumped, to the town and the elevated reservoir, through a nine-
inch pipe. From the elevated reservoir the water flows through the main and distributary pipes, having a
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total length of twelve and a quarter miles, and the water is drawn for public use from 132 standposts

placed in the principal streets of the town.
It will thus be seen how great a boon has been conferred upon the public of Berhampur by the

Kasimbazar Raj in defraying the cost of these works and supplying good drinking water. In recognition
of the importance of this sanitary undertaking, and of the munificence of the late Maharani and the present
Maharaja, Manindra Chandra Nandy, His Honour Sir John Woodburn, at the request of the Maharaja,
kindly consented to open the water-works. It was at first hoped that the water-works would have been
completed by the 1st April, 1899, but this having been found impossible, it was arranged to have the
formal opening on the 31st July, 1899, during His Honour’s River Tour.

At the ceremony of opening the Berhampur Water-works the Maharaja made the following
speech :—

“Your Honour, Ladies and Gentlemen, on my own behalf, as heir and successor to the late
Maharani, as also on behalf of the Berhampur public, to whom she made a gift of these works, I beg,
most respectfully to tender you my, as well as their, grateful thanks for the honour you have this day
done to her memory ; and I only regret that she is not alive to hear how kindly and eloquently her
munificent liberality has been spoken of by the head of the local Government, and to thank him for
the trouble he has taken in coming here to open the water-works.

“Your Honour will, no doubt, recollect that at one time we had good reason to fear that your other
duties and arrangements might prevent you from performing the ceremony which has been just
completed ; but your gracious presence to-day has happily dispelled those fears and filled our hearts
with joy Indeed, it is graciousness like this which is not only a proof of the interest you take in
such works of benevolence, and of your sympathy in the welfare of the people committed to your
parental care, but also goes a great way to create that solidarity and good feeling which ought to
exist between the rulers and the ruled, and to stimulate others to follow the noble example set by
the illustrious dead.

“And although this is neither the time nor the place to dwell upon those noble qualities of head
and heart which have so greatly endeared you to our nation, yet I cannot allow this opportunity to
pass without offering to you the tribute of my admiration, and the homage of my gratitude for those
kind, considerate, and statesman-like measures which you have adopted for dealing with the plague in
Calcutta

*“Once more thanking you for the honour you have this day done to the memory of my lamented
aunt in such eloquent and feeling terms, I beg to resume my seat, wishing your Honour every success
in the office which you now hold in this country and a happy and peaceful life in your own country
after you have retired from that office.”

Kasimbazar, the northern part of Berhampur, was a prosperous and large town, almost a suburb of
Murshidabad, until 1813 Then, principally owing to accidents over which man has little control, its
commerce fell away, and disease killed, or frightened away, most of its inhabitants. Now only part of
Berhampur, it was at the zenith of its prosperity before Berhampur was even thought of, and was only
waste land by the riverside The ups and downs of the “East India Company's” trade have been
recorded A census taken in 1829 gives Kasimbazar 1,300 houses; 3,538 inhabitants, composed of
1,325 Mussulmans and 2,213 Hindus and others.

Ichabod ' Ichabod! for the glory has indeed departed from this once large and wealthy town. To fix
it> position accurately, it lies in 24° 7’ 40 north latitude, and 88° 19’ east longitude, on the left bank of
the Bhagirathi river, which was frequently in former times called the “ Kasimbazar” river. It is so marked
in the old sketch map of the battle-field of Plassy. Its condition is not quite so bad as depicted in:the
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“ Imperial Gazetteer,” but parts formerly full of commercial life, Farashdanga (French factory), Nimtollah,
where the Armenian Colony lived, and where their church still stands, in excellent preservation, thanks
to the Armenians in Calcutta, are now deserted.

Calcapur, the site of the Dutch factory and the old Dutch cemetery, is now a jungly® waste, dotted
here and there with the ruins of what must have been handsome dwellings. Even before Murshidabad
reached its greatest prosperity, Kasimbazar was the home of trade and commerce in these parts.
Portuguese, French, Dutch, and Armenians, all in turn have had their day and disappeared. British trade,
amidst many ups and downs and change of hands, remained and prospered. The country between the
¢ Kasimbazar ” river, the Ganges, and the Jalingi was known to the end of the eighteenth century as
“ Kasimbazar Island.” Kasimbazar was flourishing before Calcutta was founded ; but its early history
is vague and unsatisfactory. Many of the changes which took place in the fortunes of the Kasimbazar
factories have been noticed as they occurred in the history of the district. The downfall of Kasimbazar, as
a town and as a commercial centre, dates from 1813, when, as elsewhere mentioned, the Bhagirathi made a
breach at a place called Katgunga, just above the present water-works at Farashdanga, and cut across the
loop within which most of the town stood, leaving it with Berhampur on the east of the channel instead of
on the west. The change took the river about three miles from the old course and spoiled the town’s
facility for river traffic. The old channel, as it dried up, became filled with dirt and rubbish and converted,
for a time, into a pestilent swamp. A violent type of “fever” broke out, killing the inhabitants by hundreds
and depopulating the chief portion of the town. The local weavers worked on at the commoner kinds of
silk and ghurrak, a cotton cloth, until their trade was overwhelmed by cheap goods turned out by Manchester
machinery.

Berkampur, originally a piece of waste land to the south of Kasimbazar and Khagra, was selected as
the site for a cantonment in October, 1757, after the decisive victory of Clive’s troops at Plassy. The
Sanad given by Mir Jaffer granted to the Company 133 acres of land ; but the Directors in England
declined, at that time, to sanction the works. Later on, sanction being given, the barracks were
commenced in 1765, and completed in two years. As the need for a strong garrison disappeared troops
were removed, and in 1857 there were no European troops to check the mutinous outbreak, only twe
guns and a battalion of native infantry, the 1gth, and a battalion of irregular native cavalry. The
European troops brought from Rangoon to check the mutiny were quartered in the barracks and
were not finally withdrawn until 1870. In those days the Civil Court and Treasury buildings were about
a mile to the south-east of the barracks. These are now occupied only by the Sessions Judge’s Court
and record-rooms. The Magistrates’ Courts and the Municipal Offices now occupy the three fine
double-storied barracks on the eastern side of the Square. The field officers’ quarters and the single-
storied barracks are used as dwelling-houses by the resident Europeans, both official and non-official ;
the Magistrate being, indeed, the only official not living in the old cantonment. The present jail was
the old Military Hospital, and the old Military Prison forms to-day part of the Lunatic Asylum.
A Government College was founded in 1853, and had its home in a large house belonging to an Armenian
merchant, Mr. Vardon.t+ At the time of the mutiny this house was removed, as it was in the way of
the present jail, then prepared as a fort and shelter. The College next moved to a large house at
Panchanantollah, one and a half miles from the barracks, and from there it was moved into the second
row of single barracks on the north side of the Square. The present handsome college buildings were
erected and endowed by the Maharani Surnamoyi of Kasimbazar.

* Overgrown with shrubs and wild vegetation.
t Buried in the churchyard of the Armenian Church.
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RANGAMATIL*

From the study of the travels of a Buddhist pilgrim, a native of China, Huien Tsiang, Mr.
Beveridge concludes, and apparently correctly, that the city of Karna Suvarna mentioned by the traveller
was situated on the right bank of the Bhagirathi, at the spot now known as Rangamati, about six
miles from Berhampur. In the days of its glory it stood on the river bank, its red cliffs marking the
extreme western range of the Ganges. The kingdom, of which Karna Suvarna was no doubt the
chief town, is said by M. Julien to have had a circumference of 9oo miles—the town itself being four
miles round—a fertile and prosperous country, with a population partly, perhaps mainly, Buddhists, and
partly Hindus. As is ever the case in Buddhist countries, monasteries abounded. The chief of these
was Lo-to-wei-chi-seng-Kia-lau, which extraordinary word represents the phonetic rendering by Huien
Tsiang of the Sanskrit Rak taviti Saeighdrdma, or the Monastery of Redlands. I am informed that the
word vi7i means a wall, and such a term might with propriety be applied to the red clay cliffs of
Rangamati The monastery no doubt outlasted the town, and in the language of the people was
Rangamati, which name the site still bears.t In the twelfth century Para Krama Béhv, King of Ceylon,
is supposed to have invaded Bengal and destroyed the city Karna Suvarna. Mr. Beveridge thinks the
year 1164 is the one in which this event occurred.

The founder, Karna, is he of the Mahabaratta, and not Karna Sen, of whom many fables are
related.

In the Purdnas Rangamati is also called Kusumapuri, but this is an epithet given to many
towns, generally by poets.

All that is now left of this ancient and once famous town is a bungalow and a silk flature
belonging to the Bengal Silk Company. The land from the river bank to Kandi, formerly the property
of the Bagdanga Raja in Kandi, was lately purchased by the Nawab Bahadur of Murshidabad.
Rangamati is on the west of the Bhagirathi, some six or seven miles below Berhampur.} The reddish
yellow bluffs, from which the place takes its name, mark it in all probablity the most westerly line of
the old Ganges§ They mark also the true geological division of the district, all to the east being
alluvial deposit, pure and simple, and, as things go, comparatively modern. These clay banks of the
Rarkh are the most elevated portion of the district, which is otherwise, in all directions, monotonously
flat. In many places near the present bungalow there are signs of the foundations of buildings, and
there is no doubt that excavations would be repaid by interesting discoveries. Some years ago, when
Mr. Beveridge was District and Sessions Judge of Murshidabad, and Mr. Val. Weston was in charge
of the filature, “some figures of Buddha were unearthed ;” but the landlord would not allow these
gentlemen either to continue their work or to remove that which they had found. The figures were
subsequently stolen.

The foundations of the supposed palace of the founder of Rangamati, Raja Karna Sen of Gaur,
were traced out by Captain Layard, who contributed an interesting note on the subject to the Asiatic
Society of Bengal| He thought he could distinctly trace three sides of the palace enclosure, the
fourth having been swallowed up by the river. As late as 1845 there stood the ruins of one of the
ancient gates. This, too, has long disappeared in the bed of the Bhagirathi The kingdom of which

* “The site of Karna Suvarna,” by H. Beveridge, * Jour, Asiatic Soc., Bengal,” Vol. Idi., Part I., No. 4.
t Col. Walford, “ Asiatic Researches,” Vol. ix., p. 39, and Capt. Layard, “ Jour. Asiatic Soc., Bengal,” Vol. xxil.
{ Not fourteen miles, as stated in Hunter's * Imperial Gazetteer.”
§ Layard ascribes the name to the gold lavishly poured on the ground by Bibisan in return for a feast provided
by a poor Brahmin.—* imperial Gazetteer,” Vol. viL, P- 554.
“ Jour. Asiatic Soc., Bengal,” 1853,
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the original Rangamati was the chief town is thought to have included the country now forming the
Rark, Burdwan, and Birbhum. After the Mahomedan conquest (1203), Rangamati was one of the
Bengal Foujdaris and, as was the custom, it was farmed out to a wealthy Hindu Zemindar, a man of
some importance, since it is recorded that he ranked with the Zemindar of Nadia, and at the Punya
(Rent Audience) held at the Moti Jhil Palace, by Nawab Nazim Saif-u-Dowlah, in 1767, he received
a Khilat (present of honour) worth Rs. 7,278.

As being a dry and healthy situation on the highest ground in the district, Rangamati was used
as a sanitorium for the British troops quartered in the Berhampur Cantonment. The silk fillature is
a very old one, having originally belonged to the East India Company, from whom it was purchased
in 1835, by Mr. Lyall, who probably started the Bengal Silk Company, for £2,100. The country round is
picturesque, and provides excellent snipe shooting in the autumn and winter months. Both black and
grey partridge are also to be found.

The palmy days of Rangamati were during the rule of Maharaja Karna Sen, of whose might and
grandeur fabulous stories are told. His palace was at Rangamati, and at Gokarna or Gowkaran, about
four miles away, he kept his cattle, with a majestic dunghill at Gobarhatti, which lies between the
two places.

Near Rangamati is Jadupur, with supposed traces of an old moat, that of Jalalluddin.
Jalalluddin was the son of Raja Kans, and began to reign 818 (1415-16 A.D.)* When attacked by
the Mahomedans, Karna Sen is said to have drowned himself in the Chanti Bhil, leaving behind him
a son, Brisha Ketu.

MURSHIDABAD.

The once famous city of Murshidabad lies on the left bank of the Bhagirathi, about nine miles north
of Berhampur, and is at present the chief town of the Lalbagh Sub-division. No portion of the old
city, called Mahinagar, on the right bank, is now left, except the Khushbagh and Roshnibagh cemeteries ; a
few ruins there are, but mostly covered with jung/e.

The Furahbagh Palace, and the great Moradbagh Palace, in which Clive stayed after the battle of
Plassy, and in which Warren Hastings lived while resident at Mir Jaffer's Court, are gonc. Gone also are
the palaces of Gheseeta Begum, and others. Even in the city, on the left bank, many buildings have been
ruins for years, and the earthquake of 1897 added to the number. One of the ruined palaces was built by
Ali Verdi Khan with material brought from the ruins of Gaur, from which place too was brought the
Kadam for the Kadam Russul Mosque. This stone was given to the Mosque by one Basant Ali Khan.

A new palace was commenced in 1828, and took ten years to complete, and cost about seventeen
lakhs of rupees.

The trees which used to surround it have all gone. Even in 1829 there were 40,118 houses,} of which
14,281 belonged to Mussulmans. The population, 146,176, was composed of 90,086 Hindus, and 56,090
Mussulmans, and included the 5,000 Shiahs, brought together by the fortunes of the ruling Nawabs Nazim.

After the city became the capital of Bengal its trade was very extensive, and the bazars crowded with
all kinds of shops. In the opinion of Clive it rivalled Delhi. It was never a healthy place, and want ot
sanitary improvements only increased its evil repute.

The city is about 124 miles north of Calcutta, in 24° 12’ north latitude; 882 17 2" east
longitude.

* The year that Nur Qutb died (H. Beveridge, * Jour. Asiatic Soc., Bengal,” Part I., No. 2, 1892, p. 124).
+ Thornton’s ¢ Gazetteer ” (29), p. 631.
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List of Old and Interesting Places in the City of Murshidabad.

I. Mukbera Jafragunj, which belonged to Nawab Mir Jaffer.
2. Tomb of Nawab Zebun Nissa Begum, daughter of Murshid Kuli Khan, and wife of Suja Khan,

opposite to the Old Mohimapur Thannah.
3. Tomb and Musjid of Nawab, Masiri Banu Begum, wife of Murshid Kuli Khan, at Juttaputti.
4. The large Imambara.
5. The Palaces.
6. Site of Old Imambara of Nawab Suraj-u-Dowlah.
7. Old Gun, near the Imambara, brought from Dacca.
8. Tirpolia Nowbut Khana, erected by Nawab Suja Khan at the Chauk (market place).
9. Chauk Musjid, built by Nawab Mani Begum.
10. Tomb of Serfiraz Khan, at the back of the Nagnia Bagh.
11. Katra Musjid, and Tomb of Nawab Murshid Kuli Khan.
12. The old “ Jahan Kusha” Gun.

13. The Kadam Shariff
14. Old Sudder Diwani Katcheri of the Mobarak Munzil. In this garden there is also the Masnud

of the Old Subadars of Bengal, a squat stone table, upon which the Gadd%, or Cushion was placed.

15. Moti Jhil Garden, or site of Gheseeta Begum’s Palace, used as the English Board of Revenue
Office in 1765.

16. Khush Bagh, containing the Tomb of Nawab, Ali Verdi Khan.

17. Roshni Bagh, containing the Tomb of Nawab Suraj-u-Dowlah.

18. Morad Bagh, or site of the Old English Residency.

19. Site of Munsur Ganj Palace.

20. Bhabani Than or Krita-Ishwarit. A very old and sacred Hindu Temple.

The Moradbagh, on the right bank of the Bhagirathi, was the headquarters of the Collector of
Rajshaye District in the later years of the eighteenth century. The arrangement was an awkward one, and
led to the reduction of Rajshaye, the country south-west of the Ganges, being divided between Nadia, Jessore,
and this district in 1793.

Not the least interesting feature of the large Palace is the Armoury, situated on the ground floor in
the western wing. There is a very large collection of curious old swords and spears, daggers, cannon, and
camel-guns. There is, however, unfortunately, no catalogue, and no means of telling to whom the various
weapons belonged, or whence they were obtained. We have, however, some interesting information
(communicated by H. Beveridge for Hara Prasad Shastri to the Proc. A. S. B, Jan., 1893, p. 24) concerning
one of the cannon in the collection. It is a brass gun, mounted on a carriage, apparently of native
manufacture. The gun is three feet in length and probably about a four-pounder. The muzzle is shaped
like a demon’s head, with pointed ears, a human face, and crocodile’s jaws. The gun is decorated with
floral designs, and has an inscription on a raised shield about the middle of the upper surface. The inscrip-
tion was deciphered by Babu Shasi Bhushan Datta, Deputy Magistrate of Berhampur, and runs somewhat

as follows :—
Victory to Kali.

Her name is Truth.
The Honourable The Honourable Roop Ram,

Krishna Chandra, Chatto Padhya, the engraver.
Rai Maharaja,

the respected, the royal.
Kishore Das Karmaker (blacksmith).
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The gun belonged to Raja Krishna Chandra Rai, of Nadia, and he probably, according to
Mr. Beveridge, received it as a present from one of the Governors of Calcutta. The gun, no doubt,
found its way into the Nizamat Armoury after the Battle of Plassy.

Jiaganj is on the left bank of the Bhagirathi, opposite to Azimganj. Here, too, dwell many families
of Jains, though the main colony is in Azimganj. It contains some large houses, the property of Jain
merchants. The town is about three and a half miles from Murshidabad city, and forms part of the Munici-
pality of Azimganj. Though its importance as a trade centre is not what it once was, it is still considerable,
and the place is the dep6t for much merchandise, which is carried across the river in boats to the railway
terminus at Azimganj. Rice, jute, silk, sugar, and a small quantity of cotton find their way here for export.
The Jiaganj jute press belongs to Mr. Yule, who also manages the cargo ferry. From Jiaganj, from June
to November, a steamer starts twice a week for Dhuliyan, calling at Azimganj, on the opposite side,
Gardi, Raganathganj, Jangipur, and other places for goods and passengers. The line is well patronised,
paying well, though the season is short.

Jiaganj possesses a police station, post, and telegraph offices, and is one of the London Missionary
Society’s centres. The pastor, the Rev. A. Joyce, is nobly assisted by his wife, a doctor of medicine, who
has built a mission hospital for women, for both out- and in-patients. Lately, Dr. Edith Joyce has been
assisted in her work by Miss Alice Hawker, also a graduate in medicine. The hospital was opened in
1899. The southern part of Jiaganj is known as Baluchur, and is the home of many prosperous merchants.
Dhunpat Singh, and Chattrapat Singh, two influential members of the Jain community, live there. The
revenue returns of 1870-77 quoted in the “Imperial Gazetteer” give the imports into Jiaganj—mainly
salt, oil-seeds, tobacco, and ghee. Of these it may be noticed that mustard seed has risen in price to an
alarming extent. In 1898 one cculd purchase a good mixed seed, white and black, giving 128 seers of oil
per maund, for Rs.4 as.8; in 1900 the price was more than once over Rs.6 per maund, and never
below Rs. 4 as. 8.

JUNGIPUR.

This Sub-division is situated to the north and north-west of the district, extending along both banks of
the Bhagirathi, between 24° 19’ and 24° 52, north latitude, and 87° 51’ and 88° 24’ east longitude In area
it occupies 576 square miles. It contained, in 1872, 668 towns and villages, or 1'16 to the square mile ; and
a population of 273,487, or 475 inhabitants to the square mile.

The Sub-division is divided into five #annaks, or police circles—Raganathganj, Mirzapur, Pulsa, Suti,
and Shamsherganj. The chief town and Municipality is, one might now almost say was, Jangipur, or that
part called Raganathganj, on the right bank of the river. The town, with courts and offices, stood originally
on the left bank of the river.

Slowly the town disappeared into the river, until it became necessary to remove the courts to the town
of Raganathganj, on the right bank, where they now occupy a fine old double-storied house, formerly the
property of a very wealthy Armenian, Mr. Masik. The Sub-jail, Hospital, and District Board Bungalow
are also close by. Just outside the town, to the north, is the silk factory of Baliaghatta, managed by
Mr. Robert Moore, for Mr. M. Ferguson, of Berhampur. In olden times this, with several other factories,
belonged to the East India Company, and Jungipur was a very important centre of the silk trade. The
population of Jungipur town, in 1872, was 11,361. The “Imperial Gazetteer ” gives the municipal revenue
for 1876-77 as £957.

Tradition ascribes the founding of the town to the Emperor Jahangir, and much of its importance

was, and is still due to its position. Being near the mouth of the Bhagirathi, it forms the chief toll
H
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station for boats passing from the main stream of the Ganges, or Poddah, as that part of the river is
called, into the Bhagirathi, and thence along the Hughli river to Calcutta, passing through the length
of the Murshidabad district. In 1872 the total traffic was 377,508 maunds (about 13,821 tons), which
had diminished to 140,318 maunds in 1874. The number of boats registered is about 10,000, and the
toll represents about one-third of the entire revenue of what is known as the Nadia rivers circle,

which is in charge of the Executive Engineer living at Berhampur.

KANDL

At the time Hunter's “ Imperial Gazetteer” was published Kandi formed part of the Sub-division of
Rampur H4it. In 1872 Kandi contained a population of 235,227 persons; 159,273 Hindus, and 74,158
Mahomedans, five Christians, and 1,791 classed as “others”; of this total 111,324 were males, and 123,903
females. The area of the Sub-division is 450 square miles, with 1°14 villages, and 523 people to the square
mile. Comparing these figures with the returns of the census of 1881 and 1891, we find an increase :—

1881. 1891,
Population 204,800 297,122
Males —_ 145,117
Females ee e e —_ 152,008
Population to the square mile 576 580
Villages and towns — 724

In January, 1873, the old Sub-division of Jumoo Kandi was abolished, and included in the Sub-division
of Rampur Hit, then part of the Murshidabad district. The “Imperial Gazetteer” notes that the cost of Sub-
divisional administration in 1870 was £2,604 8s. Rampur H4t was separated from the district, and the
Kandi Sub-division again formed.

The chief town of the Sub-division is Kandj, or, as it is sometimes called, Jumoo Kandi, about nineteen
miles from Berhampur, in a south-westerly direction,* close to the Mor river as it passes into Murshidabad
from Birbhum, 23° 58’ north latitude, and 88° 5’ east longitude. The town is a municipal one.

It is a fairly well-built and well-kept town, and most of the land in and about it belongs to the well-
known family of the Paikpara Rajas, who owe their aristocratic origin to the gratitude of Warren Hastings.
Ganga Govind Sinha, the founder of the family, was born in Kandi. As Hastings’ dansan, he amassed a
large fortune, much of which he afterwards devoted to the building of shrines. According to Hunter,
quoting tradition, the Skrad, or funeral ceremonies, which he performed in memory of his mother, were
the most magnificent ever known in Bengal, costing twenty lakhs of rupees. Among other extravagances,
“the guests were fed on Mokaproshad, or holy rice, brought in relays from the temple of Jagannath, in
Puri”

The visitor to this district must first find his way to Nathati Junction on the East India Railway. From
this station, the only railway in the district makes its way to Azimganj, passing through Takipur, Nowada,
Bokhara, Sagordighi, and Shahapur, places of no particular importance, beyond the dignity and utility that
a railway station confers. This is not a “ complaint book” ; but the best that can be said of the train
service on this short line of twenty-seven and a half miles is that it is bad, and that the East India Railway
Company has ever turned a deaf ear to petitions from the people of Murshidabad. It can fairly be said
that these petitions do not contain anything unreasonable. The country through which the line passes is

* The “ Imperial Gazetteer” gives it as * south-east,” probably a printer’s error.
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flat and ugly, but the view as one approaches the terminus is very picturesque, and the houses and temples
of Azimganj, some white, some painted in bright colours, tell no tale of the narrow, dirty, undrained
streets which surround them. Just as the traveller enters the town there is a fine rose garden on the left-
hand side of the railway. This garden, which is a mass of colour in the cold season, and produces many
very beautiful roses, is the property of Rai Dunpat Singh Bahadur. There is a fine artificial tank, from
which the garden is irrigated, and the owner has built himself a small but pretty *pleasure-house” by the
side of the tank.

This, our only railway, with its terminus at Azimganj, connects us, as noted, with the East India
Railway at Nalhati Junction, and passes through :—

Azimganj e 27% Nawada . 8
63 Shahapur 21 233 Takipur
104 Sagordighi 17 27} Nalhati —
194 Bokhara e 12%

The Murshidabad district extends to Bokhara, where there is a bungalow for travellers and inspecting
officers, and a very bad road to Raganathganj (Jangipur). Nalhati Junction is an uncomfortable place,
with no refreshment room.

The compiler of Murray’s “Guide to Bengal ” complains that the Nawab Bahadur does nothing for
travellers. Why should he? Nevertheless, a traveller with sufficient courtesy to write to His Highness at
Murshidabad will always find a carriage at his disposal, and the best of entertainment at the palace as long
as he stays in the district. This same compiler also complains that the train is allowed to stop while
officials get down to shoot ducks or deer. I am quite sure that there are no deer, and few ducks. The
statement itself is the only “canard ” that needs shooting.

The river Bhagirathi presents at all times an animated appearance, with its crowd of country boats
bringing merchandise for export by rail, or waiting to take any necessaries up and down the river to
both ends of the district. Twice daily the small steamer from Berhampur plies to meet passengers
arriving by the mid-day and evening trains. There may also be seen steamers and flats, either ready
to make the bi-weekly journey from Azimganj to Dhuliyan and the north, during the “rains,” or lying
up in the dry season, waiting for an insignificant stream to become a large and important river and
water-way for traffic, with a current running six to seven miles an hour. The river, here, at Azimganj,
is about one eighth of a mile wide. The distance from the station to the g/4az (landing stage) is over-stated
as a quarter of a mile in ‘Murray’s handbook. To a stranger, and at night, it probably seems longer than
it really is. Descending a couple of hundred yards to the river bank, the visitor can be ferried over to
Jiaganj, where there is a small bungalow belonging to the District Board. Here one may rest, but
must be prepared to make his own arrangements for food. The road on to Murshidabad, narrow and
winding in the town, soon opens out as a good, wide track running by the river until we reach
Baluchar (sand bank), which is included in the Azimganj municipality, and had once many busy looms,
and was the home of the ivory carvers. It is of little importance now, and marks the former probable
northern limit of the city of old Murshidabad in its palmy days. From Baluchar there are houses
and shops on either side of the route as it insensibly passes through Nashipur in the Murshidabad
municipality, along the Jutapati road and the Rana Kabza, through one of the old city gates,
“Tirpolia,’: with its Nowbat Khana, into the Chauk and present city of Murshidabad, after passing
the long wall of the Kila Nigzamat. Here a road to the right leads to Dekhan, or south gate of
the Palace grounds, the main gate into the Nawab Bahadur's Palace enclosure. At night, as one
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passes along the same route, the only noticeable feature is the brilliantly lighted palace of the Raja
Bahadur of Nashipur, and further on, and on the same side, the lamps of the Jafferganj cemetery,
facing the Jafferganj mosque, which stands out well. The cemetery is a large one and full of neat
graves

No less than seventy-seven priests are employed here in daily readings of the Koran ; a complete reading

" occupies three days. Their pay varies from four to six rupees a month.

If the visitor will make his arrival known to H.H. the Nawab Bahadur of Murshidabad, he is
almost certain to receive an invitation to rest and put up in the palace, from which, as a centre, he
can make excursions to the various sights of interest. Across the river there are two more cemeteries
older than that of Jafferganj. The Roskni Bagh (the Garden of Light) lies about a mile from the
river bank in a south-westerly direction It is full of fine trees, which give a welcome shade, and the cemetery
is well kept by servants, as in the case of all the cemeteries paid for by the local Government.
In this garden of graves, the one of most historical interest is that of Nawab Suraj-u-Dowlah. The
original mausoleum had become more or less a ruin when the local Government took these old
graveyards into its care, and a new, but smaller and possibly less ornate, structure was built over the
grave (circa 1863) The present edifice measures 36 feet by 20 feet, and has three doorways.

The mosque in the north-west corner of the cemetery bears the date of 1156 H.A. (1743 A.D.). Two
miles further down the right bank of the river, and still south-west, lies the Kiusk Bagk, or garden of
delight. Its walls were built by the order of Lutifunnissa Begum. The main grave with its mausoleum
lies to the west, near the mosque It is 65 feet square, and under its roof lie also the graves of Suraj-u-
Dowlah’s brother and his father, Ali Verdi Khan. Over each of the flat tombstones is spread an
embroidered “ chadar ” or quilt. There being nothing more of interest on the right bank, except the founda-
tions of the Furahbagh and Moradbagh Palaces, we return to the left. The palace enclosure is about
three quarters of a mile long, from the Madrassah (College) to the Dekhan Darwaza (south door), and
contains many buildings of interest.

Entering this south gate we have on the right hand a low range of buildings occupied now by the
Eurasian Bandmaster, Mr. De Souza, the bandsmen, and Sepoys of the Nawab Bahadur's guard. He
has sowars and infantry

To the left, on the river bank, is a large and roomy house, in which, until quite lately, Darab Ali
Khan, an aged eunuch, lived He was ninety-eight years of age, and had been with the Murshidabad family
for over eighty years He died of blood-poisoning from a wound of the scalp. He fell while in his bath-
room, cutting his head severely. This, except for a small mosque, is the only building directly on the
river bank, so that there is a clear view of the river and the jungly country on the right bank. Along the
right side of the enclosure, and next the Sepoys’ lines, are the various gateways leading to the deorves
(apartments) belonging to the brothers and the family of H.H. the present Nawab Bahadur. The first
belongs to the sons of the late Daud Mirza, H.H.’s eighth brother. Then comes the deorie in which
H.H. the Begum Saheba lived formerly, occupied now by the Chotu Saheb, whose only son is being
educated at St. Xavier's College, in Park Street, Calcutta The next gateway leads into the same
deorie.

Between this last and the main gateway into the deorie of H.H. and his sons with their families,
is what is called the new Palace, built by Mr. Vivian, when P.W.D. officer of the Nadia rivers division.
A handsome iron railing encloses a garden space in front, and the main entrance is a fine Norman
archway with open-work iron doors. In the earthquake of June 12th, 1897, the whole of the upper storey
came down with a crash a few seconds after the present head of the family had been carried out of the
building by his aitendants. Much of the débris has been cleared away, but piles of bricks and broken
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pillars as late as the beginning of 1901 bore witness to the damage done. It is being repaired
but without the second storey. A few rooms at the north end are used by Prince Munah Saheb, other-
wise it is uninhabited. We now come to the entrance gate of the chief deorie, inside which are the
houses inhabited by the Nawab Bahadur and his family. Opposite this gate, and midway between it
and the river, is a small thatched, one-roomed summer-house, in which the Nawab Bahadur has
always spent the daytime since the earthquake. It is surrounded by a pretty garden enclosed within a
wooden fence.

Other places to be noticed are :—

Aurungabad, a police thannah in the extreme north of the district in the Jungipur Sub-division,
was at one time a town of some importance. It lies on the route from Berhampur to Rajmehal,
24° 27’ north latitude, 889 2’ east longitude.

Suti is situated 24° 35’ north latitude, 88° 6’ east longitude, forty-two miles north-west of Berhampur
and 210 miles from Calcutta by river. The Bhagirathi here comes off from the Ganges. The town is not
one of any importance, but deserves to be mentioned and remembered as the field on which a battle
was fought July, 1763, between the British forces and those of the Nawab Nazim Mir Kasim Ali
The fight was one of those upon which depended freedom from tyranny, and our troops ended by routing
their adversaries and taking the Nawab’s cannon and supplies, which amounted to 150 boat-loads of
rice. Suti is a police thannah, including 128 villages, 4,816 houses, and a population of 34,662, almost
all Mussulmans —28,499 to 6,163 Hindus. Such was the condition of the circle in 1858. The census
of 1891 gives us the following figures for comparison :—Total population, 69,532 ; number of houses,
12,957. No distinction of races is made in the 1891 census.

Goas, once a large pergunnah, is represented by a large village and police thannah, It lies 114
miles north of Calcutta, 242 13’ north latitude, 88° 29’ east longitude.

Bhagwangola is situated on the right bank of the Ganges, about 136 miles north of Calcutta,
24° 20’ north latitude, 88° 20’ east longitude. It was, until late years, a large grain mart, from which
rice was sent by boats. It has lost most of its trade and importance. The decadence of Murshidabad
city has considerably reduced its trade. It may also be remembered as the resting-place of the ill-fated
tyrant, Suraj-u-Dowlah, in his flight towards Rajmehal.

Azimgany is a municipal town on the right bank of the Bhagirathi, facing Jiaganj, which is included in
the same municipal area, already noticed. The home of the Jain community, its importance was vastly
increased when it became the terminus of the railway from Nalhati Junction. Three trains run daily between
these stations, a distance of twenty-seven and a half miles, and a small steamer from Berhampur meets
the mid-day and the evening trains. As the river gets shallow, this steamer cannot approach Berhampur,
and in bad years runs only from Lalbagh to Azimganj during the cold and hot seasons. The town
possesses a hospital presented to the Municipality by Gunpat Singh, but the building is low and dark,
and not at all what might be expected from so rich a town. The town contains many handsome Jain
temples and well-built houses belonging to the Jain merchants.

There is a village of the same name on the Jalingi river, in the Sudder Sub-division. It is the
site of a police station, but otherwise of no importance.

Plassy—Although Plassy is no longer in this district it was so in past time, and, as one of the
most important battle-fields in history, is so closely connected with Murshidabad that this history
would be incomplete without some account of the place. The locality takes its name from the large
number of palas* trees which formerly grew there. Its red flowers are very attractive and exhale a
pleasant odour. The area of the original Plassy has been much reduced by the destructive action of

* Butea frondosa, Roxb.
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the Bhagirathi river, and of the famous mango grove in which Clive’s troops bivouacked on the eve of
the battle, only one tree remains. Jaggat Singh’s hunting lodge has long disappeared, and his garden
is marked by only one or two large trees (v. p. 14). What is left, and the memorial monument
erected by the Government of Bengal, lic on the left bank of the river, twenty-two miles south of

Berhampur.
The main road from Berhampur to Calcutta passes close to the battle-field.*

* According to the “Impenial Gazetteer,” one of Suraj-u-Dowlah’s Generals was buried at the foot of the solitary
mango tree above mentioned. This is not so, but the villagers believe that one of Mir Muddun’s legs 1s bunied there.

His tomb 1s at Munganapara, two miles away.



POPULATION.

IN 1860 the inhabitants numbered 1,100,080 (Gastrell) ;* by 1872 they had increased to 1,214,104
Before the next census was taken Rampur Hat, with a population of over 260,000, was cut off from the
Murshidabad district. The fact of increase, however, can be shown by adding the above figures to the
totals of the censuses of 1881 and 1891:—1,226,790 and 1,250,046. The proportion of Hindus to
Mahomedans was about as 1'78 to 1; the census of 1872 gave 555,310 Hindus and 412,822 Mahomedans.

The steady increase of population points to general prosperity and freedom from severe famines or
epidemics of disease. The last census, taken in 1901, shows a total population of 1,333,184, again an
increase! The figures, however, must, in part at any rate, be accepted as an improvement in census
taking. When the census figures are compared with the district medical statistics, the deazk-rate is found
to exceed the dirzh-rate ! Either the Government methods of registration are still imperfect, or there is some
miraculous power which causes abiogenesis ! The balance between Hindus and Mahomedans is no longer in
favour of the Hindu, though the difference is not very great :—Hindus, 644,492 (includes Brahmo, 20, and
Jains, 998), Mahomedans, 676,899 (of these some 5,000 or 6,000 are Shiahs, the rest Sunnis). After the Bur-
mese War, 1885-87, one of the captured Princes was sent to Berhampur as a political prisoner. Monotony,
and the climate of Berhampur, thinned out the family and its followers, and now the census shows six
Buddhists only. The population is spread over an area of 2,143 square miles, in five towns and 3,668 villages.
They occupy 283,078 houses : 18,914 in the towns, and 264,164 in the villages ; 653,346 are males, 679,838
are females. While the district table of population by religions is careful to include 20 Brahmo-Somaj and
six Buddhists, it omits nine an¢mzsts and 318 Christians. These appear to be confined to the towns. Of the
total population, 330,672 males and 194,968 females are unmarried ; 299,671 males and 309,185 females are
married ; widows, 175,685 ; widowers, 23,003. The educated section is small; only 73,476 persons are
returned as /izerate, and of this small proportion only 3,838 are women. Of the men, a respectable minority is
Uiterate in more than one language, as the total of the various sub-classes comes to 76,466.

The census records of languages spoken in the district show that the majority of Mahomedans use the
Bengali language, and 5,367 persons speaking Urdu are included under Bemgali, as are also 134 who
speak the Ma/ Pakaria dialect. The Bikaneri dialect is spoken by ten individuals among the Marwari
merchants in Azimganj. Taking the figures as they come we have :— Bengali, 1,223,665 ; Hindi, 93,926 ;
Ooriya, the language of Orissa, 492, here servants (bearers) and palki bearers are, no doubt, largely repre-
sented ; Kkas (Naipali), one male, and one female, man and wife (?) Assamese, one solitary female, probably
an Ayah; Marwari, 46 ; Panjabi, six ; Makrat*i, four—a great contrast to the days of old, when the
Mahrattas overran Orissa, and blackmailed the Governors of Bengal ; Gujerats, 15. This brings us to the
end of the Aryar languages. The next group contains the dialects of the aborigines :—Mundari, 224 ;
Kora, 505; Korwa, 49; Santali, 12,508. The Dyavidian group includes:—Oraon, 1,430; Telegu,
two (domestic servants?) The Burmese group is represented by the six exiles from Mandalay. In the
Iranic section we find Persian, 14, and Pashtu, 147. The list ends with languages foreign to India

* Bib. (2).
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which are spoken in the district: English, 142, and Arabic, one. French, also spoken by a number of
gentlemen in the silk industry, has not been returned.

The next point of interest is contained in the “tables,” which disclose the number of those that are not
whole, and free from blemish. The total number of afflicted persons in the district is 3,747 : males, 2,304 ;
females, 1,443 ; 559 are insanc; 688, deaf-mutes ; 1,520 are blind, the chief causes being cataract or ophthalmia,

" mainly from neglected small-pox. Of lepers there are 997, and it is time that these persons were provided
with a proper asylum, or hospital, both for their own sakes and for the good of society. A note to this
“table” of troubles tells us that some of these suffer from more than one affliction. In this district, and
elsewhere, there is a greater proportion of male than female children. Age is a matter of guess-work with all
but the better classes who can afford “ Aoroscopes,” or with those born in a municipal area where any serious
attempt is made at registration. Registration, such as an Englishman regards satisfactory, there is none ;
and in this district births were not registered at all until 1884-85, as a result of placing the vaccination
work in the hands of the Civil Surgeon. Girls are considered to arrive at womanhood at an earlier period
than that at which boys attain manhood ; thus many girls are classed in “age groups” above that which
is accurate.

The following list of inhabitants, according to “castes,” is taken from Mr. Risley’s book,* with the
figures for 1891 added from the Census Report. Similar information for 1901 is not yet available.

1872. 1881. 1891. ' 1872. 1881. 1891.
Aguris ... 249 153 ! Dosadhs... . 2,435 1,886 2,721
Agarwals o 347 408 i Gandhabanik ... 11,016 9,874 7,322
Brahmans e 38,749 33,935 31,541 Gareris ... v 224 652
Buna .. 2,320 387 5560 | Ghiasis ... ... o 14
Binds ... 787 887 ,' Godlas ... 39,953 35411 35,516
Bhumij ... e 42 152 | Gonrhis ... ves 7,222 8,302
Bhutyis ... 494 153 ' Gurkhat... o o 1,659
Bhuinmalis 1 2,426 11,996 | Halwais (2. Mayaras) o 614 (v. Mayaras)
ll::jts e e ! 52 i? | Haris ... .. 18954 0176 (z.lgil;;nin-
rs cee ese 1

Beldirs ... . 538 195 ! Jéhde oen .ee 3,014 2,848
Bauris ... ... 6,536 4,512 3607 | M -_'°lhés 766 199 4178
Baruis .. . 3,683 3,014 1,060 ; .Il&:g;:ah e e 5855 5'242 ‘:‘;;;
Batis ... ... 1,584 1,210 g ars o
Baidyas ... ... 2,258 1,474 1,232 ! II: .Kaha:s ot 3416 4769 2,514
Bigdis ... . 23,929 33,197 39.651 aibarthas " 102,517 100,355 91,900
Babhans ... o 160 } Kalwiar (v. Sunris) o 108 (v. Sunris)
Chéins ... .. 26133 20649 36686 , Kamars .. .. (7»45°) 8952 5:567
Chamirs 33,366 20,374 34,608 M. Kalus o o 3,345
g::"‘lj‘fls o 2L764 18854 24319 | Kindhus.. ... 2,584 1,112
Ché;::;-;a T ° © 5173 | Kapélis ... .. 1,536 100

° 320 4812 6326 | Kayasths .. 17077 15655 13866
Dhénuks .. 4,487 4,802 5,357 Kewats o 1
Dhobis .. 5,295 6 88 *
b ’ 900 45 Khandiits 1,545 1 afiag

oms ... .. 10,400 7,877 6,800 (Ghatwals) -

Bib. (4.  + Misprint? There are no Gurkhas in this district.
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1872. 1881, 1891. 1872. 1881. 1891
Kharias ... o 4 Pisis 265 56
Khatiks ... o 3 Pitnis ... ... 2,529 2,066 1,74¢
Kharwirs 141 188 Pods ... 86 8,137 13,06¢
Khatris ... 9 670 3,319 Rajpoots 13,141 8,955 6,69
Kochh ... ... 17646 17582 Rajwars ... ... o 163
Koiris ... 7,171 930 1,973 Rajbansi... o o 9,15¢
Kords ... 606 967 Sadgops... ... 29,321 38008 365§
Kotals (v. Chandals) o 1,768 1,435 Sénkharis 422 371
Kumbhars <. I1L278 10487 9087 | Santdls ... ... 3,002 1,663 4,876
Kurmis ... 3,222 4,515 2,061 Sondrs (v. Subarnabanik) o ) 4,126
Laheri ... 274 81 Subarnabaniks ... 5,342 3,286 3,266
Mils ... .. 29,281 8,368 13,637 | Sudras .. ... 31 6
Malis ... 2,483 3,613 1,454 Sunris ... 16,411 13,039 10,724
Miélos ... 7,386 7,598 5050 | Surahiyds (z. others) o 390
Mayards... ... 3,062 5,359 3,539 | Sutradhars ... 10070 12,071 8,023
Muchis (» Chamérs) o 10076 {(iohar | Témbulis .. nryz 73
Téntis ... 17,409 10,349 10,854
Musahars e o 1,091 1,504 Telis 8
. 39189 20730 19,823
Négars s aes o 2)463 2,534 Tivars 12,033 7 15,158
Néoits Lo . g % ) 7,735 515
P e s 5) 57 3)459 13’7 9 Turis e s 472 17
Nunias ... o 80 .
Vaishnavas e 21,464 25,034 18,381
Orions ... 6,131 2,499

The weak point about these figures is that there has been a want of uniformity in returning the
population under the same “caste ” headings at each census. For instance, Hal/wa:s are returncd with
Mayaras in 1872 and 1891 ; but in 1881 a return of 614 Halwais is given. Even with this, the number of
Mayaras in 1881 is greater than in the other two years. Again, Haris, returned separately in 1872 and
1881, are massed with Bhuinmalis in 1891. The figures cannot therefore be accepted as of more than
approximate value. The want of uniformity is reduced to absurdity in the case of the Kiandaits. In
1872, 1,545 are given separately, and with them are included the Gkazwdls ; in 1881 one solitary Khandait
is recorded, while they reappear, to the number of 2,824, in 1891.

The Santals, of whom there are 12,508, live for the most part in the west and north-west, near
Sagordighi. They are by nature, hunters and nomadic, but there is no scope for their energies, and they
must settle down to agriculture and daily labour. Among many curious customs, “taboo ” exists among
them. This “taboo ” prevents them from mentioning the names of certain relatives, under any circum-
stances. Bodding® describes the ingenious ways they have of avoiding the name of a relative, when it is
the same as that of an outsider, whom they wish to mention If it is absolutely necessary to use a name
which is “taboo,” the speaker must be careful to spit before speaking. If a “taboo” name is mentioned by
accident, the speaker must spit at once, spitting being an unclean thing. It is thus admitted that a bad
thing is going to be, or has been, done.

Another point which needs explanation is that some of the so-called “castes ” are “castes” of
occupation, and may therefore include Mahomedans. Thus, in the Census Report o 1891 we find
Mahomedans returned by occupation :—

M. Jolhas 4175 | M. Kahars .. 1733 | MKalus .. 3345

* © Jour. Asiatic Soc., Bengal,” Part III., 1808, p. 2.
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These Jolkas are mostly Mahomedans, working as weavers ; very few Hindus being included, they are
returned as Zantis. According to Dr. Wise, these Jolkas were Hindus, converted to the faith of Islam. This
is no doubt true, as there are no “castes” among Mahomedans in the same sense as caste is understood
among Hindus. In the Census Reports of 1872 and 1881 there is no distinction made between Hindu
and Mahomedan Kakdrs. In the Census Report for 1891 they are given separately. These Mahomedan
Palki-bearers are more correctly called Dooli-walas, or Sawari-walas, and their number is said to be
diminishing. The true Kalu “ caste "-men are a “sub-caste ” of 7e/is, and are Hindus. From habit, how-
ever, the title has been given to Mahomedan oil-pressers and oil-sellers in northern Bengal. The census of

1891 returns the Mahomedans by title :—

Pathans 10,404
Syuds 7,383
Shaikhs 568,048

Total 585,835

This is not a very rational method, as a Pathan may be a Shaikh. The Pathans are, moreover, merely
travellers, though some may reside permanently in the city of Murshidabad.

The Hindus of Bengal are not regardad as pure Aryans by their up-country brethren, and the majority
are doubtless descended from aborigines. It is recorded that in the tenth century it was felt necessary
to send priests of the pure school of Kanouj to rouse up the Hindus of Bengal, who were letting their
religion become degenerate. This little handful of men, however, did little to improve the Brahmins, and
these held supreme power over the minds of the masses. In the twelfth century, Ballab Sen reported
that he could find only nineteen families of Rark: Brahmins who were walking in the way of strict
Hinduism. This ruler tried to shame the majority into reform, by reducing many of the backsliders to the
lowest grades, as a punishment, and as an example. The order of Kulin Brahmins was established, and
their “ caste ” was ordained the highest and purest. Even such acts as would be sinful in other men could
not lower, or degrade them. As might be supposed, the result of such an institution has, in the main, been
pernicious, since some of these men have profited by the protection it gave them to set the worst example
of profligacy. Below the Brahmins of the Rar# there are in Bengal four others :—1, Vaidika ; 2, Sapta-
Sati; 3, Acharya (Jains); and 4, Agrodanis. The first three claim to be anterior to the reign of Ballab Sen,
but the Vaidika alone preserve an honourable position, partly due to descent, and partly to merit. They
do not give their daughters in marriage (often a mockery) to Kulins of Bikrampur, nor will they act at
the various ceremonies for any Brahmin or Sudra, unless tracing origin from Kanouj.*

The Sapta-Sati are few in number, and are being absorbed by the Srotriya. As for the Acharya and
Agrodanis, they are hardly classed as Brahmins. The Patel Brahmins, once the highest of the order, fell
into evil ways, neglecting their duties, marrying into lower “septs,” or even “castes.” To these men,
however, the conversion of many aboriginal tribes was due.

Education has already produced a somewhat levelling effect even among the Brahmins, and many of
the sharp distinctions which marked one grade from another are fading away. Men are losing touch with
much of the old-time ceremonial, but the Hindu religion still finds a stronghold in the women of the country.
When once they give way, the “caste” system will be doomed.

Next to the Brahmins, in Hindu grades, come the Vaiskya “caste,” a small and isolated body, with
whom the reformed Ballabi Vaidyas and Kayasthas will not eat. Following we find the Vaidya and
Kayasthas, who separate themselves from the Sudras, though it is held by many of the latter that Balisb

* ¢ Jour. Asiatic Soc., Bengal,” 1893, Part IIl,, p. 1.



THE HISTORY OF MURSHIDABAD. 59

Sen classed them with the Nova-Sakka. Their title of descent is not clear. Ballab Sen was himself a
Vaidya, and the Brahminical thread was worn by a section of the “caste.” The Kayasthas are a “caste” of
great antiquity. Pure Sudras do not exist in this district, nor, indeed, in Bengal so far as I know, and
are represented by Varna-Sankaras, mixed “castes” resulting from intermarriage of different grades.

Gardeners (Mali); blacksmiths* (Lokar),; makers of bracelets from shells (Sankkari); weavers
( Tants, Jolha); potters (Kumdr),; and braziers (Kansari), claim descent from Visrakarma, the Architect of
Heaven, and, as a class, the artizans (Karus) worship him as a deity. According to the legend, the Sutrakara
“caste ” refused to supply the Brahmins with wood for the sacrifices, and for this they were degraded. The
Chitrakara brought a similar punishment on their own heads, through the exceeding badness of their work ;
while the Sonars or Suvarnakara were caught stealing gold given for the making of an idol. One quaint
tradition tells that the Sonars sprang from bits of the trunk of Gonesha ; another that Shiva made the first
potter out of an old Ku/si (earthen water-pot).

A Sudra Brahmin will officiate at the ceremonies of the following castes :—

Sankhari Kumir Gop-Goala
Tanti Malakér Madhu-Napit
Kamir Népit Baroi

Outside this circle are :—Gandhabanik, Teli, Tambuli, Kansari.

Local custom sometimes varies the order of © caste,” the most useful being placed above those of less
value to the priestly class. These mixed Swudra “castes” have five servants, who attend all family
ceremonies :—Brakman, Mdldkdr, Dhoba, Napit,and Nata. These five will also serve other “castes” except
the very lowest :—Bhuinmali, Chamar, Patni, and Sunri. Even here there are curious distinctions, for
while the Nagiz will shave a Séid, he will not cut and trim his nails. As in all human communities, time
brings changes and schisms. Thus, from the Chandals have sprung no less than eight “sub-castes,” the
same Brahmins acting for all ; only the Kazbarthas must maintain a priest of their own. There is a border-
land between the Sudras and the lowest “ castes,” called Nzcka. Such are :(—

Basti Kandhu Lohait Kori
Baqqal Kapili Nar

Bhat Karni Parasara Das
Berna Kanal Patial
Halwah Das Kawnli Sutar

Most of these are only local varieties, and many of them, though enumerated by the late Dr. Wise, are
unknown in this district. Of these Nicka “castes” there are two sub-divisions :—

1. Antya-ja—Inferior. Nata—Mimic, Actor. Bhilla— —_
Dhoba—Washerman. Manjki—Fisherman, Boatman. Meda—Midwife.
Chamar—Currier. Varnda—Cane-splitter.

2. Antyarasayim—Dwellers outside the town, out-castes :—

Mehter

Dom

Dosadh Sweepers, buriers of the dead, etc.
Pan

Hari

# « Karnakars” are brass or silversmiths, or workers in any metal.
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Such are :—
Sunri
Nama-Sudra
Dhoba
Jogi

THE HISTORY OF MURSHIDABAD.

Kahar
Rajbansi
Chamir
Dom

Tiyar

Bhuinmali

Hari

Certain “castes” have their degradation marked by exclusion from the temple of Jagannath at Puri.

Change of residence may affect “caste.” Thus, the Kakars, Ahirs, and Kandhus, resident in Bengal,
are repudiated by their up-country “ caste"-fellows. They marry into other grades, and become thereby
Khonta, or debased. The laws of “caste ” are in many cases very intricate, and without meaning to a

European.

Two of the lowest “ castes ” despised by all are the Ckamdrs and Riskss. Yet there are strict

differences between them, though it would seem impossible for such to exist. A trade practised in one
district may bring disgrace if followed, by the same man, elsewhere. One of the strangest sects of the
Hindus is the Panck Pirzya, concerning which I have not been able to gather any reliable information.

TABLE OF DATES OF FEASTS AND PUJAS DURING THE YEAR 1900.
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(5) Uttarayan Sankaranti. The day from which the sun’s progress to the north of the Equator begins. The beginning of the Summer Solstice. The last day
of the month of Pous.
(2) Sripanchami Sarashkati Puja. The fifth day of the moon’s increase, on which the goddess S: i, the goddess of learning, is worshipped.
(3) Shivaratri. The fourteenth night of moon, on which Shiva is wonhxpped
() Dol Jatra (Hooki). Festival during which Krishna is placed in a swinging cot, and is worshipped with red powder. This festival follawed the killing
Ot Metrashur (monster with form of a ship).
(5) Basanti Puja. The worship of Durga in the Spring,
" (6) Srirammabami. The birthday of Ram, one of the incarnations of Vishnu.
(7) Chaitra Sankaranti, Thelast day of the Bengali year, in the month of Choitia. Shiva is worshipped ; water and pindas are also dedicated to d d
ancestors.
(8) Akhaytratia. The third day of the moon's increase. The beginning of the golden age (Satya J uga). Offerings of rice, water, and other things ; men
gain eternal virtue.
(9) Janavi Saptami. The seventh day of the moon’s increase in the month of Baisakh, Ganga is worshipped.
(10) Sita Nabami. The birthday of Sita, the wife of Ram.
(x1) Full Dol. Full moon of Baisakh. The god Krishna is worshipped.
(13) Sabitribrata. A religious observance, in memory of Sabitri, the model lady of ancient India, whose devotion to her husband saved his life from the bands of
Jam (the god of death). On this day husbands are worshipped by their wives.
(13) Jamai Sasti. The day of the moon's increase, in the month of Jaista, on which sons-in-law are honoured.
(14) Ganga Puja. The worship of Ganga (rivers Bbagirathi and Ganges).
(15) Snan Jatra. The bathing festival of Jag: h, a manifestation of Vishnu, or Krishna.
(16) Ratk Jatra. The car festival of Jagannath, during which Jagannath goes in a car from his temple to a garden house.
(17) Ulta Rath. Jagannath returns by car to his temple.
(18) Julan. A festival in the month of Shraban, from the eleventh day of the moon's increase to full moon. On these days Krishna is woishipped.
(19) Rakhki Purnima. The last day of Julan on the full-moon day, on which a twist of thread, with a small packet containing a few carminative seeds is bound
round the wrist, for blessings throughout the year.
(20) Manasa Puja. The worship of Manasa, the goddess of the serpent race.
(21x) Jamastomi. The birthday of Krishna.
(22) Nanda Utsab. The birthday festival of Krishna, which took place in the house of Nanda, the foster-father of Krishna.
(23) Radhka Astami. The birthday of Radha, beloved companion of Krishna.
(24) Amanta Brota. A religious observance in which Indra is worshipped.
(25) Jetastami. The eighth day of the moon, in the month of Aswin. King Jemut Bahan, son of King Sali Bahan the Great, is worshipped by women, for the
blessing of good fortune and sons.
(26) Bodhan Nabdami. The ninth day of the moon, in the month of Aswin, on which Durga is invoked.
(27) Mahalaya. The day of new moon, in the month of Aswin, on which cakes (Pindas) are offered to ancestors,
(28) Durga Puja. The goddess Durga, wife of Shiva, representing the universal energy, and the mother of the universe is worshipped. She was also worshipped
in Spring as Basanti, but this Puja is observed, as Ram Chandra worshipped her in Autumn for killing his enemy Ravana.
(29) Bejaya The day on which Ram Chandra gained a victory by killing Ravana.
(30) Lukshmi Puja. Lukshmi, the goddess of wealth, is worshipped.
(31) Kali Puja. One of the manifestations of Durga is worshipped. The day after this * Puja” (llt. praying, religious festival) children receive presents,

generally small clay figures. In this district the figures are but poorly fashioned. In Nadia the Bhash ptors, modellers) turn out very high-class work. The
second day of the new moon is the day on which sisters show their love for their brothers, The girls paint their brothers on the forehead, and in return for this cheap
p of y or clothing. The night of the Kali Puja is known in some localities as *the green-insect-killing night "—insects which usher in

cooler mthet.

(32) Vhatriditia. The second day of the moon’s i on which brothers are h d by their sisters.
(33) Gosta Astami. The eighth day of the moon’s increase, in the month of Kartic, on which Krishna became cowherd, before which he was a calf-herd. Cows
are worshipped on that day.

(34) Jagadhatri. Durga, or the mother of the universe, is worshipped. Jagadhatri is Durga in another shape,
(35) Rask Jatra. A festival in memory of Krishna's dance with the milkmaids.
(36) Kartic Puja. On the last day of the month of Kartic, the god Kartic, the son of Durga, and Commander-in-Chief of the gods, is worshipped.

JAINS.

The Jains of the district are a fairly large community, and, according to the latest census, live mainly in
Jiaganj and Azimganj, where they carry on a lucrative trade as grain and produce merchants, with which they
combine money-lending. They are a dissenting sect of Hindus, having, however, the same distinctions of
“caste.” Although the “castes ” do not intermingle, a high “ caste ” man may marry a woman of pure stock
even if she be of a lower “ caste.” Plurality of wives is allowed ; su?fee is forbidden, and the widows of Sudras
may marry again. Jains, or Arhatas, as they were originally called, regard life as sacred, and will not, know-
ingly, kill any living thing. They sweep the place on which they are going to sit, and sometimes even the
ground on which they walk. They prefer to eat by daylight, lest eating at night they should swallow an insect.
The Azimganj Jains lease the fishing of the Bhagirathi opposite the town to prevent destruction of the fish.
No Jain may touch animal food, or drink alcohol in any form. Like Hindus generally, they burn their dead,
and acknowledge the members of the Hindu Pantheon. Jains give, however, the highest respect and
worship not to these gods, but to holy men, or saints, who have in their belief been raised above the gods.
In this they somewhat resemble the Sangasas, followers of Buddha, but they deny Buddha, and do not
consider themselves in any way connected with Buddhism. Differing thus from Hindus, they diverge further
by denying the authority of the Vedas and many of the Puranas. Their chief authority is the Yoga.
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Their gods, “the spirits of perfect men,” are called Jineswara, Arkat, or Sidd'’a, but apart from these
collective titles, each has a proper name.

Their beliefs include the eternity of matter, and transmigration of the soul. As a rule, the Jains
are peaceful and industrious, taking kindly to education. The founder of the Jain community in the

district was Jaggat Seth.*

There are four orders of priests, as with Hindus :—

1. Brahmachari—student. 3. Vanaparasta—hermit.
2. Grihasti’ha—householder. 4 Bhiashuce—mendicant.

They strain water through a cloth before drinking. They believe only what is evident to the senses.

MAHOMEDANS.

The Mahomedans form about 45 per cent. of the population of the district. Slavery was part
of the Mahomedan rule, and existed through all the years they were in possession of Bengal. To
it the Hindus submitted, even though it meant banishment for slaves, and sometimes eunuchs were sent
to the Delhi Court from Bengal.

Murshid Kuli Khan, when Nawab Nazim, is said to have enacted a law which provided that any Amal
or Zemindar failing to pay revenue should, with his wife and family, become Mahomedans. Acceptance of
the faith also protected Hindus against punishment for murder or adultery (Bernier, vol. i, p. 144). With
the advent of English rule these tyrannies disappeared, but a great number of Hindus accepted the faith
of Islam for its own attractions, and thus it comes about that a very large number of the Mahomedans
of Bengal are the descendants of converted Hindus.t+ There can be little doubt that this is the case
with the tradesmen and shopkeepers, since a well-bred Mahomedan will not engage in trade unless
obliged. Even the author of “The Mussulmans of Bengal,” who objects strongly to the “conversion”
theory, remarks concerning the “lower orders”:—*“These classes, speaking roughly, consist of two
bands of men; those descended from foreign ancestors, and those descended from indigenous races and
tribes who have embraced Islam. Among the crafts tailoring is distinctly a favourite with Mussulmans.”
Again the same writer, p. 109, says:—*“ Mussulman traders and shopkeepers found in any part of
Hindustan are mostly descended from Hindu ancestors belonging to the trading classes who, even after
their conversion to the Mahomedan faith, have adhered to their ancestral profession, and also have bred
up their children in the same profession.”

Until the beginning of the nineteenth century the only great divisions of Mahomedans were those of
Sunni and Skiek. The latter included the rulers of Murshidabad, but they have decreased in power and
numbers, while the Sunnis have, on the whole, increased. At present there may be said to be the
following sects of Sunni Mahomedans :—

1. Sabigi-Sunnis of the lower orders, holding a debased and Hinduised form of religion. This
is the oldest and, in some parts, most numerous sect.

2. Ferazi, found mostly in the Jangipur Sub-division. A most uncompromising and stern sect
of Sunnis, who refuse to pray standing behind a Sadigi or a 7dasyani, and will not eat or drink with
them. The sect was founded by Sharia’tullah and Dudhu Miyan, his son, and they consider
themselves to be the only followers of the Fraz, or divine command. Their numbérs are not very
great.

* Those who wish to go further into the question of Jain beliefs may refer to * The Asiatic Researches,” Vol. ix.
Pp. 214-232.
+ Compare this with the argument in ‘‘The Mussulmans of Bengal,” by Khondkar Fusli Rubbee, Bib, {40).
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3. Tdasyani :—Followers of the Patna School of Mulavi Karamat, cultivators, thatchers, and hide
merchants.

4 Rafi-padain :—So called from the custom of touching the ears with the hands each time that
the words “ Allah Akbar” are pronounced. They fold the arms over the chest while praying, not
over the navel as is the custom with other sects. A large sect, almost equal in numbers to the
Sabigqi.

The Mahomedan religion has lost much of its purity in India, and is debased by the introduction
of rites belonging to the conquered races among whom the Mussulmans settled. We have noticed the
intolerance of Nawab Murshid Kuli Khan, but, on the whole, other religions were treated with great
forbearance.

Sunnis in Bengal, moreover, fast, and carry out the ceremonies for mourning the so-called
martyrdom of Hassan and Husain,* although the rites belong to the Shiahs and are forbidden by learned
Sunnis. All vie with one another in the manufacture of Zazzias. The Id-ul-fitr, at the end of Ramzan,
and the Id-ul Qurban, or Baqgr-id, are religiously observed by Shiahs and Sunnis alike. One feature
of the Id-ul-fitr, at the palace of the Nawab Bahadur, is the sacrifice of a camel. Portions of the
flesh are always sent to the friends of His Highness. I have eaten the meat one or twice, and
consider it coarse and inferior to second-rate beef. Another religious festival, the Barak-IVafat, the
anniversary of the death of Mahomed, is observed by the Sunnis on the 12th day of Rabia-ul-awal.
At one time, in Akbar's Court, the day was observed as the “Moulid ” or birthday of the Prophet.
This, however, is only a matter of choice, since Mahomed was born and died on the same date. The
Bengali Mahomedan shows a respect for Pirs, saints or holy men, not found anywhere outside India,
and his offerings are not infrequently made on a tree, side by side with those to the resident Hindu deity.
As a rule, however, each saint has his Durgak, or shrine, one of the most venerated by Murshidabad
Mahomedans is that of Fakir Shah Farud Shukr Gunge, at Munganapara, about two miles from
the battle-field of Plassy, and in the enclosure of this Durgah lies the body of Suraj-ud-Dowlah’s
Commander-in-Chief, Mir Muddun. Another revered spot is the Shrine of the “ Apostles of Islam.”

In the Musnad-i-auliya or shrine of the “ Apostles of Islam,” at Chunakhali, there is an inscription
in the Zwgkra character, which is of historical value, as it fixes the extent of the reign of the
Emperor Saifu'd-din Abu’l-muzaffer Firuz Shah (IL). The parts of the inscription which may be
usefully quoted are:—*“This mosque was erected in the reign of Saifu’'d dunyau'd-din Abu’l-muzaffer
Firuz Shah . . . by his grand vizier. . . . This engraving was done on the 2nd Mohurram,
896, Hijra?” (Sunday, November 15th, 1490, A.D.0.S.)}

Three kinds of Pirs are venerated :—

1. Pir tariqat (fashion).
2. Pir haqiqat (#me).
3. Pir marifat (learned).

whose virtues differ somewhat. Outside the worship of Pirs, who may have been holy men, there
has now crept into the Mahomedan religion the worship of certain, apparently, quite legendary
beings.

Of these, Khwajah Khizr, in whose honour the annual Berd festival is held, is a very mysterious

* In these parts two biers are carried in the procession, in the belief that Hassan and Husain died tlge same day.
In Persia, and parts of Northern India, only one bier is carried, and this is as it should be. for Husain, .who was
killed at Karbulléh, 1oth of Mohurram, in A.5. 61 (a.D. 680). Hassan had then been dead ten years, He was poisoned at
Medina, 28th Cafar (s.p. 670).

t Beveridge, * Proc. Asiatic Soc., Bengal,” Feb., 1893, p. 55.



64 THE HISTORY OF MURSHIDABAD.

person, who has been identified as Elijah, and Kaikobad, or Alexander the Great. At the present time the
Pir is supposed to dwell in the rivers and seas, protecting people against drowning and shipwreck.

In times of sickness and in times of joy and success, vows and offerings are made to
Kwajah Khizr; but his great day is that of the Berd. This festival is held on the night of the
. last Thursday of the Hindu month, Bhadar (August and September), which is supposed to mark
the end of the “rains”—Hindus join in the festival, and every one who can raise even a few pice
purchases a little paper boat to float down the Bhagirathi river on a raft of plantain stems bearing
a small oil lamp. Although with less splendour than in the days of his ancestors, the Nawab
Bahadur of Murshidabad keeps up the festival, generally making it an occasion for inviting his
European friends to dinner. The raft is about forty feet in length. Entirely of plantain stems, it is
made to look something like a Aouse-boat, and is one mass of little, twinkling lights. As the raft passes the
Murshidabad palace there is a grand display of fireworks. The display over, the men on the raft
get away in boats, leaving the half-lighted and smoking skeleton to fade away into the darkness
among its less ambitious sisters. Dr. James Wise states (22, p. 390) that the festival was first
kept at Murshidabad by Suraj-u-Dowlah.

Zindah Ghazi, Gkazi Miyan or Sat Piy, is supposed to protect travellers and wood-cutters
from tigers and crocodiles. Before entering a jungle, or narrow stream, Mahomedans, and Hindus,
pile up little mounds of earth, and lay rice, plantains, and sweetmeats on them. This done, they
go fearlessly on their way.

Pir Badyr is, no doubt, Badruddin or Badr-i-Alam, who died at Chittagong, A H. 844 (A.D. 1440?). He
lightens the labours of Kwajah Khizr by protecting sailors and fishermen who pray to him when
starting on a journey, or when overtaken by bad weather. Whether Ghazi Miyan is a separate
person, or the same as Zindah Ghazi, it is impossible to say, but anyway, his “shadi” is not kept
in this district, though here and there a shrine in his name may be found.

Panclk Pir, worshipped and invoked whenever danger threatens, and by Mahomedan boatmen when
setting sail. The collection of five saints is equally revered and worshipped by some Hindus. Indeed,
the Panch Piriya sect of Hindus is divided into two sections, that neither eat together, nor intermarry
(v. Wise, 22). The invocation of the Panch Pir is always accompanied with the sacrifice of a
cock. Who these five saints were is not known.

The next Pir in Dr. Wise’s list shows an extraordinary catholicity of choice, and it is difficult
to understand the position of Sheikh Sadu, or Miran Ji, unless we regard him as the “horrid example.”
He is reported to have led a life of continual debauch, assisted by the genii of a magic lamp.
He was finally destroyed by these servants of wickedness. He is worshipped by prostitutes, and
by Hindus and Mahomedans who wish to see into the future. Thursday, generally regarded as
unlucky by Hindus, is the day set apart for the worship of Miran Ji

Earnest Mahomedans, seeing that their religion was degenerating, made strenuous efforts to improve
the people. This movement of reform began with the nineteenth century. The earliest of the reformers
was one Haji Sharia’tullah, a man of humble origin, born in the Faridpur Zillah, At the age of eighteen
he made a pilgrimage to Mecca, where he remained for about twenty years as a disciple of the Wahabi
teachers. In 1820 he returned to India, and, passing from village to village, preached the new doctrine.
He taught that Friday prayer, observan<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>